
CITY OF FRANKLIN 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING* 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

AGENDA 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 6, 2022, 7:00 P.M. 

               
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission 

meeting so that the public will be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  
https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov.   

 
 

A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 
 

B.  Approval of Minutes 
 

 1. Approval of regular meeting of December 9, 2021. 
 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters (action may be taken on all matters following  
                                                                      the respective Public Hearing thereon) 

 
1. SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC. CONSUMER FOOD PRODUCT CONVERTING 

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT.  Special Use and Site Plan applications by Saputo 
Cheese USA Inc. (HSA Commercial, Inc., d/b/a HSA Commercial Real Estate, property 
owner) as follows: 
Special Use:  to operate an “Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” in the Gateway Area of 
Planned Development District No. 39 (Mixed-Use Business Park) (Office/Light 
Industrial Flex Space requires a Special Use per Section 15-3.0444A B.3.a. of Ordinance 
No. 2016-2238); 
Site Plan:  for construction of an approximately 310,485 square foot consumer food 
product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and office area supporting the 
production facility at the northeast portion of the facility, 459 parking spaces for cars in 
front of the building on West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street, loading areas for 
trucks on the west and south facing sides of the proposed building and stormwater ponds 
on the north and south sides of the site for onsite stormwater management and visual 
amenities (the proposed stormwater elements have been designed to account for potential 
future expansion of key areas of the facility to accommodate growth for Saputo) upon 
property zoned Planned Development District No. 39 (Mixed-Use Business Park), 
located on the eastern half of the parcel at the intersection of West Oakwood Road and 
South 27th Street in the Gateway Area District of Planned Development District No. 39 
(Mixed-Use Business Park) (Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 9362, recorded on 
November 5, 2021); Requested Waivers/Modifications of Planned Development District 
No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards, Section 15-3.0444A.D. Gateway 
Area Design Standards: 
 

a. §15-3.0444A.D.1.a. waiver request for parking location due to nature of 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 
1/6/22 
Page 2 

proposed operation 
b. §15-3.0444A.D.2.a., modification to provide furnishings, etc. for 

employee use only 
c. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.ii., modification to reduce to 1 walkway from 

Oakwood Road to front walkway adjacent main entrance  
d. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.iii., modification to reduce sidewalk along façade 

primarily to area adjacent to office/employee welfare-courtyard areas 
e. §15-3.0444A.D.3.a.i., waive building foundation plantings, with 

stipulation that bufferyards are enhanced along South 27th Street and 
adjacent the residence southeast of site at Tax Key No. 951-9995-000 

f. §15-3.0444A.D.3.b. modification that central areas/feature are intended 
for employees and not as a public amenity 

g. §15-3.0444A.D.4a.i., modify to require multi-story specific to 
office/employee welfare portion of facility 

h. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.ii., modify to permit primarily pigmented precast 
concrete as principle material around the industrial/distribution portion of 
facility  

i. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.iii., modify to permit precast concrete in lieu of stone 
and brick for the industrial/distribution portion of facility  

j. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.iv., modify to permit precast concrete as principle 
material for the industrial/distribution portion of facility  

k. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.v., modify to permit pigmented precast concrete  
l. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.xi., modify to include transparent windows on the 

office portion of the facility 
m. §15-3.0444A.D.5., waive Plan Commission review of proposed signs and 

defer to staff approval with the Sign Permit Application 
 
Requested Waivers/Modifications of the South 27th Street Design Overlay 
District: 
  

a. §15-3.0352A., waiver request for parking location due to nature of 
proposed operation 

b. §15-3.0352C.2., request reduction of required parking from 621 to 459 
spaces based on applicant’s stated shift employment justification 

c. §15-3.0353A., modification to provide furnishings, etc. for employee use 
only 

d. §15-3.0353B.2., modify to reduce to 1 walkway from Oakwood Road to 
front walkway adjacent main entrance  

e. §15-3.0353B.3., waive connections with other uses for pedestrian and 
bicycle access except for employees only 

f. §15-3.0353B.4., modify to reduce sidewalk along façade primarily to area 
adjacent to office/employee welfare-courtyard areas 

g. §15-3.0353B.5., modify to reduce to 1 walkway from Oakwood Road to 



Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 
1/6/22 
Page 3 

front walkway adjacent main entrance 
h. §15-3.0353D., modify to provide bicycle facilities for employees only 
i. §15-3.0353E.1., waive building foundation plantings, with stipulation that 

bufferyards are enhanced along South 27th Street and adjacent the 
residence southeast of site at Tax Key No. 951-9995-000 

j. §15-3.0353E.3., modify to shift required parking landscaping to bufferyard 
areas 

k. §15-3.0353.F., modification that central areas/feature are intended for 
employees and not as a public amenity 

l. §15-3.0354A., modify to what is presented on Site Plan Application 
m. §15-3.0354B.1., modify requirement for trees to a reduced to one tree every 

39 parking spaces 
n. §15-3.0354C.1., modify to provide less than 20 square feet per parking 

space (approximately 13 square feet per space) 
o. §15-3.0354C.2., modify to permit larger parking islands (size and 

dimensions) vs. the requirement here 
p. §15-3.0354C.5., modify to reduce types of materials to decorative trees, 

perennials and ground cover as shown on Site Plan Application 
q. §15-3.0354D.2.a., modify to permit less than opaque street-side greenbelts, 

and 2.c. to reduce the number of planting elements but otherwise 
compensate with berming along South 27th Street 

r. §15-3.0355A.1., modify to permit partial use of multi-story façade on 
office/employee welfare portion of the facility 

s. §15-3.0355A.2., modify to permit pigmented precast concrete in lieu of 
stone or wood 

t. §15-3.0355A.3., modify to permit pigmented precast concrete in lieu 
u. §15-3.0355C.5., modify this requirement with specific elements and mix to 

that proposed by applicant on Site Plan Application 
v. §15-3.0355C.8., waive this requirement as multiple smaller buildings is not 

consistent with the intent of proposed facility 
w. §15-3.0355C.11., modify to permit location of security fence through 258 

linear feet of wetland buffer and 526 linear feet of wetland setback, in large 
part because (a) 80% of proposed fence will be located over an existing 
gravel driveway and (b) nearby fencing already encroaches on this 
disturbed wetland area-staff suggests conditions to ensure restoration as 
appropriate and limits on type of equipment used to install fence to reduce 
impact on pervious areas of delineated wetland, buffer, and setback 

 Tax Key No. part of 951-9994-001 (Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 9362).  A 
PUBLIC HEARING IS SCHEDULED FOR THIS MEETING UPON THE 
SPECIAL USE APPLICATION OF THIS MATTER. 
 

D. Business Matters (no Public Hearing is required upon the following matters; action may be   
                                           taken on all matters) 



Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 
1/6/22 
Page 4 

 
E. Adjournment 

 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 
 
**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which they have 
decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the 
Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 
 
[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 
 
REMINDERS: 
Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: January 20, 2022  



Page 1                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                     December 9, 2021  

 City of Franklin unapproved  
 Plan Commission Meeting                            

December 9, 2021 
Minutes 

 
A. Call to Order and Roll Call Mayor Steve Olson called the December 9, 2021, regular Plan 

Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, 
Franklin, Wisconsin.  
 
Present were Mayor Steve Olson, Alderwoman Shari 
Hanneman, Commissioners Adam Burckhardt, Kevin Haley  
and Patrick Leon and City Engineer Glen Morrow. 
Commissioner Patricia Hogan was excused. Also present were 
City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Planning Manager Heath  
Eddy and Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva, along 
with Alderpersons Michael Barber and Edward Holpfer (in the 
audience). 
 

B. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

1. Regular Meeting of November18, 
2021 

 
 
D. Business Matters 
 
1.      ZBIERANEK/ESCAMILLA 
FOOD TRUCK OPERATION. 
Temporary Use application by Dale 
Zbieranek/Anthony R. Escamilla, to 
allow for a food truck (Tony’s Taco 
Truck/Tony’s Food Truck) operation in a 
paved parking lot located at 3030 West 
Ryan Road, from May 2, 2022 to May 1, 
2023, with business hours from 11:00 
a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday through 
Sunday (applicant has a base kitchen in 
the City of Milwaukee), property zoned 
B-2 General Business District; Tax Key 
No. 879-9981-001.  
 
 
2.     FRANKLIN HIGH SCHOOL 
TURF INSTALLATION. Site Plan 
Amendment application by Franklin 
Public Schools to allow for installation 
of a synthetic turf surface, requiring 
minor regrading and related stormwater  
management via underground drainage 
stone storage and a collector pipe 
system, to replace the existing grass 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Burckhardt 
seconded approval of the November 18, 2021 regular meeting 
minutes. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (5-0-1).  
 
 
 
Principal Planner Martinez-Montilva  presented the request by  
Dale Zbieranek/Anthony R. Escamilla, to allow for a food 
truck (Tony’s Taco Truck/Tony’s Food Truck) operation in a 
paved parking lot located at 3030 West Ryan Road, from 
May 2, 2022 to May 1, 2023, with business hours from 11:00 
a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday through Sunday (applicant has a 
base kitchen in the City of Milwaukee), property zoned B-2 
General Business District; Tax Key No. 879-9981-001.  
 
Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Leon  
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution imposing conditions 
and restrictions for the approval of a Temporary Use for 
Tony’s Taco Truck/Tony’s  Food Truck operation in a 
parking lot located at 3030 West Ryan Road . On voice vote, 
all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1).  
 
Principal Planner Martinez-Montilva  presented the request by 
Franklin Public Schools to allow for installation of a synthetic 
turf surface, requiring minor regrading and related stormwater  
management via underground drainage stone storage and a 
collector pipe system, to replace the existing grass varsity 
baseball/softball fields [the project will disturb approximately 
3.6 acres of land], upon property zoned I-1 Institutional 
District, FW Floodway District and C-1 Conservancy District, 
located at 8222 South 51st Street; Tax Key No. 807-9999-001 



Page 2                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                     December 9, 2021  

varsity baseball/softball fields [the 
project will disturb approximately 3.6 
acres of land], upon property zoned I-1 
Institutional District, FW Floodway 
District and C-1 Conservancy District, 
located at 8222 South 51st Street; Tax 
Key No. 807-9999-001.  
 
 
 
 
C. Public Hearing Business Matters 
 
1.     CAPE CROSSING 
DEVELOPMENT: CREATION OF A 
NEW SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT. Planned Development 
District and Rezoning application by 
Neumann Developments, Inc., Franklin 
DC Land, LLC, current property owner, 
to create The Villas at Cape 
Crossing/The Estates at Cape Crossing, a 
new single-family residential subdivision 
planned development district which 
includes a total of 142 units (54 “The 
Estates” units and 88 “The Villas” units), 
with private neighborhood amenities 
such as a pool, playground and firepit 
and access to a proposed interurban trail, 
on approximately 84.0074 acres of land 
located at 12200 West Ryan Road, and 
to rezone the property from R-3 
Suburban/Estate Single-Family 
Residence District and C-1 Conservancy 
District to Planned Development District 
No. 40 (currently named Cape 
Crossing); Tax Key Nos. 890-9991-001 
and 890-9991-002.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Leon  
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution amending the Site 
Plan for property located at 8222 South 51st Street to allow 
for installation of synthetic turf and related drainage to 
replace the existing grass varsity baseball/ softball fields at 
the Franklin High School site (tax key no. 807-9999-001) 
including the condition that the applicants shall install 
temporary fencing to indicate the conservation easement area 
adjacent to the site during construction. On voice vote, all 
voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1).  
 
 
 
The Official Notice of Public hearing was read in to the record 
by Planning Manager Eddy and the Public Hearing was opened 
at 7:18 p.m. and closed at 7:37 p.m. 
 
Principal Planner Martínez-Montilva  presented the request 
by Neumann Developments, Inc., Franklin DC Land, LLC, 
current property owner, to create The Villas at Cape 
Crossing/The Estates at Cape Crossing, a new single-family 
residential subdivision planned development district which 
includes a total of 142 units (54 “The Estates” units and 88 
“The Villas” units), with private neighborhood amenities such 
as a pool, playground and firepit and access to a proposed 
interurban trail, on approximately 84.0074 acres of land 
located at 12200 West Ryan Road, and to rezone the property 
from R-3 Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District 
and C-1 Conservancy District to Planned Development 
District No. 40 (currently named Cape Crossing); Tax Key 
Nos. 890-9991-001 and 890-9991-002.  
 
Motion #1 
Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Haley 
seconded a motion to table this application until the next Plan 
Commission (January 6, 2022). Following discussion with the 
applicant and Plan Commissioners, a roll call vote was taken, 
2 voted ‘aye’ and 3 voted ‘nay’  motion failed. (2-3-1). 
 
Motion #2 
Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Leon 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of an Ordinance 
to create section 15-3.0445 of the Franklin Unified 
Development Ordinance establishing Planned Development 
District No. 40 (Cape Crossing) and to rezone property from 
R-3 Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District and C-
1 Conservancy District to Planned Development District No. 
40 (12200 West Ryan Road), and to remove conditions #1 
and #4, and amend condition #3 to replace “Preliminary Plat” 
for “Final Plat”. With a roll call vote, 4 voted ‘aye’ and 1 
voted ‘nay’, motion carried. (4-1-1). 
 



Page 3                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                     December 9, 2021  

Plan Commission took a recess at 8:40 
p.m. Commissioner Leon departed the 
meeting. 
 
The meeting resumed at 8:47 p.m.  
 
3.       BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
SUBDIVISION DEVELOPMENT. 
Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment 
and Rezoning applications by Stephen R. 
Mills, President of Bear Development, 
LLC (Ignasiak Investment Co., LLC, 
property owner), to amend the Future 
Land Use Map designation for an area 
consisting of one property designated as 
Recreational Use, covering 
approximately 35 acres, from 
Recreational Use and Areas of Natural 
Resource Features Use to Residential 
Use, and to rezone that area of land from 
A-2 Prime Agricultural District and C-1 
Conservancy District to R-5 Suburban 
Single-Family Residence District (area 
consisting of one property (892-9999-
002) and containing a corridor zoned C-1 
Conservancy District which is an 
obsolete zoning district because the 
current Unified Development Ordinance 
requires protection of natural resources 
through conservation easements), 
property generally located on the east 
side of South 112th Street, east of the 
Ryan Meadows subdivision and west of 
the Franklin Savanna Natural Area 
(totaling approximately 34.54 acres).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Official Notice of Public Hearing was read in to the record 
by Planning Manager Eddy and the Public Hearing was opened 
at 8:52 p.m. and closed at 9:13 p.m. 
 
Planning Manager Eddy  presented the request by Stephen R. 
Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC (Ignasiak 
Investment Co., LLC, property owner), to amend the Future 
Land Use Map designation for an area consisting of one 
property designated as Recreational Use, covering 
approximately 35 acres, from Recreational Use and Areas of 
Natural Resource Features Use to Residential Use, and to 
rezone that area of land from A-2 Prime Agricultural District 
and C-1 Conservancy District to R-5 Suburban Single-Family 
Residence District (area consisting of one property (892-9999-
002) and containing a corridor zoned C-1 Conservancy District 
which is an obsolete zoning district because the current Unified 
Development Ordinance requires protection of natural 
resources through conservation easements), property generally 
located on the east side of South 112th Street, east of the Ryan 
Meadows subdivision and west of the Franklin Savanna 
Natural Area (totaling approximately 34.54 acres).  
 
Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment 
Alderwoman Hanneman moved and City Engineer Morrow 
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution recommending the 
adoption of an Ordinance to amend the City of Franklin 2025 
Comprehensive Master Plan to change the City of Franklin 
2025 Future Land Use Map for property bearing tax key 
number 892- 9999-002, generally located on the east side of 
South 112th Street, east of the Ryan Meadows subdivision and 
west of the Franklin Savanna natural area from Recreational 
Use and areas of Natural Resource Features Use to Residential 
Use, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1001(4)(b). On roll call vote, 
2 voted ‘aye” 2 voted ‘nay’, motion failed. (2-2-1) 
 
Rezone 
City Attorney Wesolowski explained that under State Statute 
a Comprehensive Plan Amendment must be forwarded to the 
Common Council with the affirmative recommendation of 
four votes one way or the other. As the previous motion failed 
to gain four votes, the amendment could not be referred to the 
Common Council for a vote. Likewise, the Rezoning 
Application could not be considered for a recommendation 
vote because the Comprehensive Plan would be inconsistent 
with the proposed Rezoning; therefore, no motion was 
required or vote taken on the Rezoning Application. 



Page 4                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                     December 9, 2021  

 
2.   SECTION 15-3.0603 TABLE OF 
PERMITTED AND SPECIAL USES 
IN ALL NONRESIDENTIAL 
ZONING DISTRICTS 
AMENDMENTS: STANDARD 
INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION 
CODE CHANGES IN THE B-2 
GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT, 
B-5 HIGHWAY BUSINESS 
DISTRICT AND M-1 LIMITED 
INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT [CITY-
WIDE]. Unified Development 
Ordinance Text Amendment application 
by the City of Franklin, to amend 
Section 15-3.0603 Table of Permitted 
and Special Uses in all Nonresidential 
Zoning Districts to change certain 
special trade contractor uses for the 
following Standard Industrial 
Classification (SIC) Code Nos. from 
special to permitted uses (excluding 
special trade contractors with outdoor 
storage) in the B-2 General Business 
District, B-5 Highway Business District 
and M-1 Limited Industrial District: 
1711 Plumbing, Heating and Air-
Conditioning; 1721 Painting and Paper 
Hanging; 1731 Electrical Work; 1741 
Masonry, Stone Setting, and Other Stone 
Work; 1742 Plastering, Drywall, 
Acoustical, and Insulation Work; 1743 
Terrazzo, Tile, Marble, and Mosaic 
Work; 1751 Carpentry Work; 1752 Floor 
Laying and Other Floor Work, Not 
Elsewhere Classified and 1761 Roofing, 
Siding, and Sheet Metal Work.   
 
 
Adjournment 
 

 
The Official Notice of Public hearing was read in to the record 
by Planning Manager Eddy and the Public Hearing was opened 
at 9:33 p.m. and closed at 9:33 p.m. 
Principal Planner Martinez-Montilva  presented the request 
by the City of Franklin, to amend Section 15-3.0603 Table of 
Permitted and Special Uses in all Nonresidential Zoning 
Districts to change certain special trade contractor uses for 
the following Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Code 
Nos. from special to permitted uses (excluding special trade 
contractors with outdoor storage) in the B-2 General Business 
District, B-5 Highway Business District and M-1 Limited 
Industrial District: 1711 Plumbing, Heating and Air-
Conditioning; 1721 Painting and Paper Hanging; 1731 
Electrical Work; 1741 Masonry, Stone Setting, and Other 
Stone Work; 1742 Plastering, Drywall, Acoustical, and 
Insulation Work; 1743 Terrazzo, Tile, Marble, and Mosaic 
Work; 1751 Carpentry Work; 1752 Floor Laying and Other 
Floor Work, Not Elsewhere Classified and 1761 Roofing, 
Siding, and Sheet Metal Work.   
 

Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Haley  
seconded a motion to recommend approval of an Ordinance 
to amend the Unified Development Ordinance text at table 
15-3.0603 Standard   Industrial Classification Title Nos. 1711 
“Plumbing, Heating and Air-Conditioning” 1721 “Painting 
and Paper Hanging” 1731 “Electrical Work” 1741 “Masonry, 
Stone Setting, and other Stone Work” 1742 “Plastering, 
Drywall, Acoustical, and Insulation Work” 1743 “Terrazzo, 
Tile, Marble, and Mosaic Work” 1751 “Carpentry Work” 
1752 “Floor Laying and other Floor Work, not elsewhere 
classified” and 1761 “Roofing, Siding, and Sheet Metal 
Work” to change such uses from a Special Use to a Permitted 
Use in the B-2 General Business District, B-5 Highway 
Business District and M-1 Limited Industrial District. On 
voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried. (4-0-2)  
 
Commissioner Haley moved and Commissioner Burckhardt 
seconded to adjourn the Plan Commission meeting of  
December 9, 2021 at 9:36 p.m. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 
motion carried. (4-0-2).  

  
 



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of January 6, 2022 
 

SPECIAL USE/SITE PLAN 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTIONS:  Department of City Development Staff recommends the following: 
(1) Provide an approval recommendation to the Common Council on the Special Use Application; (2) 
Approve the 37 waivers/modifications requested from the PDD-39 Design Standards and South 27th 
Street Design Overlay District requirements as indicated below and in the attached Site Plan 
Resolution; (3) Approve the Site Plan Application based on the conditions as provided in the attached 
Site Plan Resolution, or modify said Resolution as determined by the Plan Commission. 
 
 
Applicant: Saputo Cheese USA, Inc.    
Property Address/Tax Key Number: SW corner West Oakwood Road at South 27th Street 
 Part of 951-9994-001 
Aldermanic District: District 4 
Agent: Jeff Allmann, Saputo Cheese USA, Inc. 
 Dave Koenes, P.E., Excel Engineering, Inc. 
Zoning District: PDD-39 (Mixed Use Business Park) 
  South 27th Street Design Overlay District 
 
Use of Surrounding Properties: North: Ascension Hospital zoned B-7 South 27th Street 

Mixed Use-Office District 
 West: Vacant and conservancy land zoned PDD-39  
 South: XPL Logistics and Residential zoned PDD-39 
 East: Noncommercial Assembly zoned I-1 and Residential 

zoned Rs-2  

Special Use Request: To permit an “Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” for a new 
consumer food product converting facility.  

Site Plan Proposal: To permit construction of a 310,485 square foot office and 
industrial building and requisite roadway access, parking, 
loading, and bufferyard and parking area landscaping, with 
requests for various waivers/modifications to the PDD 39 
Design Standards and the South 27th Street Design Overlay 
District. 

Staff Planner: Heath Eddy, AICP, Planning Manager 

 
• Staff recommendations are underlined in italics and included in the draft resolution. 
• Staff suggestions are only underlined and are not included in the draft resolution. 

Item C.1. 



  

 2 

 
 
APPLICANT’S REQUEST 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use to permit an “Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” 
for a new consumer food product converting facility, and approval of a Site Plan to permit construction 
of a 310,485-square foot office and industrial building including the roadway accesses to both West 
Oakwood Road (a City-owned and maintained roadway) and South 27th Street (a WisDOT maintained 
roadway), 459 parking spaces, loading and unloading areas, and landscaping and security fencing for 
Lot 2 of CSM #9362, which was approved by the Common Council on October 19, 2021. As part of 
the Site Plan Application, the applicant requests waivers or modifications to PDD-39 Design Standards 
and the design requirements of the South 27th Street Design Overlay District.  
 
The Special Use Application is subject to a public hearing, which requires a Class 2 Notice under State 
Statute. The Public Notice was provided to the South NOW weekly publication on December 13, 2021 
and ran on December 22 and December 29, 2021. Notices were mailed to the requisite adjacent 
property owners by City Development staff on December 17, 2021.   
 
CHARACTER OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA 
The subject property is a formerly active farm that is currently owned by H.S.A. Commercial Real 
Estate. The property was the subject of a 3-lot CSM that includes two development sites and an outlot 
that will be almost entirely covered by a Conservation Easement. The subject property for these 
applications is Lot 2, which is a 34.39-acre site. The property primarily consists of maintained field 
area with a small concentration of wetland features located along the south property line adjacent the 
property currently occupied by XPL Logistics. The surrounding area includes a residence to the 
southeast; a couple of institutional properties and a residential neighborhood to the east; Ascension 
hospital to the north; and Lot 1 of the same CSM and the conservancy outlot to the west.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION 
On November 8, 2021, the applicant submitted applications for a Site Plan and a Special Use to 
develop the proposed food converting facility and offices in Planned Development District (PDD)-39. 
Because the property is located in the Gateway Area of PDD-39, it requires a Special Use approval to 
operate a use that is a combination of light industrial and office space. The proposed use category 
“Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” is most consistent with the proposed use of the site. 
 
The applicant’s proposal is for 310,485 square feet of new building (with space retained for additional 
building area), along with 459 parking spaces and delivery and loading areas along the west and south 
of the proposed facility. The applicant’s proposal includes separate accesses for employee arrivals and 
departures from those of materials deliveries and distribution facilities, and therefore there are 2 
proposed access points to West Oakwood Road and 2 additional access points to South 27th Street.  
 
To address the provision for buffering the trucking area, the applicant proposes berming located to the 
northwest of the facility to block the view from West Oakwood Road, and again along the southeast 
corner of the proposed facility to block the view from South 27th Street. Both berms will be landscaped 
along the peak to aid in the screening effect. Additionally, the applicant proposes bufferyard 
landscaping along South 27th Street and West Oakwood Road against the proposed employee parking 
areas. However, the applicant also proposes to maintain a view shed from the Oakwood Road/27th 
Street intersection into the property at the focal point of the office portion of the facility. 
 
The applicant’s proposed facility design is intended to provide for food safety and minimization of 
rodents and other contaminants. These design requirements are the primary impetus for the 



  

 3 

waivers/modifications requested, and detailed below. The facility is designed with a two-story profile 
at the northeast corner of the building opposite the aforementioned intersection. This corner is the 
office and employee welfare areas of the proposed facility, and is designed with windows and brick-
type facades along with canopy overhangs at the entrance to enhance the appearance. The majority of 
the facility is devoted to the food processing operation, which includes secured facades, no windows, 
and no foundation plantings of landscaping materials beyond ground vegetation to minimize potential 
contaminants. The food processing portion of the facility is further enclosed with a security fence 
which will run due west from the northwest corner of the facility, south along the western lot line, then 
along the southern lot line, then north again to the southeast corner of the facility. This fence is a 
requirement for food safety. 
 
The applicant’s requests for waivers/modifications are consistent with the proposed operation. There 
are a total of 37 requested waivers or modifications, 13 to the PDD-39 Gateway Area Design 
Standards and 24 to the South 27th Street Design Overlay District standards. Of these requests, there 
are a total of 7 design waivers and 30 design modifications to provide an alternative to the precise 
requirements in the design standards.  
 
NOTED HIGHLIGHTS 
There are couple of discussion points for consideration.  
 

1. Parking Reduction. The applicant is requesting a reduction of the required parking for this 
proposed use. The nearest requirement is consistent with “Warehouse” which is 2 spaces/1,000 
square feet of building area, which would yield a minimum of 621 parking spaces. The 
applicant proposes a total of 459 parking spaces, which according to the applicant is based on a 
maximum of 200 food production employees per shift, three shifts, with up to 50 office 
employees in the daytime shift only. The total amount of parking accounts for the overlapping 
of shift employees. Staff recommends approval of this reduction. 

2. Sidewalk along South 27th Street. This item is notable as there is no sidewalk shown/proposed 
on the attached Site Plan. While it is normally a requirement, the applicant does have a 
justification that is two-fold: (1) the existing profile of South 27th Street is a four-lane rural 
boulevard, with no curb/gutter and an open drainage swale adjacent to the shoulder. Installing 
sidewalk in this condition would either require building in or on the shoulder or behind the 
swale; and (2) there currently is no sidewalk on South 27th Street south of Villa Drive, which is 
approximately 2.8 miles north of the subject property. Staff believes the sidewalk should be 
provided if possible though it should be noted that there are no connections south of the subject 
property except for Elm Road, which currently includes no sidewalk (though proposed for a 
trail when the City reconstructs this facility).  Staff recommends including the sidewalk but 
defers to the Plan Commission on placing this requirement on the Site Plan Resolution. 

3. Fencing in Wetland Buffers/Setbacks. The proposed security fence will include a portion that 
runs through the wetland buffer and setback areas along the south property line. Approximately 
258 linear feet of the fence will run through wetland buffer and 526 linear feet will run through 
wetland setback. The Natural Resource Features Special Exception (NRSE) process was not 
designed for this kind of limited impact (both duration and area). As shown on the Site Plan, 
the fence will include 72 posts in the wetland buffer and setback, which would account for 
maybe 180 square feet of permanent post footings, and a somewhat larger 600 or so cubic feet 
of disturbance, which would be completed in a fairly short time process. Staff recommends that 
the fencing be permitted, with the conditions that (1) the applicant is required to restore the 
wetland buffer and setback from any disturbance consistent with the requirements of UDO §15-
4.0102I, and (2) the applicant shall not use heavy construction equipment for the fence 



  

 4 

installation through the wetland buffer and setback (i.e. a small backhoe or similar 
construction vehicle would be considered suitable).  

 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS 
This application is subject to the following provisions of the UDO. Subject to the development 
conditions of approval, the special use and site plan shall meet these standards: 
 

• §15-3.0701 General Standards for Special Uses 
• §15-7.0102 Principles and Standards of Review, Site Plans 

 
Attached are the applicant’s statements in support of the proposed Special Use. Below are staff’s 
review comments based on the General Standards for Special Uses.  
 
GENERAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES (§15-3.0701) 
 
Standard 1: Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The standard states 
that “the proposed use and development will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for 
which this Ordinance was enacted and for which the regulations of the zoning district in question were 
established and with the general purpose and intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master 
Plan or element thereof.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant’s proposal is a type of food processing facility (light industrial) which 
is fully internal operation. In fact, per regulatory standards this type of operation requires entirely 
indoor operations. The proposed use includes a significant office facility located proximate to the West 
Oakwood Road/South 27th Street intersection for maximum visibility. This is consistent with the intent 
of the PDD-39 Gateway Area. In addition, the proposed use is consistent with the “Business Park” 
designation for the property on the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan Future Land Use 
Map. 
 
Standard 2: No Undue Adverse Impact. The standard states that “the proposed use and development 
will not have a substantial or undue adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, 
the character of the area, or the public health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the community or neighborhood.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The proposed use will function entirely internal to the facility. The operation 
includes delivery of material for sorting and modification, then packaged and shipped. Therefore, the 
operation itself will present no undue or substantial adverse effect to the area.  
 
Standard 3: No Interference with Surrounding Development. The standard states that “the 
proposed use and development will be constructed, arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the 
immediate vicinity or to interfere with the use and development of neighboring property in accordance 
with the applicable zoning district regulations.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant’s proposed facility will be over 310,000 square feet in area, with 
potential additions to bring the total to over 350,000 square feet. However, the subject property is over 
34 acres in area, and the proposed facility is set back from both West Oakwood Road and South 27th 
Street and visually buffered with proposed stormwater ponds, berms, and landscaping. The net effect 
of the proposed development will not dominate the area and should easily blend with the surrounding 
development.  
 



  

 5 

Standard 4: Adequate Public Facilities. The standard states that “the proposed use and development 
will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities 
including public water supply system and sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, 
public parks, libraries, schools, and other public facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide 
adequately for such facilities.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The proposed facility will be tied to public sewer and water services, and is located 
on two multi-lane roadway facilities. The access will include truck access from West Oakwood Road 
and truck departures from South 27th Street, with connection to I-94. The proposed facility should have 
little impact on police and fire protection services, will provide for secure refuse disposal, and should 
be a net positive to local parks, the Franklin City Library, the local schools, and other public facilities. 
 
Standard 5: No Traffic Congestion. The standard states that “the proposed use and development will 
not cause undue traffic congestion nor draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. 
Adequate measures will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The proposed facility will operate with three shifts of 200 employees, with one shift 
with an additional 50 office employees during the daytime. Therefore, the highest point of traffic 
impact will be at the change of each shift with a total of no more than 450 vehicles entering or exiting 
the subject property over a span of roughly 30-60 minutes. The other traffic impact is large trucks 
entering the site from West Oakwood Road, which would be accessed from South 27th Street, a 4-lane 
rural arterial boulevard at this location. Staff sees no undue traffic congestion from this proposed use.   
 
Standard 6: No Destruction of Significant Features. The standard states that “the proposed use and 
development will not result in the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic 
feature of significant importance.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant’s Natural Resource Protection Plan shows that the only significant 
protected natural resource on the subject property are four small wetlands on the south side, none of 
which will be impacted from the proposed use or development of the site. Staff previously discussed 
the location of the security fence in the wetland buffer and setback area of these wetlands, but not in 
the wetland itself. 
 
Standard 7: Compliance with Standards. The standard states that “the special use shall, in all other 
respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Common Council pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. The proposed use and development shall comply with all 
additional standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this Division and Ordinance 
authorizing such use.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The application meets the area and bulk regulations of PDD-39, and additional 
requests for modifications and waivers by the applicant are to be adjudicated with consideration of the 
Site Plan. Therefore, staff finds this standard is met.  
 
 
The following is staff’s analysis of the proposed Site Plan based on the Principles and Standards of 
Review of Site Plans, as well as assessments of the applicant’s requested waivers or modifications to 
the PDD-39 Design Standards and the South 27th Street Design Overlay District.  
 



  

 6 

PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW OF SITE PLANS (§15-7.0102) 
 
Standard A. Conformity of Use to Zoning District. The standard states that “the proposed use(s) 
conform(s) to the use permitted as either a “Permitted Use” or “Special Use” in the zoning district.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant’s proposal is compliant with the standards of the PDD-39 District. 
 
Standard B: Dimensional Requirements. The standard states that “the dimensional arrangement of 
buildings and structures conform to the required area, yard, setback and height restrictions of the 
Ordinance.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The proposed 310,485-square foot industrial building and associated parking are  
compliant with the area, yard, setback and height restrictions of PDD-39. 
 
Standard C: Site Intensity and Site Capacity Calculations to be Reviewed. The standard states that 
“the requirements of Division 15-3.0500 of this Ordinance shall be met. In this respect, the necessary 
worksheets for determining the maximum site intensity, or development capacity, of the site shall be 
submitted to the Plan Commission for review and approval.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The application is compliant with the requirements of Division 15-3.0500 of the 
UDO. 
 
Standard D: Use and Design Provisions. The standard states that “the proposed use conforms to all 
use and design provisions and requirements as found in this Ordinance for the specified uses.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant has requested a series of waivers and modifications to the PDD-39 
Design Standards and the South 27th Street Design Overlay Standards. Beyond those requests, the 
applicant’s site plan proposal is compliant with other provisions of those requirements. In addition, 
staff concurs with the waiver/modification requests as provided by the applicant. 
 
Standard E: Relation to Existing and Proposed Streets and Highways. The standard states that 
“there is a proper relationship between the existing and proposed streets and highways within the 
vicinity of the project in order to assure the safety and convenience of pedestrian and vehicular traffic. 
In the case of arterial streets and highways not under the jurisdiction of the City of Franklin, that the 
applicable highway authority (County, State or Federal) has been contacted and the needed permits 
have been obtained and submitted to the City for review.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant meets the standards for access to West Oakwood Road and should 
follow the access requirements for South 27th Street (WisDOT jurisdiction). Staff added a condition of 
approval to the Site Plan Resolution specifying that WisDOT access approval shall be submitted for 
permitting purposes. 
 
Standard F: Impacts on Surrounding Uses. The standard states that “the proposed on-site buildings, 
structures and entry ways are situated and designed to minimize adverse effects upon owners and 
occupants of adjacent and surrounding properties by providing for adequate design of ingress/egress 
and interior/exterior traffic flow, stormwater drainage, erosion, grading, lighting, and parking, as 
specified by this Ordinance or any other codes or laws.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: The overall design of the site should present no negative impacts on the surrounding 
properties once construction is completed.  



  

 7 

 
Standard G: Natural Resource Features Protection. The standard states that “Natural features of 
the landscape are retained to enhance the development on the site, or where they furnish a barrier or 
buffer between the project and adjoining properties used for dissimilar purposes or where they assist 
in preserving the general safety, health, welfare, and appearance of the neighborhood. The 
requirements set forth in Divisions 15-4.0100, 15-7.0100, and 15-11.0100 are to be met. Where 
required, a "Natural Resource Protection Plan" meeting the requirements set forth in Division 15-
7.0100 has also been submitted for Plan Commission review and approval.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The Natural Resource Protection Plan is generally compliant with the standards of 
the UDO. No impacts are proposed to the wetland features onsite, and will have minor impact to the 
wetland buffer and setback.  
 
Standard H: Required Landscaping and Landscape Bufferyards. The standard states that 
“Adverse effects of the proposed development and activities upon adjoining residents or owners are 
minimized by design and installation of landscape bufferyards to provide for appropriate screening, 
fencing, or landscaping as required in Division 15-5.0300 of this Ordinance. Where required, a 
"Landscape Plan" meeting the requirements set forth in Division 15-5.0300 has also been submitted 
for Plan Commission review and approval.”  
 
Staff’s Findings: Except where waivers are requested, the applicant has provided landscaping in 
compliance with Division 15-5.0300 of the UDO and with the PDD-39 Design Standards.  
 
Standard I: Provision of Emergency Vehicle Accessibility. The standard states “land, buildings, 
and structures are readily accessible to emergency vehicles and the handicapped.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The applicant has proposed 360 access to the building for all emergency vehicles 
and adequate access for handicapped and other-abled persons in compliance with the ADA. 
 
Standard J: Building Location. The standard states “No building shall be permitted to be sited in a 
manner which would unnecessarily destroy or substantially damage the beauty of the area, 
particularly insofar as it would adversely affect values incident to ownership of land in the area; or 
which would unnecessarily have an adverse effect on the beauty and general enjoyment of existing 
structures on adjoining properties.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The design is generally in compliance with the expectations of PDD-39, excepting 
the requested waivers and modifications as discussed below. 
 
Standard K: Location and Design of On-Site Waste Disposal and Loading Facilities. The standard 
states “No on-site waste disposal and/or loading facility shall be permitted to be designed or sited in a 
manner which would unnecessarily destroy or substantially damage the beauty of the area, 
particularly insofar as it would adversely affect values incident to ownership of land in the area; or 
which would unnecessarily have an adverse effect on the beauty and general enjoyment of the existing 
structures on adjoining properties.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The proposed loading and dumpster areas are found along the western and southern 
(rear) property line, which is adjacent to other industrial uses or to a wooded conservancy area.  
 
Standard L: Consistency with the Intent of the City of Franklin Unified Development Ordinance. 
The standard states “The Site Plan is consistent with the intent and purposes of the City of Franklin 



  

 8 

Unified Development Ordinance which is to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare, to 
encourage the use of lands in accordance with their character and adaptability, to avoid the 
overcrowding of population, to lessen congestion on the public roads and streets, to reduce hazards of 
life and property, to facilitate the implementation of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan, 
or component thereof, and those other purposes and intents of this Ordinance set forth in Division 15-
1.0100 of this Ordinance.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The site plan application is generally consistent with the intent of the UDO, pending 
review of waivers and modifications to the PDD-39 Design Standards and the South 27th Street Design 
Overlay Standards. Denial of waivers would be incorporated as conditions of approval in the Site Plan 
Resolution. 
 
Standard M: Consistency with the Intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 
The standard states “The Site Plan is consistent with the public goals, objectives, principles, standards, 
policies, and urban-design criteria set forth in the City-adopted Comprehensive Master Plan or 
component thereof.” 
 
Staff’s Findings: The site plan application is generally consistent with the City of Franklin 
Comprehensive Master Plan. 
 
Standard N: Plan Commission Reserves the Right to Determine a Site “Unsuitable” for Planned 
Use. The standard states “Pursuant to the requirements of § 15-2.0103(B)(3) of this Ordinance, the 
Plan Commission reserves the right to declare land or structures unsuitable for planned use during the 
site plan review process.” Such conditions amount to site suitability, involving conditions where there 
is inadequate street right-of-way or street improvements; lack of adequate public sewer or public 
water; lack of separation distance between incompatible uses; and/or crossing of lot lines with 
improvements.  
 
Staff’s Findings: Staff believes the site is suitable for the proposed use and development.  
 
 
REQUESTED WAIVERS AND MODIFICATIONS 
The Applicant is requesting waivers or modifications to the following standards. Staff suggestions and 
recommendations are noted below. 
 
PDD-39 Design Standards, Section 15-3.0444A.D. Gateway Area Design Standards  
 
1. §15-3.0444A.D.1.a. states “Not more than fifty (50) percent of the off-street parking spaces shall 

be located directly between the front façade of the building and the public street, unless additional 
buildings in the overall development are or will be located between the main building and the 
public street, and/or additional enhanced landscaping or decorative fencing is used to screen such 
parking. Such additional buildings and/or landscaping or fencing must be sufficient in size, 
location and number to provide an effective visual break between the public street and the parking 
lot.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests this requirement be waived, so as to have all 
employee and visitor parking in front of the buildings. Staff concurs that separation of the public 
and employee traffic from heavy vehicles would be appropriate given the type of use proposed,  
and recommends approval of this waiver. 
 



  

 9 

2. §15-3.0444A.D.2.a. states “Lighting and site furnishings (benches, trash receptacles, bicycle 
racks, etc.) shall complement the character of the building, and provide an attractive and strong 
relationship with adjoining properties and the public sidewalk.”     
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification to note that all site furnishings 
are intended for employees only. Staff concurs with this request and recommends approval of this 
modification. 
 

3. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.ii. which state “Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe 
pedestrian access to the building entrance and to connect the site to adjacent streets and 
properties. Pedestrian walkways shall be designed with amenities such as special paving 
treatments (colored paver blocks or textured concrete), lighting, and furnishings to create a 
pedestrian-friendly character.”     
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification to require one (1) walkway 
which is located near the West Oakwood Road/South 27th Street intersection and runs through the 
parking area, and lines up to the main entrance. Staff recommends approval. 
 

4. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.iii. which state “Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any 
façade containing a public entrance, leaving room for foundation planting beds, and shall connect 
to existing or planned public sidewalks or pedestrian/bike facilities.”     
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests modifying this requirement to provide sidewalk 
as shown on the Site Plan, which limits the sidewalk to the area primarily in front of the proposed 
office/employee welfare area, rather than including in front of the production/industrial facility 
area. Staff recommends approval. 
 

5. §15-3.0444A.D.3.a.i. states “Each development which contains a building over forty-thousand 
(40,000) square feet in area shall provide extensive building foundation landscaping for all 
building frontages facing public streets or parking lots to provide visual breaks in the mass of the 
building.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a waiver of this requirement, because foundation 
plantings often result in harboring/nesting areas for animals and other creatures that would provide 
a food safety hazard. Staff recommends approval, with the condition that the bufferyard along 
South 27th Street and adjacent to the residence southeast of the site at TKN 951-9995-000 be 
enhanced. The applicant has already provided a proposed enhancement on the attached Site Plan.   
 

6. §15-3.0444A.D.3.b. states “Each development which contains a building over forty-thousand 
(40,000) square feet in area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a patio/seating 
area, pedestrian plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, water feature, and/or other such 
deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the development or 
community. All such areas shall be openly accessible to the public, connected to the public and 
private sidewalk system, designed with materials compatible with the building and remainder of 
the site, and maintained over the life of the building and project.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification to this requirement only that it is 
provided for employees only, and not as a public amenity. Staff recommends approval. 
 

7. §§15-3.0444A.D.4.a.i., 4.a.ii., 4.a.iii., 4.a.iv., 4.a.v., and 4.a.xi., which state 



  

 10 

a. “i. All principal buildings shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural design. 
Corner buildings shall also serve as landmarks with distinctive architectural character, 
including such features as towers, rounded walls, recessed entries, or other unique 
features.” 

b. “ii. All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as 
stone below wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use.” 

c. “iii. Brick and stone are preferred primary materials for the solid (non-window) portion of 
new buildings or additions.” 

d. “iv. Precast concrete, cast stone, concrete masonry units, terra cotta, stucco, and wood 
siding are acceptable accent and secondary materials for the solid portion of new buildings 
or additions.” 

e. “v. Other materials may be allowed subject to Plan Commission approval.”  
f. “xi. Commercial buildings shall have at least 60% of their ground floor front elevation with 

transparent windows.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requested modifications to the above subsections for the 
following: (1) require the multi-story feature for the office/employee welfare portion of the facility 
only; (2) permit pigmented precast concrete as the principle façade material around the 
industrial/distribution portion of the facility; (3) permit precast concrete in lieu of stone and brick, 
and as the principle material for the industrial/distribution portion of the facility; (4) require 
transparent windows on the office/employee welfare portion of the facility only. Staff recommends 
approval. 
 

8. §15-3.0444A.D.5., which states “All signs must be in accordance with the Municipal Code, as 
amended, approved by the Plan Commission, and be subject to issuance of a Sign Permit through 
the Inspection Department. On-site directional signage may be allowed in any area needed to 
control traffic or parking provided such signage has received approval from the Department of 
City Development.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests waiver of the Plan Commission review of the 
proposed signs for the site, and defer such review and approval to the Department of City 
Development under a Sign Permit Application. Staff recommends approval.  

 
The applicant requests certain waivers listed under the PDD-39 Design Standards (§15-3.0444A.D.7) 
but are addressed below as waiver/modification requests of the South 27th Street Design Overlay 
District (Division 15-3.0350). 
 
UDO, Part 3, Division 15-3.0350, Section 15-3.0351 – South 27th Street Design Overlay District 
 
The South 27th Street Design Overlay District ordinance states that the overlay’s intent is for South 27th 
Street to “be a local, regional and statewide destination for people to work, live, shop, recreate, and 
interact with one another.”  Many of the standards encourage design features geared towards an 
attractive commercial, public-facing aesthetic.  They are not appropriate for industrial users, and staff 
believes it would be appropriate to waive or modify the sections as requested. 
 
1. §15-3.0352A. states “Not more than 50% of the off-street parking spaces shall be located directly 

between the front façade of the building and the public street…”  
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests this requirement be waived, so as to have all 
employee and visitor parking in front of the buildings. Staff concurs that separation of the public 



  

 11 

and employee traffic from heavy vehicles would be appropriate given the type of use proposed,  
and recommends approval of this waiver. 
 

2. §15-3.0352C.2. states “If a parking reduction is request for any reason other than shared 
parking…technical documentation shall be furnished by the applicant during the site plan review 
process to indicated, to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission, that actual off-street parking for 
that particular use is less than the required amount….”  
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a reduction of required parking from 621 
parking spaces to 459 spaces based on the applicant’s stated shift employment, as noted earlier in 
this report. Staff recommends approval of this reduction request. 
 

3. §15-3.0353A. states “Landscaping and site amenities shall be provided to safety the requirements 
of this Division. All site improvements shall be designed and undertaken in such a way that clear 
site lines are maintained…”  
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification to this requirement only that it is 
provided for employees only, and not as a public amenity. Staff recommends approval. 
 

4. §§15-3.0353B.2., B.3., B.4., and B.5. which state 
a. “2. Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe pedestrian access to the 

building entrance….” 
b. “3. The entire development shall provide for safe pedestrian and bicycle access to all 

uses…” 
c. “4. Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any façade…” 
d. “5 Pedestrian walkways shall be provided from all building entrances to existing or 

planned public sidewalks…”  
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests (1) a modification to subsection B.2. to require 
one (1) walkway which is located near the West Oakwood Road/South 27th Street intersection and 
runs through the parking area, and lines up to the main entrance; (2) a waiver of subsection B.3. 
because the proposed facility is not for public use or interaction, and such facilities are to be 
provided for employee use only; (3) a modification to subsection B.4. to reduce the sidewalk along 
the façade of the office/employee welfare area only; and (4) a modification to subsection B.5. to 
reduce the requirement from walkways (plural) to walkway (singular) for the single walkway as 
shown on the attached Site Plan. Staff recommends approval of the modifications to subsections 
B.2., B.4., and B.5., and the waiver to subsection B.3. 
 

5. §15-3.0353D. states “The development shall provide secure, integrated bicycle parking and 
pedestrian furniture…”  
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification to provide bicycle facilities and 
pedestrian accommodations for employees only. Staff recommends approval of this modification. 
 

6. §§15-3.0353.E.1. and E.3. which state  
a. “1. Extensive building foundation landscaping for all building frontages facing public 

streets, parking lots or residential districts to provide visual breaks in the mass of the 
building…. 

b. “3. Off-street parking area landscaping as set forth in Section 15-5.0302…”  
 



  

 12 

Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a waiver of the requirement in subsection E.1. 
because foundation plantings often result in harboring/nesting areas for animals and other creatures 
that would provide a food safety hazard. Staff recommends approval, with the condition that the 
bufferyard along South 27th Street and adjacent to the residence southeast of the site at TKN 951-
9995-000 be enhanced. The applicant has already provided a proposed enhancement on the 
attached Site Plan. Regarding subsection E.3., the applicant requests to modify the requirement for 
parking lot landscaping to shift those requirements to the bufferyards, again for food safety 
reasons. Staff recommends approval of this modification. 
 

7. §15-3.0353F. states “Each development which contains a building over fifty thousand (50,000) 
square feet in area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a patio/seating area, 
pedestrian plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, water feature, and/or other such 
deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the development or 
community. All such areas shall be openly accessible to the public, connected to the public and 
private sidewalk system, designed with materials compatible with the building and remainder of 
the site, and maintained over the life of the building and project.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests to modify this requirement to provide such 
facilities for employees only. Staff supports this modification request.   
  

8. §15-3.0354A. states “Interior and perimeter buffer landscaping is required for all off-street 
parking lots and their associated vehicular use areas...” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests to modify this requirement to shift such 
landscaping to the bufferyards and limit interior parking lot landscaping for food safety reasons. 
Staff recommends approval of this modification, as stipulated under the request for Section 15-
3.0444A.D.3.a.i. 
  

9. §15-3.0354B.1. states “Shade or decorative trees are required within the vehicular use area at a 
ratio of one tree for every fifteen (15) parking spaces, unless the Plan Commission grants an 
exception.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests to modify this requirement to reduce the number 
of trees (decorative only) to approximately one tree for every 39 parking spaces, primarily for food 
safety reasons. Staff recommends approval of this modification, again with the stipulation to 
provide more tree materials in the bufferyards. The applicant has already provided such on the 
attached Site Plan. 
  

10. §§15-3.0354C.1., C.2., and C.5., which state  
a. “1. A minimum of twenty (20) square feet of interior landscaped island shall be provided 

per parking stall.”  
b. “2. The interior landscaping shall be provided within landscaped islands a minimum of 250 

square feet in area….” 
c. “5. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be composed of a combination of hardy trees, 

shrubs, perennials and groundcover….” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests (1) a modification of subsection C.1. to provide 
approximately 13 square feet of interior landscaped island per parking stall; (2) a modification to 
subsection C.2. to permit interior landscaped islands that exceed the dimensions stated in this 
section (up to 9 feet wide and 40 feet long); and (3) a modification of subsection C.5. to not require 



  

 13 

hardy trees or shrubs in the parking lot interior landscaped islands, relying on decorative trees, 
perennials and groundcover. Staff supports all three modification requests.  
 

11. §§15-3.0354D.2.a. and 2.c. which state  
a. “a. Street side greenbelts shall contain dense landscape screening which provides 

plantings…”  
b. “c. Other greenbelts not specifically described above shall contain a minimum of one tree 

or shrub for each fifteen (15) feet of perimeter….” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests modifications to both subsections such that the 
greenbelts are not required to be opaque (as in 2.a.) and to not require the minimum number of 
materials and provide for berming along South 27th Street in lieu of plantings, and stormwater 
ponds and streets trees along West Oakwood Road in lieu of this standard, and as depicted on the 
attached Site Plan.  Staff recommends approval of both modifications.  
  

12. §§15-3.0355A.1., A.2., and A.3., which state  
a. “1. Buildings located on prominent sites – such as key intersections, corners, terminations 

of street vistas, and on high points – shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural 
design to serve as landmarks.”  

b. “2. All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as 
stone below wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use.” 

c. “3. Brick, stone and terra-cotta are preferred primary materials for new buildings or 
additions.”   

 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests modifications to these subsections as follows: 
(1) for subsection A.1. to require the multi-story area for the office/employee welfare portion of the 
proposed facility and not the whole structure; (2) for subsection A.2. to permit pigmented precast 
concrete in lieu of stone, wood or other external materials; and (3) for subsection A.3. to permit 
pigmented precast concrete as the primary material in lieu of brick, stone or terra-cotta. Staff 
recommends approval of these modifications. 
 

13. §15-3.0355.C.5. states “The building exterior shall be unified in design throughout the structure, 
and shall complement other buildings in the vicinity. The building shall employ varying building 
setbacks, height, roof treatments, door and window openings, and other structural and decorative 
elements to reduce apparent size and scale. A minimum of 20% of all the combined facades of the 
structure shall employ actual façade protrusions or recesses. A minimum of 20% of all of the 
combined linear roof eave or parapet lines of the structure shall employ differences in height, with 
such differenced being 6 feet or more as measured eave to eave or parapet to parapet for buildings 
over 50,000 square feet. Roofs with particular slopes may be required by the City to complement 
existing buildings or otherwise establish a particular aesthetic objective. Ground floor facades that 
face and are on properties that are in any part within 100 feet of public streets shall have arcades, 
display windows, entry areas, awnings, or other such features along no less than 50% of their 
horizontal length. The integration of windows into building design is strongly encouraged.”   
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests to modify the requirements specific to the 
placement of windows and decorate elements due to the nature of the food processing use and that 
portion of the proposed facility. The applicant proposes articulation and varied projection areas and 
parapet heights of 30 to 50 percent for the projections and 29 to 30.5 percent for the parapet 
heights. 
 



  

 14 

14. §15-3.0355C.8. states “Modest building setbacks are encouraged. Where buildings are proposed 
to be distance from the public street, the overall development design shall include smaller 
buildings on pads or outlots closer to the street.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests to waive this requirement because (1) the 
proposed facility is for essentially the same activity, and therefore creating multiple smaller 
buildings would create potential food safety hazards; and (2) the larger setback is to permit the 
parking in front in order to separate employee and delivery/distribution traffic and provide addition 
security around the food processing portion of the proposed facility. Staff recommends approval of 
this waiver. 
 

15. §15-3.0355C.11. states “Existing natural features shall be integrated into the site design as a site 
and community amenity.” 
 
Staff’s Recommendation: The applicant requests a modification of this subsection in  order to 
install a security fence through 258 linear feet of wetland buffer and 526 linear feet of wetland 
setback, in large part because (a) 80 percent of the proposed fence will be located over an existing 
gravel driveway, and (b) nearby fencing already encroaches on this disturbed wetland area (located 
on the adjacent property to the south). Staff recommends approval of this modification, with the 
following conditions: that (1) the applicant is required to restore the wetland buffer and setback 
from any disturbance consistent with the requirements of UDO §15-4.0102I, and (2) the applicant 
shall not use heavy construction equipment for the fence installation through the wetland buffer 
and setback (i.e. a small backhoe or similar construction vehicle would be considered suitable).      
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Based on the above review comments and discussion, staff recommends the following actions: 
 

1. An approval recommendation for the Special Use application, subject to the proposed 
conditions incorporated in the attached Special Use Resolution.  

2. Approval of the following 13 requested waivers/modifications to the PDD-39 Gateway Area 
Design Standards: 

a. §15-3.0444A.D.1.a. waiver request for parking location due to nature of proposed 
operation 

b. §15-3.0444A.D.2.a., modification to provide furnishings, etc. for employee use only. 
c. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.ii., modification to reduce to 1 walkway from Oakwood Road to 

front walkway adjacent main entrance  
d. §15-3.0444A.D.2.b.iii., modification to reduce sidewalk along façade primarily to area 

adjacent to office/employee welfare-courtyard areas 
e. §15-3.0444A.D.3.a.i., waive building foundation plantings, with stipulation that 

bufferyards are enhanced along South 27th Street and adjacent the residence southeast of 
site at TKN 951 9995 000. 

f. §15-3.0444A.D.3.b. modification that central areas/feature are intended for employees 
and not as a public amenity. 

g. §15-3.0444A.D.4a.i., modification to require multi-story specific to office/employee 
welfare portion of facility 

h. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.ii., modification to permit primarily pigmented precast concrete as 
principle material around the industrial/distribution portion of facility  

i. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.iii., modification to permit precast concrete in lieu of stone and 
brick for the industrial/distribution portion of facility.  



  

 15 

j. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.iv., modification to permit precast concrete as principal material for 
the industrial/distribution portion of facility  

k. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.v., modification to permit pigmented precast concrete.  
l. §15-3.0444A.D.4.a.xi., modification to include transparent windows on the office 

portion of the facility 
m. §15-3.0444A.D.5, waive Plan Commission review of proposed signs and defer to staff 

approval with the Sign Permit Application 
3. Approval of the following requested 24 waivers/modifications of the South 27th Street Design 

Overlay District: 
a. §15-3.0352A., waiver request for parking location due to nature of proposed operation 
b. §15-3.0352C.2., request reduction of required parking from 621 to 459 spaces based on 

applicant’s stated shift employment justification. 
c. §15-3.0353A., modification to provide furnishings, etc. for employee use only. 
d. §15-3.0353B.2., modification to reduce to 1 walkway from Oakwood Road to front 

walkway adjacent main entrance  
e. §15-3.0353B.3., waive connections with other uses for pedestrian and bicycle access 

except for employees only. 
f. §15-3.0353B.4., modification to reduce sidewalk along façade primarily to area 

adjacent to office/employee welfare-courtyard areas 
g. §15-3.0353B.5., modification to reduce to 1 walkway from Oakwood Road to front 

walkway adjacent main entrance 
h. §15-3.0353D., modification to provide bicycle facilities for employees only. 
i. §15-3.0353E.1., waive building foundation plantings, with stipulation that bufferyards 

are enhanced along South 27th Street and adjacent the residence southeast of site at TKN 
951 9995 000. 

j. §15-3.0353E.3., modification to shift required parking landscaping to bufferyard areas. 
k. §15-3.0353.F., modification that central areas/feature are intended for employees and 

not as a public amenity. 
l. §15-3.0354A., modification to what is presented on Site Plan, as updated through 

December 22, 2021. 
m. §15-3.0354B.1., modification requirement for trees to a reduced to one tree every 39 

parking spaces. 
n. §15-3.0354C.1., modification to provide less than 20 sq.ft. per parking space 

(approximately 13 sq.ft. per space) 
o. §15-3.0354C.2., modification to permit larger parking islands (size and dimensions) vs. 

the requirement here. 
p. §15-3.0354C.5., modification to reduce types of materials to decorative trees, perennials 

and ground cover as shown on Site Plan Application. 
q. §15-3.0354D.2.a., modification to permit less than opaque street-side greenbelts,  
r. §15-3.0354D.2.c., modification to reduce the number of planting elements but 

otherwise compensate with berming along South 27th Street. 
s. §15-3.0355A.1., modification to permit partial use of multi-story façade on 

office/employee welfare portion of the facility. 
t. §15-3.0355A.2., modification to permit pigmented precast concrete in lieu of stone or 

wood. 
u. §15-3.0355A.3., modification to permit pigmented precast concrete in lieu 
v. §15-3.0355C.5., modification this requirement with specific elements and mix to that 

proposed by applicant on Site Plan Application. 
w. §15-3.0355C.8., waive this requirement as multiple smaller buildings are not consistent 

with the intent of proposed facility. 



  

 16 

x. §15-3.0355C.11., modification to permit location of security fence through 258 linear 
feet of wetland buffer and 526 linear feet of wetland setback, in large part because (a) 
80% of proposed fence will be located over an existing gravel driveway and (b) nearby 
fencing already encroaches on this disturbed wetland area. Staff suggests conditions to 
ensure restoration as appropriate and limits on type of equipment used to install fence to 
reduce impact on pervious areas of delineated wetland, buffer, and setback. 

4. Approval of the Site Plan Application with the proposed conditions reflecting adjudication of 
the waiver/modification requests above, and based on the submitted Site Plan (Complete Civil 
Plan Set and Architectural Plan Set) dated November 4, 2021, as updated December 22, 2021.  

 
 
APPENDICES 

1. City of Franklin Plan Commission Special Use Resolution No. 2022-__, draft dated December 
20, 2021.  

2. City of Franklin Common Council Site Plan Resolution No. 2022-__, draft dated December 20, 
2021. 

3. Planning Maps of Subject Property 
4. Special Use Application, dated November 2, 2021 
5. Site Plan Application, dated November 2, 2021 
6. Proposal Summary and Responses to Standards, submitted November 8, 2021 
7. Applicant’s Responses to Staff Comments, dated December 23, 2021 
8. Legal Description of Subject Property. 
9. CSM No. 9362, as recorded November 5, 2021 
10. Natural Resource Protection Plan (summary and map), dated December 15, 2021 
11. Preliminary Stormwater Memorandum, dated November 4, 2021 
12. Complete Civil Plan Set, dated November 4, 2021, as updated December 22, 2021 
13. Architectural Plan Set, as submitted November 4, 2021 
 

 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
       [Draft 12-20-21]  

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS  
 FOR THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE TO ALLOW A 310,485  

SQUARE FOOT “OFFICE/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FLEX SPACE” TO DEVELOP  
A FOOD PROCESSING OPERATION, INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF  

MATERIALS DELIVERY, PROCESSING, PACKAGING AND DISTRIBUTION  
OF FOOD PRODUCTS, WITH SUPPORTING OFFICE AND EMPLOYEE  

WELFARE FACILITIES UPON PROPERTY LOCATED ON THE EASTERN HALF  
OF THE PARCEL AT THE INTERSECTION OF WEST OAKWOOD ROAD AND 

SOUTH 27TH STREET (LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9362) 
(BY SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC., APPLICANT, HSA COMMERCIAL, INC., D/B/A 

HSA COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, Saputo Cheese USA Inc. having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of a Special Use within the Gateway Area of Planned Development District No. 39 
(Mixed Use Business Park), to allow a 310,485 square foot “Office/Light Industrial Flex 
Space” (Office/Light Industrial Flex Space requires a Special Use per Section 15-3.0444A 
B.3.a. of Ordinance No. 2016-2238) to develop a food processing operation on the subject 
property, including the provision of materials delivery, processing, packaging and 
distribution of food products, with supporting office and employee welfare facilities, upon 
property located on the eastern half of the parcel at the intersection of West Oakwood Road 
and South 27th Street in the Gateway Area District of Planned Development District No. 39 
(Mixed-Use Business Park) (Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 9362, recorded on 
November 5, 2021), zoned Planned Development District No. 39 (Mixed-Use Business 
Park).  The property which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. (part of) 951-
9994-001 and is more particularly described as follows: 
 

Commencing at the northwest corner of the Northeast 1/4 of said Section 36; 
thence South 00°21ʹ57ʺ East along the west line of said Northeast 1/4, 60.01 
feet to the Point of the Beginning; Thence North 88°34ʹ35ʺ East, 2544.13 feet; 
Thence South 00°11ʹ51ʺ East, 1079.38 feet; Thence South 88°38ʹ08ʺ West, 
192.33 feet; Thence South 00°11ʹ51ʺ East, 160.00 feet; Thence North 
88°38ʹ08ʺ East, 192.33 feet; Thence South 00°11ʹ51ʺ East, 30.00 feet to the 
south line of the North 1/2 of said Northeast 1/4; Thence South 88°38ʹ08ʺ 
West along said south line, 2540.35 feet to the aforesaid west line of said 
Northeast 1/4; Thence North 00°21ʹ57ʺ West along said west line, 1266.68 feet 
to the Point of the Beginning. Containing 3,192,244 square feet (73.2838 
acres) of land Gross, more or less (subsequent thereto upon recording of a 
certified survey map, the property is now described as Lot 2 of CSM #9362, 
recorded 11/5/2021); and 

 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC. – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 2 
  

WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 6th day of January, 2022, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it 
will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that it will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that it will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Saputo Cheese USA Inc., for the 
approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by 
Saputo Cheese USA Inc., successors and assigns, for an “Office/Light Industrial 
Flex Space” food processing operation use, which shall be developed in 
substantial compliance with, and operated and maintained by Saputo Cheese USA 
Inc., pursuant to those plans City file-stamped __________, 2021 and annexed 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Saputo Cheese USA Inc., successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin 
the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by 
the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the 
Saputo Cheese USA Inc. “Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” food processing 
operation use, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision 
shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-
9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and 
remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Saputo Cheese USA Inc. 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC. – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 3 

 
“Office/Light Industrial Flex Space” food processing operation use for the 
property located on the eastern half of the parcel at the intersection of West 
Oakwood Road and South 27th Street in the Gateway Area District of Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed-Use Business Park) (Lot 2 of Certified 
Survey Map No. 9362): (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental 
laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other 
governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable 
to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. [other conditions, etc.] 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Saputo Cheese USA Inc., 
successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any 
of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day 
notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon 
notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2022. 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC. – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 4 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                      PLAN COMMISSION                             

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE 

APPROVAL OF A SITE PLAN FOR CONSTRUCTION OF AN APPPROXIMATELY 
310,485 SQUARE FOOT CONSUMER FOOD PRODUCT CONVERTING FACILITY, 
INCLUDING A TWO-STORY WELFARE AND OFFICE AREA SUPPORTING THE 

PRODUCTION FACILITY AT THE NORTHEAST PORTION OF THE FACILITY, 459 
PARKING SPACES FOR CARS IN FRONT OF THE BUILDNG ON WEST OAKWOOD 
ROAD AND SOUTH 27TH STREET, LOADING AREAS FOR TRUCKS ON THE WEST 
AND SOUTH FACIING SIDES OF THE PROPOSED BUILDING AND STORMWATER 

PONDS ON THE NORTH AND SOUTH SIDES OF THE SITE FOR ONSITE 
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND VISUAL AMENITIES (THE PROPOSED 

STORMWATER ELEMENTS HAVE BEEN DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR 
POTENTIAL FUTURE EXPANSION OF KEY AREAS OF THE FACILITY TO 

ACCOMMODATE GROWTH FOR SAPUTO) UPON PROPERTY ZONED PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 39 (MIXED-USE BUSINESS PARK) LOCATED ON 

THE EASTERN HALF OF THE PARCEL AT THE INTERSECTION OF WEST 
OAKWOOD ROAD AND SOUTH 27TH STREET IN THE GATEWAY AREA DISTRICT 

OF PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 39 (MIXED-USE BUSINESS PARK) 
(LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9362,  

RECORDED ON NOVEMBER 5, 2021)  
(PART OF TAX KEY NO. 951-9994-001, OTHERWISE KNOWN  

AS LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9362) 
 (SAPUTO CHEESE USA, APPLICANT, H.S.A.  

COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 

WHEREAS, Saputo Cheese USA having applied for approval of a proposed site plan 
for construction of an approximately 310,485 square foot consumer food product converting 
facility, including a two-story welfare and office area supporting the production facility at the 
northeast portion of the facility, 459 parking spaces for cars in front of the building on West 
Oakwood Road and South 27th Street, loading areas for trucks on the west and south facing 
sides of the proposed building and stormwater ponds on the north and south sides of the site 
for onsite stormwater management and visual amenities property located on Lot 2 of 
Certified Survey Map No. 9362, which was recorded on November 5, 2021; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found 
same to be in compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0421 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes 
of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 2 
 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan for construction of an approximately 310,485 square 
foot consumer food product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and office area 
supporting the production facility at the northeast portion of the facility, 459 parking spaces 
for cars in front of the building on West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street, loading areas 
for trucks on the west and south facing sides of the proposed building and stormwater ponds 
on the north and south sides of the site for onsite stormwater management and visual 
amenities, as depicted upon the plans dated November 4, 2021, most recently updated 
December 22, 2021, attached hereto and incorporated herein, is hereby approved, subject to 
the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The property subject to the Site Plan shall be developed in substantial compliance 
with, and operated and maintained pursuant to the Site Plan for the Saputo Cheese 
USA consumer food product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and 
office area, on plans dated November 4, 2021, most recently updated December 22, 
2021. 

2. Saputo Cheese USA, successors and assigns, and any developer of the Saputo Cheese 
USA consumer food product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and 
office area, shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development 
compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including 
fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Saputo Cheese USA consumer food 
product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and office area, within 30 
days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from 
time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Saputo Cheese USA 
consumer food product converting facility, including a two-story welfare and office 
area for the property located at Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 9362: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and 
the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented 
for this approval. 

4. That the Saputo Cheese USA consumer food product converting facility, including a 
two-story employee welfare and office area shall be developed and constructed 
pursuant to such Site Plan within one year from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be 
null and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin. 

5. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the Planned 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 3 

 
6. Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Section 

15-3.0444A.D.1.a. (Parking required and location regulated) to permit parking in 
front of the building façades facing West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street. 

 
7. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the Planned 

Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Section 
15-3.0444A.D.2.a. (Site furnishings required and coordination regulated) to provide 
site furnishings for employees only. 
 

8. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Sections 
15-3.0444A.D.2.b.ii. and 2.b.iii. (Bicycle and pedestrian amenities required) to 
require one walkway connection only to West Oakwood Road to the main entrance of 
the facility and to only require sidewalk in front of the office/employee welfare 
portion of the facility. 
 

9. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Section 
15-3.0444A.D.3.a. (Landscaping required and location regulated), provided that the 
applicant shifts the required foundation plantings to the required Bufferyard along 
South 27th Street and adjacent to the residential parcel located at Tax Key No. 951-
9995-000.  
 

10. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Section 
15-3.0444A.D.3.b. (Central Areas/Features required) to provide central gathering 
areas for employees and authorized company visitors only.  
 

11. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Sections 
15-3.0444A.D.4.a.i., 4.a.ii., 4.a.iii., 4.a.iv., 4.a.v., and 4.a.xi. (Building Character and 
Design regulated) to only require a multi-story building for the office/employee 
welfare portion of the facility, transparent windows on the office/employee welfare 
portion of the facility, and permit pigmented precast concrete as the primary material 
for the industrial/distribution portion of the facility.  
 

12. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the Planned 
Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) Design Standards Section 
15-3.0444A.E. (Signage Standards) to waive Plan Commission review of proposed 
signs and defer to Department of City Development staff approval with the Sign 
Permit Application.  



SAPUTO CHEESE USA – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 4 
 

13. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the South 27th 
Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0352A. (Parking required and 
location regulated) to permit parking in front of the façades facing West Oakwood 
Road and South 27th Street. 

 
14. The applicant shall obtain a parking reduction from 621 parking spaces to 459 

parking spaces from the Plan Commission as provided in the South 27th Street 
Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0352C.2. (Parking required and 
location regulated). 

 
15. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0353A. (Coordination of 
site furnishings) to provide site furnishings for employees and authorized company 
visitors only. 

 
16. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the South 27th 

Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0353B.3. (Pedestrian 
Considerations) to not require pedestrian and bicycle connections. 

 
17. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Sections 15-3.0353B.2., B.4., and B.5.  
(Pedestrian Considerations) to provide one walkway connection to West Oakwood 
Road, to reduce the sidewalk in front of the building to that area in front of the 
office/employee welfare portion of the facility. 

 
18. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0353D. (Bicycle and 
pedestrian amenities required) to provide bicycle facilities for employees and 
company visitors only. 

 
19. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the South 27th 

Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.035E.1. (Foundation area 
landscaping), provided that the applicant shifts the required foundation plantings to 
the required Bufferyard along South 27th Street and adjacent to the residential parcel 
located at Tax Key No. 951-9995-000. 
 

20. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 
27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0353E.3. (Off-street 
parking area landscaping) to shift parking lot landscaping to bufferyard areas. 
 

21. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 5 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0353F. (Central Areas/ 
Features) to provide central areas for employees and authorized company visitors 
only. 

 
22. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0354A. (Parking Lot 
Landscaping Required) provided that the applicant shifts the required foundation 
plantings to the required Bufferyard along South 27th Street and adjacent to the 
residential parcel located at Tax Key No. 951-9995-000. 

 
23. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0354B.1. (Required Trees 
for Parking Lot Perimeter and Interior Applications) provided that the applicant shifts 
the required foundation plantings to the required Bufferyard along South 27th Street 
and adjacent to the residential parcel located at Tax Key No. 951-9995-000. 
 

24. The applicant shall obtain modifications from the Plan Commission of the South 27th 
Street Design Overlay District Standards Sections 15-3.0354C.1, C.2., and C.5. 
(Interior Landscaping for Off-Street Parking Areas) to provide 13 square feet of 
parking island space per parking stall, to permit larger parking islands (up to 9 feet 
wide and 40 feet long) and to reduce required planting materials in parking islands to 
decorative trees, perennials, and groundcover. 
 

25. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 
27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0354.D.2.a. and D.2.c. 
(Screening for Off-Street Parking Areas) to not require an opaque planted street-side 
greenbelt, and to reduce the number of planting elements and substitute planted berms 
in lieu. 

 
26. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0355A.1., A.2., and A.3. 
(Building Character and Design) to permit partial use of a multi-story facility for the 
office/general portion of the facility only and to permit pigmented precast concrete as 
the primary façade material for the industrial/distribution portion of the facility. 

 
27. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 

27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0355C.5. (Building 
Façades) to permit use of specific elements and mix of elements as provided on the 
attached Site Plan dated November 4, 2021, most recently updated December 22, 
2021. 

 



SAPUTO CHEESE USA – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 6 

28. The applicant shall obtain a waiver from the Plan Commission of the South 27th 
Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0355C.8. (Building Location) 
to permit large building setbacks and a single-structure facility. 

29. The applicant shall obtain a modification from the Plan Commission of the South 
27th Street Design Overlay District Standards Section 15-3.0355C.11. (Natural 
Resources Protection), provided that:  

a. The applicant shall restore the wetland buffer and setback from any 
disturbance consistent with the requirements of UDO §15-4.0102I; and  

b. The applicant shall not use heavy construction equipment for the fence 
installation through the wetland buffer and setback (i.e., a small backhoe or 
similar construction vehicle would be considered suitable).    

30. The applicant shall submit conservation easements for areas of preserved natural 
resources (per City of Franklin Unified Development Ordinance §15-7.0603B) for 
Common Council review and approval, prior to any land disturbing activities. 
 

31. The applicant shall obtain approval of the Stormwater Management Plan, Utilities 
Construction Plan, and driveway access from the City Engineering Department prior 
to the issuance of the building permit.   

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
   

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 951 9994 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

S. 
  2

7T
H 

    
 ST

PDD 

B-7 P-1 

P-1 

R-3 

R-2 
R-2 

34
TH

 ST

OAKWOOD                        RD   

ELM                            RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 690 1,380345 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 951 9994 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

S  
 27

TH
    

ST

S  
  3

4T
H 

   S
T

W   OAKWOOD   RD

S  
  2

7T
H 

    
ST

W SAINT JOHNS

US
H 

41

W

W    OAKWOOD    RD

RED LEAF CT

W      ELM      RD

S  
  2

7T
H 

   S
T

S. 
  2

7T
H 

    
 ST

34
TH

 ST

OAKWOOD                        RD   

ELM                            RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 690 1,380345 Feet

Property

 







Commencing at the northwest corner of the Northeast ¼ of said Section 36; thence South 
00°21’57” East along the west line of said Northeast ¼, 60.01 feet to the Point of the Beginning; 
Thence North 88°34’35” East, 2544.13 feet; 
Thence South 00°11’51” East, 1079.38 feet; 
Thence South 88°38’08” West, 192.33 feet; 
Thence South 00°11’51” East, 160.00 feet; 
Thence North 88°38’08” East, 192.33 feet; 
Thence South 00°11’51” East, 30.00 feet to the south line of the North ½ of said Northeast ¼; 
Thence South 88°38’08” West along said south line, 2540.35 feet to the aforesaid west line of 
said Northeast ¼; 
Thence North 00°21’57” West along said west line, 1266.68 feet to the Point of the Beginning. 
Containing 3,192,244 square feet (73.2838 acres) of land Gross, more or less. 































 

Stormwater Memorandum: 
 

Proposed Saputo Converting Facility - Franklin, WI 
November 4, 2021 

 

Existing Conditions 
 
The proposed development is located on the southwest quadrant of the intersection of 
Oakwood Avenue and 27th Street in the Village of Franklin, Wisconsin. The project site is an 
existing agricultural field which has not yet been developed.  The site currently drains to two 
major discharge locations, to the respective east and west sides of the site. The existing site can 
be seen on plan sheet C1.0A-D.  
 

- Property Area: 34.53 acres 
 

Proposed Project Overview 
The proposed project will include a new cheese converting (cut/package) facility along with 
other site features including employee patio/break area, onsite parking, loading docks, truck 
maneuvering areas/aisles, stormwater ponds, and site utilities to service the building. The 
proposed development will drain to onsite storm sewer which will direct stormwater to the 
proposed onsite stormwater basins located on the northeast and southwest portions of the 
site. The northeast pond will collect the respective north portion of the developed site and 
discharge the stormwater to the existing low spot on the east side of the site.  The southwest 
pond will collect the south portion of the site and discharge stormwater to the west low point 
of the site.  
 
The proposed wet detention ponds will treat stormwater from the site for both quantity and 
quality to meet Village, MMSD, and DNR requirements.  The wet ponds will limit the respective 
stormwater discharges to below 0.15 cfs/acre for the 2-year rainfall event and 0.5 cfs/acre for 
the 100-year rainfall event.  Additionally, the wet ponds will reduce the TSS discharge from the 
site by greater than 80%.  Infiltration is not proposed onsite due to clay soils being present in all 
soil boring locations onsite.  Storm sewer proposed onsite is sized to convey the 100-year 
design storm to the stormwater basins.  Additionally, the site has been graded to safely convey 
rainfall events in excess of storm sewer capacity to the ponds via overland flow routes.  Storm 
events above the 100-year design storm will flow to the proposed ponds and safely exit the 
ponds via the proposed emergency spillways which will convey stormwater overland to the 
existing site discharge locations. 
 

- Disturbed Area: 30.04 acres 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 1



1 

 

WEST OAKWOOD ROAD & 27TH STREET DEVELOPMENT – FRANKLIN, WI 
 

SAPUTO PROJECT SUMMARY: 
 
The proposed development includes the construction of a new consumer food product 
converting facility of approximately 310,485 square feet.  The facility and site development are 
designed to follow food safety approaches in all aspects of layout and design.  As such, a 
number of steps have been taken limit potential risk points for contamination and introduction 
of foreign material to the site and into the facility. 

 

The building façade will be constructed using a combination of insulated precast concrete wall 
panels with integral color pigment, accent banding, and horizontal spanning insulated metal 
wall panel on its exterior walls.  A conventional steel framing and open web joist roof structure 
will be supported by a combination of steel and precast concrete building columns.  The facility 
will have a fully adhered membrane roof system.  Exterior walls will extend beyond the roof line 
elevation to form an integral roof perimeter guard.  A shallow conventional foundation system 
is anticipated. 

 

The proposed design for the building includes a prominent corner entry with storefront and 
covered walkways on the northeast corner.  The northeast portion of the facility will house a 
two-story welfare and office area supporting the production facility.  Additional windows are 
provided along the façade of the office and employee service areas on both proposed levels.  
There are no windows into the production or cold storage areas keeping in line with good 
manufacturing practices for food processing facilities.  Auto traffic has been separated from 
truck traffic for safety purposes and to control on site movements following industry 
approaches to ensure food safety.  Auto parking is in front of the building to the North and East 
between the building façade and the public street, with access into the site from West 
Oakwood Road.  Auto parking is also proposed to have an exit discharge along South 27th Street 
on the east frontage of the site.  Truck maneuvering and loading is located on the West and 
South sides of the building and not readily visible from the street.  Screen walls have been 
proposed to shield these areas from public view.  A single accessible route will connect the 
building entrance to West Oakwood Road for pedestrian and bike access. 

 

Stormwater ponds are located on the north and south sides of the site for onsite stormwater 
management and provide visual amenities.  The proposed stormwater elements have been 
designed to account for potential future expansion of key areas of the facility to accommodate 
growth for Saputo. 

 

The estimated project value for the development of the building and site work is $85,000,000.  
The anticipated project schedule is to break ground on the buildings in the spring of 2022. 
 
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 1



2 

 

 
 

 

DIVISION 15-3.0700 SPECIAL USE STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS 
 

SECTION 15-3.0701 GENERAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
A. General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted 

pursuant to this Ordinance unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 

1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use 
and development will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which 
this Ordinance was enacted and for which the regulations of the zoning district in 
question were established and with the general purpose and intent of the City of 
Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

 
Response:  The proposed facility located at the intersection of West Oakwood and South 27th 
Street is situated the Gateway Area district.  The development will house operations for Saputo 
Cheese USA.  It will be a world class food production facility house state of the art processes for 
the develop of consumer goods.    The current Gateway Area zoning approves Office/Light 
Industrial use classifications including indoor warehousing, distribution, and storage as permitted 
accessory uses.  The proposed development is in line with the approved permitted uses and aligns 
with the businesses that are expanding in the area which will enhance the long-term property 
value and maximize assessed property increment to help support TID-4.  This development will 
provide a large number of new jobs withing the Gateway Area. 
 
2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or 

undue adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of 
the area, or the public health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the community or neighborhood. 

 
Response:  The proposed development is located at the intersection of West Oakwood Road to 
the north and 27th Street to the east.  The development is bordered on the west by a proposed 
commercial development and a wood area with small ponds.  To the south the site is an 
existing trucking cross dock facility.  A single-family residence is located adjacent to the far 
southeast corner of the site between the site and the trucking cross dock facility.  This 
development is well planned for maintaining the site to ensure no harborage of pest and to 
ensure ease of maintenance to maintain food safety.  Traffic entering and leaving site will be 
routed to maintain one way traffic through the site to the greatest extent possible. 
 
3. No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development 

will be constructed, arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



3 

 

vicinity or to interfere with the use and development of neighboring property in 
accordance with the applicable zoning district regulations. 

 
Response:  The proposed development maintains a building height in line with the surrounding 
development.  The appearance and location of the facility on the site are in line with adjacent 
developments.  
 
4. Adequate Public Facilities.  The proposed use and development will be served adequately 

by essential public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including public 
water supply system and sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public 
parks, libraries, schools, and other public facilities and utilities or the applicant will 
provide adequately for such facilities. 

 
Response:  The development will be adequately serviced by all existing public utilities, 
infrastructure and services including the 16” watermain in Oakwood; 16” sanitary sewer w/ 6” 
lateral stubs in Oakwood just west of South27th Street.  This 16” main connects to 24” MMSD 
sewage interceptor that flows north. 
 
5. No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic 

congestion nor draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate 
measures will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets. 

 
Response:  The development is laid out to encourage access to site by right only avoiding traffic 
crossing to enter the site following already establish roadways and traffic patterns.  In addition, 
site discharge is intended to be by right turn for all truck traffic as on-site truck traffic patterns 
are being established as one way, routing traffic from West Oakwood to South 27th Steet.  
There should be no reason for traffic entering and leaving the site to utilize residential 
neighborhoods. 
 
6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result 

in the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant 
importance. 

 
Response:  The proposed development will be located on an unimproved site within the 
Gateway Area district.  The proposed development will have on-site detention ponds and will 
follow all requirements of the NRPP.  There are no historic features associated with the site. 
 
7. Compliance with Standards. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 

applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations 
may, in each instance, be modified by the Common Council pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. The proposed use and development shall 
comply with all additional standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



4 

 

Division and Ordinance authorizing such use. 
 
 
 
As part of our application and this submittal, we are requesting some exceptions to the 
applicable design standards.  If required exceptions are stated below within the response to 
each item. 
 
PDD No. 39 Design Standards, Section 15-3.0444A.D. Gateway Area Design Standards  
 
Item 1a.   
Parking required and location regulated  
Not more than fifty (50) percent of the off-street parking spaces shall be located directly 
between the front façade of the building and the public street, unless additional buildings in the 
overall development are or will be located between the main building and the public street, 
and/or additional enhanced landscaping or decorative fencing is used to screen such parking.  
Such additional buildings and/or landscaping or fencing must be sufficient in size, location, and 
number to provide an effective visual break between the public street and the parking lot. 
 
Request:  We are requesting relief for parking restrictions to separate auto and truck traffic.  All 
parking is directly between the North and East Façade and Oakwood Road and South 27th 
street.  The West and South side of the building is for truck maneuvering, loading docks, 
maintenance & utility, and additional service functions. Ponds, landscape plantings, and berms 
are incorporated into the design to screen the parking from the street. 
 
Item 2a 
Site furnishings required and coordination regulated  
Lighting and site furnishings (benches, trash receptacles, bicycle racks,  
etc.) shall complement the character of the building, and provide an  
attractive and strong relationship with adjoining properties and the public  
sidewalk. 
 
Response:  Site furnishing are in line with the proposed development for a food processing 
facility.  The interconnecting bike and pedestrian pathway to West Oakwood Road.  The 
exterior employee courtyard and covered walkways complement the charter of the building 
while maintaining the hygienic design approaches for a facility of this nature. 
 
Item 2b, i 
New streets proposed as part of new developments shall provide  
“bicycle” and pedestrian friendly” streetscapes. 
 
Response:  Site improvements do not include any new streets to be constructed.  Owner will be 
adding sidewalk to the existing south side of West Oakwood Road. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



5 

 

 
Item 2b, ii 
Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe  
pedestrian access to the building entrance and to connect the site to  
adjacent streets and properties.  Pedestrian walkways shall be  
designed with amenities such as special paving treatments (colored  
paver blocks or textured concrete), lighting (see lighting discussion  
below) and furnishings to create a pedestrian-friendly character. 
 
Response:  A single pedestrian walkway will extend from West Oakwood Road to the walkway 
to be located at the north side of the facility.  A single walkway allows for employee access to 
the site and allows controlled access to the site a food safety measure. 
 
Item 2b, iii 
Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any façade  
containing a public entrance, leaving room for foundation planting  
beds, and shall connect to existing or planned public sidewalks or  
pedestrian/bike facilities. 
 
Response:  Sidewalks are provided on the north and east facades of the employee welfare and 
office areas which serve as the controlled point of entry for the facility.  Pedestrian and bike 
path are connected from West Oakwood Road to these elements. 
 
We are requesting relief from the foundation planting requirements on the basis of food safety 
concerns.  Such foundation planting represents pest harborage and nesting locations which 
does not support good manufacturing practices or aspects of the food safety modernization act 
which promote removal of harborage point near such facilities. 
 
Item 3a, i.   
Landscaping required and location regulated  
Each development which contains a building over forty thousand (40,000) square feet in area 
shall provide extensive building foundation landscaping for all building frontages facing public 
streets or parking lots to provide visual breaks in the mass of the building. 
 
Request:  Due to the sensitive nature of a food production facility foundation plantings cannot 
be used in the landscape design.  We are proposing no plantings between the parking lot and 
the building façade.  We are requesting relief from the foundation planting requirements on 
the basis of food safety concerns. 
 
Foundation plantings provide habitat for rodents and other small mammals both which must be 
kept away from the building over food safety concerns.  Landscaping is provided around the 
stormwater ponds near Oakwood Road and at the landscape berms near South 27th Street. 
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



6 

 

Item 3b.   
Central Areas/Features required.  Each development which contains a building over  
forty thousand (40,000) square feet in area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a  
patio/seating area, pedestrian plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, water feature,  
and/or other such deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the  
development or community.  All such area shall be openly accessible to the public, connected  
to the public and private sidewalk system, designed with materials compatible with the  
building and remainder of the site and maintained over the life of the building and project. 
 
Request:  We are requesting relief from the Central Areas/Features as the facility is not open to 
the public and such features present some food safety concerns.  Stormwater detention ponds 
between the building and Oakwood Road will provide water features visible from the public 
way.  Landscape berms are provided between the parking lot and South 27th Street focus on 
those areas.  The building has an external employee courtyard which will have patio/seating 
areas but is not accessible to the public.  Due to security and food safety concerns a pedestrian 
plaza accessible to the public is not desired. 
 
Item 4a, i.  
All principal buildings shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural design.  Corner 
buildings shall also serve as landmarks with distinctive architectural character, including such  
features as towers, rounded walls, recessed entries, or other unique features. 
 
Response:  The office portion of building corner near intersection of South 27th street and West 
Oakwood Road meets the intent of this requirement. 
 
Item 4a, ii. 
All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as stone below 
wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use. 
 
Response:  The building meets this intent using banded pigmented precast and horizontal 
insulated metal panels at warehouse areas fronting the street. 
 
Item 4a, iii.  
Brick and stone are preferred primary materials for the solid (non-window) portion of new 
buildings or additions.  
 
Response:  The primary building elevation material for the northeast corner office is an 
articulated pigmented precast concrete with a sandblast finish, including banding with an 
integrated water wash finish and additional banding at the lower 9’-8” of the wall using an 
exposed aggregate finish. The Covered walkway leading to the corner entries consists of stone 
masonry piers. The façade at the industrial portions of the building incorporates horizontal 
insulated metal panels with accent bands to continue the banding accents used on the precast 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



7 

 

walls. There will be a slight variation in color from the precast concrete portions of the building 
to the insulated metal panel portions of the building. 
 
Item 4a, iv.  
Precast concrete, cast stone, concrete masonry units, terra cotta, stucco, and wood siding are 
acceptable accent and secondary materials for the solid portion of new buildings or additions.  
 
Request:   We are requesting approval of the use of precast concrete wall panels and insulated 
metal panels are the primary building materials. 
 
Item 4a, v.  
Other materials may be allowed subject to Plan Commission approval.  
 
Request:  We are requesting approval of the use of precast concrete wall panels and insulated 
metal panels are the primary building materials.  The materials incorporated in the design are 
standard in the food processing industry. 
 
Item 4a, vi.  
Color choice shall complement the style and materials of the building’s facade and provide a 
pleasing relationship with adjoining buildings.  
 
Response:  See building renderings and elevations included in the submittal package. 
 
Item 4a, vii.  
Trash, service, and mechanical areas shall be entirely screened from view and located on the 
side or rear of properties.  
 
Response:  Loading docks and recycling docks along with mechanical equipment are screened 
from view using a combination of architectural screen walls and landscaping. 
 
Item 4a, viii.  
Roof mounted equipment shall be so located and/or screened to minimize visibility from 
adjacent streets and sites.  
 
Response:  All roof mounted equipment is located and screened as to not be readily visible 
from the street. 
 
Item 4a, ix.  
All visible sides of the building shall be designed with details that complement the front facade.  
Side facades that are visible from the public street shall receive equal design attention.  
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



8 

 

Response:  The façade uses insulated metal panel to compliment the primary office area 
façade.  There is diminishing level of detail provided at the south and west façade that are not 
readily visible from South 27th Street or West Oakwood Road. 
 
Item 4a, x.  
For each building more than 40,000 square feet in area, building massing that creates 
modulation and articulation is required.  
 
Response:  Proposed design complies with this intent.  See building renderings and elevations 
included in the submittal package 
 
Item 4a, xi.  
Commercial buildings shall have at least 60% of their ground floor front elevation with 
transparent windows. 
 
Request:  We are requesting an exception to this requirement be applied to the primary office 
façade on the North and East elevation have a combined 53.4% glazing along the façade.  There 
are no glazed openings in the warehouse and process area portions of the façade. 
 
Item 5 SIGNAGE STANDARDS 
All signs must be in accordance with the Municipal Code, as amended, approved by the Plan 
Commission, and be subject to issuance of a Sign Permit through the Inspection Department.  
On-site directional signage may be allowed in any area needed to control traffic or parking 
provided such signage has received approval from the Department of City Development. 
 
Response:  A single monument sign will be located at the northeast corner of the site.  In 
addition, traffic control signage will be located at the auto and truck entrance to control traffic 
flow within the site.  No building mounted signage is proposed. 
 
Item 6 Lighting Standards 
All exterior lighting shall be provided as set forth in Division 15-5.0400 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 
 
Response:  See point by point lighting plans included with the submittal for information related 
to this requirement.  
 
 
 
 
 
Village of Franklin Zoning, Chapter UDO, Part 3, Division 15-3.0350, Section 15-3.0351  
– South 27th Street Design Overlay District 
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



9 

 

SECTION 15-3.0351 SOUTH 27th STREET DESIGN OVERLAY DISTRICT 
Section does not apply to this development; Section 15-3.03051; section states intent of this 
division of the UDO. 
 
SECTION 15-3.0352 PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
A. Parking required and location regulated  
Not more than fifty (50) percent of the off-street parking spaces shall  
be located directly between the front façade of the building and the  
public street, unless additional buildings in the overall development are  
or will be located between the main building and the public street.   
Such additional buildings must be sufficient in size, location, and  
number to provide an effective visual break between the public street  
and the parking lot. 
 
Response: To provide for separation between automobile and truck traffic, all auto parking is 
directly between the North and East Façade and Oakwood Road and South 27th street.  The 
West and South side of the building is for loading docks, maintenance & utility, and additional 
service functions. A combination of ponds (stormwater), landscape plantings, and berms are 
incorporated into the site design to effectively screen the parking from the street. 
 
B. Number of parking spaces limited  
Parking lots in which the number of spaces significantly exceeds the  
minimum number of parking spaces required under Section 15-5.0203  
are not permitted. 
 
Request:  The number of parking spaces provided on the site plan indicate the requirements of 
the manufacturing and office functions which will be located on site.  Employee counts have 
been provided by owner for anticipated full employment at the facility.  The facility will be 
operated in 3 shifts with 200 plant employees per shift.  Additionally, 50 office staff will be 
present on first shift.  The parking lot has been designed to include adequate space for shift 
changes and office staff (200 + 200 + 50).  See parking calculations on the attached site plans. 
 

SECTION 15-3.0353 LANDSCAPE AND SITE DESIGN GENERAL STANDARDS 
 

A. Vision Clearance Necessary 
Landscaping and site amenities shall be provided to satisfy the requirements of this 
Division.  All site improvements shall be designed and undertaken in such a way that 
clear lite lines are maintained for the safety and convenience of all pedestrian and 
vehicular users. 

 
Response:  The site layout and landscaping maintain vision clearance/clear sight lines for 
safety and convenience of all pedestrian and vehicular users. 
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



10 

 

A. Coordination of site furnishing 
Lighting and site furnishings (benches, trash receptacles, bicycle racks,  
etc.) shall complement the character of the building and provide an attractive and 
strong relationship with adjoining properties and the public sidewalk.  

 
Response:  Furnishing will be coordinated with the character of the building.  Elements are 
located to control access to the site following common food safety practices for facilities of 
this nature. 
 
B. Pedestrian considerations  

1. New streets proposed as part of new developments shall provide “pedestrian 
friendly” streetscapes.  

Response: No new streets included with this development. 
 
2. Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe pedestrian access to the 

building entrance and to connect the site to adjacent streets and properties. 
Pedestrian walkways shall be designed with amenities such as special paving 
treatments (colored paver blocks or textured concrete), lighting (see lighting 
discussion below) and furnishings to create a pedestrian-friendly character.  

 
Response:  Walkways are provided within the parking area. 
 

3. The entire development shall provide for safe pedestrian and bicycle access to all 
uses within the development, connections to existing and planned public 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities, and connections to adjacent properties. 

 

Response:  Access path is provided at a single point off West Oakwood Road to main site 

security in line with common food safety approaches. 

 

4. Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any façade containing a 
public entrance, leaving room for foundation planting beds. 

 

Response:  Sidewalks are provided along the main facades of the facility. 

 

5. Pedestrian walkways shall be provided from all building entrances to existing or 
planned public sidewalks or pedestrian/bike facilities.  

 

Response:  Walkway provided from West Oakwood Road to facility. 

 

6. Internal pedestrian walkways shall be distinguished from driving surfaces.  
 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



11 

 

Response:  Walkways are identified within the parking areas. 

 

7. The building shall provide awnings or other weather protection features within 
thirty (30) feet of all customer entrances along a building. 

 

Response:  Awnings and canopies are provided at the primary entrance locations for the 

facility at the office and welfare area located in the northeast corner of the facility. 

 

C. Reducing the impact of vehicular use areas 
For properties such as gas stations – where vehicular circulation is dominant on the site 
– walkways, landscaping, architectural features and lighting shall be provided to make 
these areas more attractive and inviting.  Decorative fences, walls and/or landscaped 
edges shall screen front parking areas from the public sidewalk. Screening shall not 
exceed 3’6” in height.  
Response:  Section does not apply to this development. 
 

D. Bicycle and pedestrian amenities required  
The development shall provide secure, integrated bicycle parking and pedestrian 
furniture in appropriate quantities and location. 

 
Response:  The development provides bicycle parking, pedestrian furniture for the 
employees of the facility.  Public access and use of site will not be provided in line with 
the nature of the operation on site and following food safety approaches.  We request 
an exception from the requirements related to public amenities. 
 

E. Landscaping  
On-site landscaping shall be provided per the landscaping requirements found in Section 
15-5.0302.  In addition, the project shall provide:  
1. Extensive building foundation landscaping for all building frontages facing public 

streets, parking lots, or residential districts to provide visual breaks in the mass of 
the building.  Building foundation landscaping shall be placed so that, at maturity, 
the plant’s drip line is within ten (10) feet of the foundation.  Canopy/shade trees 
shall not be used to meet this requirement.  

 
Response:  Exception required as stated previously for food safety/sanitation/rodent 
reduction reasons. 
 
2. Screen fences and/or landscaped buffers at property edges, particularly where 

commercial and light industrial properties adjoin residential properties. 
 
Response:  Screening via landscape buffers will be provided for buffering as well as 
security reasons.  

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



12 

 

 
3. Off-street parking area landscaping as set forth in Section 15-5.0302. 
 
Response:  The referenced code section contains minimum standards for plant units per 
each ten (10) parking stalls (quantity, type/species, and size, and species distribution). 
Section also includes standards for bufferyards when the proposed development abuts 
or is across the street. Will are requesting an exception to parking lot landscaping 
locational standards for purposes of food safety/sanitation concerns and note enhanced 
perimeter landscaping proposed. 
 

F. Central Areas/Features  
Each development which contains a building over fifty thousand (50,000) square feet in 
area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a patio/seating area, pedestrian 
plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, water feature, and/or other such 
deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the development 
or community.  All such areas shall be openly accessible to the public, connected to the 
public and private sidewalk system, designed with materials compatible with the 
building and remainder of the site, and maintained over the life of the building and 
project.  

 
Response:  We are requesting an exception to this standard.  Amenities will be provided for 
employees but for site security and food safety reasons, these amenities will not be available to 
the public. 
 
SECTION 15-3.0354 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS FOR OFF-STREET PARKING AREAS 
 
Request:  We are requesting exception to several of the landscaping requirements listed below.  
Due the nature of the food processing operations at the facility we are proposing the 
landscaping as indicated on the attached plans.  Food safety concerns as outlined in the food 
modernization act strongly encourages that landscaping be limited to avoid pest and rodent 
habitat anywhere close to the facility.  To ensure the elimination habitat and harborage areas 
we are proposing all landscaping on the site be removed from the foundation of the building 
and that plants within the parking areas be as limited as possible.  The attached plans indicate 
the limits of landscaping desired by the owner based on their current operational needs for the 
site and facility. 
 

A. Required Trees for Parking Lot Perimeter and Interior 
Applications 

1. Shade or decorative trees are required within the vehicular use 
area at a ratio of one tree for every fifteen (15) parking spaces or 
fraction thereof, unless the Plan Commission grants an exception. 
The trees must be evenly distributed throughout the vehicular use 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



13 

 

area. 

2. Existing trees of desirable species and quality that can be 
preserved, where grading does not cut them off from a reasonable 
supply of water and where the area under the canopy remains 
undisturbed, shall count toward the tree requirements for off-
street parking areas on a tree-for-tree basis. 

3. Where a landscape border or other landscape area abuts the 
vehicular use area, shade or decorative trees within those 
landscaped areas may count toward the vehicular use area 
requirement, provided: 

a. The trees are located within ten (10) feet of the vehicular 
use area. 

b. The number of trees that are provided within the vehicular 
use area is not reduced by more than fifty (50) percent of 
the amount required; and 

c. There is a minimum of one tree provided within the 
vehicular use area. 

4. Trees shall be planted in such a way that they are protected from 
vehicle damage. 

B. Interior Landscaping for Off-street Parking Areas 

The interior parking lot landscaping standards of this section shall apply to 
all off-street parking lots and their vehicular use areas containing twenty 
(20) or more parking spaces. The intent of this section is to require 
landscaping within vehicular use areas; therefore, landscaping screens, 
planting strips and landscaping surrounding buildings shall not be 
considered as interior landscaping. Interior parking lot landscaping is 
required as follows: 

1. A minimum of twenty (20) square feet of interior landscaped island 
shall be provided per parking stall. 

2. The interior landscaping shall be provided within landscaped 
islands a minimum of 250 square feet in area. Landscaped islands 
shall be three (3) feet shorter than the depth of any adjacent space. 
A landscaped island 9 feet in width and 30 feet in length with 
rounded ends, placed alongside two parking stalls each 18 feet in 
depth placed end to end, would meet all dimensional requirements 
for landscaped islands, provided the dimensions are measured 
from the inside of any curbs. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



14 

 

3. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be placed so as to 
delineate driving lanes, define rows and generally mitigate the 
visual impact of the parking lot while maintaining clear site lines for 
safety purposes. 

4. Plants in landscaped islands shall be underlain by soil (not base 
course material), and shall be protected by curbing or other 
protective treatment. 

5. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be composed of a 
combination of hardy trees, shrubs, perennials, and groundcover 
that are able to tolerate winter salt and snow. Where islands are 
used as retention/infiltration areas for storm water management, 
they should be landscaped appropriately for that purpose. 
Decorative mulch and weed barriers may be utilized when shown 
on an approved landscape plan. 

6. Landscaped islands that function as storm water 
retention/infiltration areas shall be subject to the following: 

a. Landscaped islands shall be a minimum of fifteen (15) feet 
in width if used for this purpose. 

b. Parking areas will sheet drain into the landscaped islands 
through curb cuts or other apertures. 

c. Proposed plantings shall be tolerant of flood conditions. 

C. Screening for Off-street Parking Areas 

The perimeter parking lot screening standards of this section shall apply 
to all off-street parking areas for six (6) or more vehicles or larger than 
2,000 square feet in area. Off-street parking areas, including aisles and 
driveways, shall be effectively screened year round as follows: 

1. Perimeter planting areas shall be designed to maintain and protect 
visibility at driveways and access points. 

2. On-site perimeter greenbelts at least ten (10) feet in width shall be 
installed along any street side and along all interior lot lines when 
parking is located on that side of any building on the site. 

a. Street side greenbelts shall contain dense landscape 
screening which provides plantings at least eighteen (18) 
inches high at planting and thirty (30) inches high at 
maturity. Such greenbelts shall provide a semi-opaque 
screen at a minimum during the winter season. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



15 

 

b. Interior side lot line greenbelts for non-residential uses 
when adjacent to residential uses shall contain dense 
landscape screening which provides plantings at least thirty-
six (36) inches high at planting and forty-eight 
(48) inches high at maturity. Such greenbelts shall provide a 
semi-opaque screen at a minimum during the winter 
season. 

c. Other greenbelts not specifically described above shall 
contain a minimum of one tree or shrub for each fifteen 
(15) feet of perimeter to be planted in effective groupings 
within said strip. The remainder of the strip shall be planted 
in grass, ground cover or other effective landscape 
treatment. 

3. Berms may be utilized as part of the perimeter landscaping. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 15-3.0355 ARCHITECTURAL REQUIREMENTS 

A. Building Character and Design 
 
15-3.0355. A.1.  
Buildings located on prominent sites -- such as key intersections, corners, terminations of street 
vistas, and on high points – shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural design to serve 
as landmarks.  
 
Response:  The northeast corner of the facility is multi-story and is design as the focal point of 
the facility.  The production of areas have reduced architectural focus but have been design 
primarily based on food safety requirements. 
 
15-3.0355. A.2.  
All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as stone below 
wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use. 
 
Response:  Exterior materials are primarily insulated precast wall panels with varying surface 
textures and insulated metal wall panels appropriate for the nature of the facility. 
 
15-3.0355. A.3.  

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



16 

 

Brick, stone and terra-cotta are preferred primary materials for new buildings or additions.  
 
Response:  Please reference response to PDD 39 - Item 4a -iii above. 
 
15-3.0355. A.4.  
The use of false brick or other “faux” sidings is discouraged.  
 
Response:  No false brick or faux siding is used on the building façade. 
 
15-3.0355. A.5.  
Color choice shall complement the style and materials of the building’s facade and provide a 
pleasing relationship with adjoining buildings.  
 
Response:  The color selection is consistent with other buildings in the district and promotes 
the corporate colors of the owner. 
 
15-3.0355. A.6.  
Painting of brick and stone is discouraged.  
 
Response:  The precast concrete elements and masonry accents at walkways utilized pigmented 
systems which do not require painting. 
 
15-3.0355. A.7.  
Trash, service, and mechanical areas shall be entirely screened from view and located on the 
side or rear of properties.  
 
Response:  Loading docks and recycling docks along with mechanical equipment are screened 
from view using a combination of architectural screen walls and landscaping. 
 
15-3.0355. A.8.  
All visible sides of the building shall be designed with details that complement the front facade.  
Side facades that are visible from the public street shall receive equal design attention.  
 
Response:  Please reference response to PDD 39 - Item 4a -ix above. 
 
15-3.0355. A.9.  
Building massing that creates modulation and articulation is encouraged.  
 
Response:  Proposed design complies with this intent.  See building renderings and elevations 
included in the submittal package 
 
15-3.0355. A.10.  
Multi-story buildings that allow for a mix of retail, office or residential uses are preferred. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



17 

 

 
Request: The building is designed to be occupied by a single user for the purposes of food 
processing, storage, and shipping.  Office functions within the building are in direct support of 
the food processing operations.  The development will not include any retail, tenant office 
spaces, or residential uses. 
 

B. Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [20,000 Square Feet or less in Area] 
Section B does not apply to this development as the building is greater than 20.000 s.f. in area. 
 
C. Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [Greater than 20,000 Square Feet in Area] 
 
15-3.0355. C.1. Purpose and Intent  
The design standards for buildings greater than 20,000 square feet are intended to ensure that 
large buildings, and the sites they occupy, are properly located and compatible with the 
surrounding area and community character of the South 27th Street Design Overlay District. 
Such projects shall also be subject to the more general standards for the approval of Special 
Use Permits or PUD Districts when applicable.  
 
The following requirements are applicable to all new buildings in excess of twenty thousand 
(20,000) gross square feet. These requirements are also applicable when additions to non-
residential and mixed-use buildings built either before or after the effective date of this 
Division, bring the total building size to over twenty thousand (20,000) gross square feet. 
 
Response:  None 
 
15-3.0355. C.2. Waiver of Standards  
The Plan Commission may waive any of the following standards by a ¾ vote of members in 
attendance, but only if supplemental design elements or improvements are incorporated into 
the project (over and above those which are otherwise required) which compensate for the 
waiver of the particular standard.  In support of the waiver request, the applicant shall detail 
such supplemental design elements in written and graphical form and provide an explanation 
as to the nature of the standards for which the waiver is requested.  
 
Response:  There are several standards as stated throughout this document that the proposed 
development is seeking adjust or waiver of for the reasons stated.  The design and layout of the 
facility and site have been completed to ensure food safety as the paramount concern while 
making the site and facility attractive and prominent given the site location.  If addition 
elements or information is required by the plan commission specifically to any of the request 
made in this application package, please let us know.  
 
15-3.0355. C.3. Compatibility with City Plans  
The applicant shall provide, through a written report submitted with the petition for a Site Plan 
adequate evidence that the proposed building and overall development project shall be 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



18 

 

compatible with the City's community character, urban design, natural area preservation, 
commercial development, redevelopment, or community facility objectives as expressed in 
adopted elements of the City's Comprehensive Master Plan.  
 
Response:  Preliminary review discussions with the Mayor, Alderwoman, Economic 
Development and Planning representatives have stated that the proposed development is very 
compatible with the City plans.  No written report is being submitted. 
 
15-3.0355. C.4. Building Materials   
Building materials shall be unified throughout the building, and shall complement other 
buildings in the vicinity. Exterior building materials shall be of high and comparable aesthetic 
quality on all sides. Building materials such as glass, brick, decorative concrete block, or stucco 
shall be used.  Decorative architectural metal with concealed fasteners may be approved if 
sensitively incorporated into the overall design of the building. 
 
Response:  The building materials are noted on the included renderings and elevations.  The 
design and selection of building materials has been done to achieve a well balanced and unified 
appearance to all facades of the facility. 
 
 
15-3.0355. C.5. Building Design  
The building exterior shall be unified in design throughout the structure and shall complement 
other buildings in the vicinity.  The building shall employ varying building setbacks, height, roof 
treatments, door and window openings, and other structural and decorative elements to 
reduce apparent size and scale.  A minimum of twenty (20) percent of all of the combined 
façades of the structure shall employ actual façade protrusions or recesses.  A minimum of 
twenty (20) percent of all of the combined linear roof eave or parapet lines of the structure 
shall employ differences in height, with such differences being six (6) feet or more as measured 
eave to eave or parapet to parapet for buildings over fifty thousand (50,000) square feet.  Roofs 
with particular slopes may be required by the City to complement existing buildings or 
otherwise establish a particular aesthetic objective.  Ground floor facades that face and are on 
properties that are in any part within one hundred (100) feet of public streets shall have 
arcades, display windows, entry areas, awnings, or other such features along no less than fifty 
(50) percent of their horizontal length. The integration of windows into building design is 
strongly encouraged.  
 
Response: We request relief from portions of the above design requirement based on the 
percentages and elements described here.  Due to the nature of the operation proposed at this 
facility, the production of consumer food products, large segments of the facades cannot be 
provided with windows and decorative elements.  The building envelope is critical to the 
internal operations of the facility and for food safety reasons limiting openings in that envelope 
is critical. 
East Façade:   

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



19 

 

The East façade provides façade articulation that consists of various wall panel 
recesses/projections, parapet height changes, and a stone pier arcade.  East façade 
recess/projection area is approximately 50% of the overall East façade.  A stone pier 
arcade with covered walkway is shown along approximately 8% of the overall East 
facade.  The proposed design also provides varying parapet heights of 5’-0” at the 
entrance area, and 5’-6” at the screening walls.  The varied parapet heights occur over 
approximately 29% of the overall East façade. 

North Façade: 
The North façade provides façade articulation that consists of various wall panel 
recesses/projections, parapet height changes, and a stone pier arcade.  North façade 
recess/projection area is approximately 30% of the overall North façade. A stone pier 
arcade with covered walkway is shown along approximately 11.1% of the overall North 
facade.  And the Employee courtyard is shown along approximately 9.5% of the North 
façade.  The proposed design also provides varying parapet heights of 5’-0” at the 
entrance area, 5’-0” from the office to production area, and down 10’-6” at the 
screening walls.  The varied parapet heights occur over approximately 30.5% of the 
overall North façade. 

 
15-3.0353. C.6. Building Entrances  
Public building entryways shall be clearly defined and highly visible on the building’s exterior 
design, and shall be emphasized by on-site traffic flow patterns.  Two (2) or more of the 
following design features shall be incorporated into all public building entryways: canopies or 
porticos, overhangs, projections, arcades, peaked roof forms, arches, outdoor patios, display 
windows, distinct architectural details. Unless exempted by the Plan Commission, all sides of 
the building that directly face or abut a public street or public parking area shall have at least 
one public entrance, except that the City shall not require building entrances on more than two 
(2) sides of any building.  
 
Response:  The building consists of a single public access into the main lobby on the North 
façade.  Further façade articulation in the form of canopies and external employee areas occur 
on the East façade to create a public appearance along South 27th Street.  The building will have 
controlled access at all points of entry. 
 
15-3.0353. C.7. Building Color  
Building façade colors shall be non-reflective, subtle, neutral, or earth tone.  The use of high 
intensity colors, metallic colors, black, or fluorescent colors on façades shall be prohibited.  
Building trim and architectural accent elements may feature brighter colors, but such colors 
shall be muted, not metallic, not fluorescent, and not specific to particular uses or tenants.  
Standard corporate and trademark colors shall be permitted only on sign face and copy areas. 
 
Request: None 
 
15-3.0353. C.8. Building Location  

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



20 

 

Modest building setbacks are encouraged.  Where buildings are proposed to be distant from a 
public street, the overall development design shall include smaller buildings on pads or outlots 
closer to the street. 
 
Request:  This project is a single development to be occupied by a single end user for the 
converting of consumer food products.  Building setbacks are large to provide segregation 
between employee auto traffic and operational truck traffic by placement of parking areas 
between West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street and the building.  No outlots are proposed.  
 
15-3.0353. C.9. Screening  
Mechanical equipment, refuse containers and any permitted outdoor storage shall be fully 
concealed from on-site and off-site ground level views, with materials identical to those used 
on the building exterior.  Loading docks shall be completely screened from surrounding roads 
and properties.  Said screening may be accomplished through loading areas internal to 
buildings, screen walls which match the building exterior in materials and design, fully opaque 
landscaping at time of planting, or combinations of the above.  Gates and fencing may be used 
for security and access, but not for screening, and shall be of high aesthetic quality.  
 
Response:  Loading docks and recycling docks along with mechanical equipment are screened 
from view using a combination of architectural screen walls and landscaping. 
 
15-3.0353. C.10. Traffic Impact  
All projects that include buildings over twenty thousand (20,000) square feet shall have direct 
access to an arterial or collector street, or shall dedicate public roads which have direct access 
to a public street.  Vehicle access shall be designed to accommodate peak on-site traffic 
volumes without disrupting traffic on public streets or impairing pedestrian safety.  This shall be 
accomplished through adequate parking lot design and capacity; access drive entry throat 
length, width, design, location, and number; and traffic control devices; and sidewalks.  The site 
design shall provide direct connections to adjacent land uses if required by the City.  Prior to 
development approval, the applicant’s traffic engineer shall complete and present a traffic 
impact analysis following Wisconsin Department of Transportation guidelines.  Where the 
project will cause off-site public roads, intersections, or interchanges to function below level of 
service C, as defined by the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the City may deny the 
application, require a size reduction in the proposed development, or require that the 
developer construct and/or pay for required off-site improvements.  
 
Response:  TIA was previously completed, and site plan has been provided to the traffic 
engineer for review and consultation with WisDOT.  Proposed development will have access to 
West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street. 
 
15-3.0353. C.11. Natural Resources Protection  
Existing natural features shall be integrated into the site design as a site and community 
amenity. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



21 

 

 
Response:  Site design shall follow all requirements stated in the Natural Resources Protection 
Plan.  Non-exempt wetlands will not be distributed with this development.  Working with the 
DNR wetlands (drainage ditches along South 27th Street) will be modified as part of the 
stormwater management for the overall site.  These wetlands are eligible for exemption as 
artificial wetlands. 
 
15-3.0353. C.12. Signage  
The plan for exterior signage shall provide for modest, coordinated, and complimentary 
exterior sign locations, configurations, and colors throughout the development.  All 
freestanding signage within the development shall compliment on-building signage.  
Monument style ground signs are strongly preferred over pole signs, and consolidated signs for 
multiple users are strongly preferred over multiple individual signs.  The City may require the 
use of muted corporate colors on signage if proposed colors are not compatible with the City’s 
design objectives for the area. 
 
Response:  A monument sign will be located at the northeast corner of the site.  In addition, 
traffic control signage will be located at the auto and truck entrance to control traffic flow 
within the site.  No building signage is proposed. 

tanyab
Excel Letterhead Page 2



 1 

 
December 23, 2021 

      

City of Franklin 

Attn: Heath Eddy 
Department of City Development 
9229 W Loomis Road 
Franklin, WI 53132 
 

Re: Special Use and Site Plan Review Staff Comments 
 

Dear Mr. Eddy, 

This letter is in response to emailed comments received on December 14, 2021 regarding the site plan and 
special use submittal reviews for the proposed Saputo Cheese USA development located at the SW Corner of 
West Oakwood Road and South 27th Street. 

Department of City Development 

1. Natural Resource Protection Plan. Staff is still awaiting the required Natural Resource 
Protection Plan as required under UDO Division 15-7.0200 and based on the requirements of 
Division 15.4.0100.  
Excel Response: The NRPP has been submitted since receipt of these comments. 

2. Parking Reduction Request Noted. Staff will note for the public hearing coming up that the 
applicant is requesting a reduction from the required 621 parking spaces to 459 parking spaces, 
a 26.1% reduction request. Normally, such requests are subject to UDO section 15-5.0203B 
which permits a reduction of up to 25 percent below the minimum required. However, in this 
case Section 15-3.03452C.2 (see below) is how this request will need to be processed. 
Excel Response:  Noted. 

3. Landscaping Additional Requirements. Staff notes the following in addition to the 
requirements included in the PDD-39 Design Standards and South 27 th Street Design Overlay 
District: 

a) As the east lot line is “adjacent” or across from institutional and residential uses (on the 
Oak Creek side of South 27 th Street) as well as the residential unit on the southeast 
corner, per UDO Section 15-5.0302C. the normal landscaping requirements are 
increased by 20 percent. In this case, the normal requirement is 46 each of 
canopy/shade trees, evergreen trees, decorative trees, and shrubs, but with the 
increase each required element would be 55.  
Excel Response:  Additional landscaping has been added to meet the requirement.  

b) Also note: UDO Section 15-5.0302F requires at least 4 different species of each type of 
landscape material, with a minimum of 10 plants for each species. Also, no more than 
35 percent of each material can be any one plant species.  
Excel Response:  Additional landscaping has been added to meet the requirement. 

c) Staff will recommend that soil substrate is sufficient for landscaping installation along 
with the required irrigation as specified in UDO Section 15-5.0303. 



 2 

Excel Response:  Topsoil specification is included on Sheet C0.1 within section 32 30 00.  
The specification conforms with/exceeds WISDOT standards for thickness and organics.  

d) Finally, please check to make sure no trees (shade, decorative or evergreen) are located 
within 10 feet of any water, sewer, or storm sewer pipeline. I noted a few such items 
along the South 27th Street berms, specifically along the storm sewer line running to the 
roadside swale. 
Excel Response:  Plantings have been adjusted to stay away from the storm line.  

4. PDD 39 Design Standards. PDD 39 includes a specific set of design requirements in Section 15-
3.0444A.D. (Gateway Area Design Standards) in addition to those contained in UDO §§15-
5.0200 (Parking); 15-5.0300 (Required Landscaping); 15-5.0400 (Lighting Standards); and the 
requirements of the Sign Code (Municipal Code Chapter 210) . Staff notes several 
waivers/modifications requested below, which are identified (bold/italics) along with staff’s 
review comments. Staff recommendations for proposed revisions are in bold/italics/underline.  

1.  PARKING STANDARDS  

Off-street parking, loading, and unloading shall be provided as set forth in Division 15-5.0200 
of the Unified Development Ordinance. The following additional standards also apply:  

a.  Parking required and location regulated. Not more than fifty (50) percent of the off-
street parking spaces shall be located directly between the front façade of the building 
and the public street, unless additional buildings in the overall development are or will 
be located between the main building and the public street, and/or additional enhanced 
landscaping or decorative fencing is used to screen such parking. Such additional 
buildings and/or landscaping or fencing must be sufficient in size, location, and number 
to provide an effective visual break between the public street and the parking lot.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 

Staff Comment: This waiver request is logical given the limitations required for food safety. Staff 
supports with proviso that landscaping fronting South 27th Street and Oakwood Road is designed to 
mitigate the viewshed into the site.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 

2.  GENERAL SITE DESIGN STANDARDS  

The following additional site furnishings and bicycle and pedestrian amenities standards apply:  

a.  Site furnishings required and coordination regulated.  Lighting and site furnishings 
(benches, trash receptacles, bicycle racks, etc.) shall complement the character of the 
building, and provide an attractive and strong relationship with adjoining properties and 
the public sidewalk.  

b.  Bicycle and pedestrian amenities required  

i.  New streets proposed as part of new developments shall provide “bicycle and 
pedestrian friendly” streetscapes.  

ii.  Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe pedestrian access to the 
building entrance and to connect the site to adjacent streets and properties. 
Pedestrian walkways shall be designed with amenities such as special paving 
treatments (colored paver blocks or textured concrete), lighting (see lighting 
discussion below) and furnishings to create a pedestrian-friendly character.  
 



 3 

iii.  Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any façade containing a public 
entrance, leaving room for foundation planting beds, and shall connect to existing or 
planned public sidewalks or pedestrian/bike facilities.  

Staff Comments: Staff understands the applicants’ rationale; 2.a. is intended for a facility with a public 
interface and this will be a private facility (employees only). Making sure the employee experience is 
supported while also promoting food safety is proposed. The applicant is proposing a single proposed 
walkway from Oakwood Road sidewalk. This is a minimum necessary, and the location makes the 
travel distance over 600 feet from Oakwood Road to the employee entrance. It would be more 
desirable to locate the proposed walkway closer to the Oakwood/27th Street intersection. Finally, the 
request to modify 2.b.iii to limit sidewalks along the facades is also acceptable.  
Excel Response:  The proposed sidewalk access connecting to the Oakwood sidewalk has been 
moved closer to the intersection. 

3.  LANDSCAPE STANDARDS  

Landscaping shall be provided as set forth in Division 15-5.0300 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. The following additional standards also apply:  

a.  Landscaping required and location regulated  

i.  Each development which contains a building over forty-thousand (40,000) square 
feet in areas hall provide extensive building foundation landscaping for all building 
frontages facing public streets or parking lots to provide visual breaks in the mass of 
the building.  

b.  Central Areas/Features required. Each development which contains a building over forty-
thousand (40,000) square feet in area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a 
patio/seating area, pedestrian plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, water 
feature, and/or other such deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately 
enhance the development or community. All such areas shall be openly accessible to the 
public, connected to the public and private sidewalk system, designed with materials 
compatible with the building and remainder of the site, and maintained over the life of 
the building and project.  

Staff Comments: The waiver request for foundation planting based on food safety and potential 
harboring of animals is understandable. Staff recommends making sure the viewshed along Oakwood 
Road and South 27th Street is enhanced to compensate for minimal landscaping near the building, 
particularly the area southwest of the proposed monument sign, which is currently proposed as 
maintained lawn.  
Excel Response:  The viewsheds from 27th Street and Oakwood have been heavily landscaped 
with berms, plantings, and the site stormwater ponds.  The viewshed from the intersection has 
been kept relatively free of plantings to allow the northeast corner of the building to be seen 
as an architectural accent of the building. 

In regards to 3.b. waiver request: the lack of public accessibility is a requirement for food safety; 
therefore, staff supports this with the caveat that the employee courtyard is suitable as an environment 
for staff breaks outdoors.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 

4.  ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS  

The following additional building character and design standards apply:  

a.  Building Character and Design regulated  



 4 

i.  All principal buildings shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural design. 
Corner buildings shall also serve as landmarks with distinctive architectural 
character, including such features as towers, rounded walls, recessed entries, or 
other unique features.  

ii.  All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as 
stone below wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use.  

iii.  Brick and stone are preferred primary materials for the solid (non-window) portion 
of new buildings or additions.  

iv.  Precast concrete, cast stone, concrete masonry units, terra cotta, stucco, and wood 
siding are acceptable accent and secondary materials for the solid portion of new 
buildings or additions.  

v.  Other materials may be allowed subject to Plan Commission approval.  

vi.  Color choice shall complement the style and materials of the building’s facade and 
provide a pleasing relationship with adjoining buildings.  

vii. Trash, service, and mechanical areas shall be entirely screened from view and located 
on the side or rear of properties.  

viii. Roof mounted equipment shall be so located and/or screened to minimize visibility 
from adjacent streets and sites. 

ix.  All visible sides of the building shall be designed with details that complement the 
front facade. Side facades that are visible from the public street shall receive equal 
design attention.  

x.  For each building more than 40,000 square feet in area, building massing that creates 
modulation and articulation is required.  

xi.  Commercial buildings shall have at least 60% of their ground floor front elevation 
with transparent windows.  
 

Staff Comments: The applicant requests modifications rather than waivers, in lieu of what is presented. 
Staff supports these requests, given that the proposed facility and use are (1) private and industrial in 
character rather than a public/consumer-oriented facility; (2) consistent with similar kinds of facilities 
previously reviewed/approved/constructed in the City and region; (3) materials and arrangement are 
logical and reasonable. In addition, Standard 4.a.xi. is not appropriate for the processing/industrial 
portion of the facility, but including something similar to this standard for the office portion of the 
facility is appropriate. 
Excel Response:  Noted. 
 

5.  SIGNAGE STANDARDS  

All signs must be in accordance with the Municipal Code, as amended, approved by the Plan 
Commission, and be subject to issuance of a Sign Permit through the Inspection Department. 
On-site directional signage may be allowed in any area needed to control traffic or parking 
provided such signage has received approval from the Department of City Development.  

Staff Comment: Sign review will be completed with a Sign Permit Application. What the applicant has 
provided in consistent with this type of facility. Staff recommends that Plan Commission defer review 
and approval for the sign permit and any directional or other signage to City Development staff. Note: 



 5 

the sign requirements of Chapter 210 are not waivable by the Plan Commission.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 

6.  LIGHTING STANDARDS  

All exterior lighting shall be provided as set forth in Division 15-5.0400 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance.  

Staff Comment: Staff notes that the submitted materials are consistent with the requirements of 
Division 15-5.0400. Those requirements are not waivable by the Plan Commission.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 
 

7.  SUPPLEMENTAL DESIGN GUIDELINES (see Comment #5 below) 

5. South 27th Street Design Overlay District Requirements. PDD 39 requires compliance with the 
South 27th Street Design Overlay District standards. Staff notes several waivers/modifications 
requested below, which are identified (bold/italics) along with staff’s review comments. Staff 
recommendations for proposed revisions are in bold/italics/ underline.  
15-3.352 Parking Requirements. 

A. Parking required and Location Regulated. Not more than 50% of the off-street parking spaces 
shall be located directly between the front facade of the building and the public street, unless 
additional buildings in the overall development are or will be located between the main building 
and the public street. Such additional buildings must be sufficient in size, location, and number to 
provide an effective visual break between the public street and the parking lot.  

Staff Comment: This request is logical given the limitations required for food safety. Staff supports with 
proviso that landscaping fronting South 27th Street and Oakwood Road is designed to mitigate the 
viewshed into the site.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 
 

B. Number of Parking Spaces Limited. Parking lots in which the number of spaces significantly 
exceeds the minimum number of parking spaces required under §15-5.0203 are not permitted.  

Staff Comment: The applicant’s proposed parking makes sense based on the operational expectation of 
the use (three shifts of 200 each plus 59 extra for office staff and shift changes).  
Excel Response:  Noted. 
 

C. Potential Parking Reductions. 

1. Shared Parking. The Plan Commission may authorize as much as a 40% reduction in the area to 
be paved for non-residential off-street parking stalls when parking is shared by two or more 
uses provided: 

a. The reduction does not exceed 40% of the required parking.  

b. The uses that are sharing parking have peak parking demand at different times.  

c. Pedestrian sidewalks or paths are provided as safe connections between any uses sharing 
the parking area.  

d. A shared parking agreement, signed by all parties, is approved by the City Council, 
following receipt of Plan Commission recommendations. The agreement shall state a 
minimum time frame for the agreement to be in effect; provide for ingress/egress 
easements; and be recorded with the County as a covenant.  



 6 

2. Other Requested Parking Reductions. If a parking reduction is requested for any reason other 
than shared parking, or a parking reduction beyond 40% is requested for shared parking 
arrangements, technical documentation shall be furnished by the applicant during the site plan 
review process to indicate, to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission, that actual off-street 
parking demand for that particular use is less than the required amount or that sufficient on-
street parking is available in the area.  

Staff Comment: Subsection 2 above is how the applicant’s requested reduction in required parking will 
need to be approved.  
Excel Response:  Noted. 
 

C. Land-Banking of Reserved Parking Area. When a parking reduction has been authorized, the Plan 
Commission may require that sufficient area on the property be held in reserve for the potential 
future development of paved off-street parking to meet the full requirements. When required, this 
reserve off-street parking area shall be shown and noted on the site plan, maintained as open 
space, and developed with paved off-street parking spaces when the City determines that such off-
street parking is necessary due to parking demand on the property which exceeds original 
expectations. The reserve parking area may not be counted as part of any required green space 
area, nor may it be used as the location of landscaping that is required under § 15-5.0302. The City 
may require that a letter of credit or other approved financial surety be provided at the time of 
permit issuance in an amount not to exceed 125% of the estimated cost of parking lot completion, 
to be exercised at City discretion, should the need for parking lot completion be determined.  
 

Staff Comment: The applicant is proposing no land banking of reserved parking for this project. 
 

15-3.0353 Landscape and Site Design General Standards. 

A. Vision Clearance Necessary. Landscaping and site amenities shall be provided to satisfy the 
requirements of this Division. All site improvements shall be designed and undertaken in such a 
way that clear sight lines are maintained for the safety and convenience of all pedestrian and 
vehicular users.  
 

Staff Comment: There appear to be no conflicts between proposed landscaping locations and sight lines 
on-site or with respect to current and future rights-of-way.   
 

A. Coordination of Site Furnishings. Lighting and site furnishings (benches, trash receptacles, bicycle 
racks, etc.) shall complement the character of the building, and provide an attractive and strong 
relationship with adjoining properties and the public sidewalk.  
 

Staff Comment: As per above, the applicant’s request to modify this requirement for on-site employee 
support is logical. 

B. Pedestrian Considerations. 

1. New streets proposed as part of new developments shall provide "pedestrian friendly" 
streetscapes.  

2. Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe pedestrian access to the building 
entrance and to connect the site to adjacent streets and properties. Pedestrian walkways 
shall be designed with amenities such as special paving treatments (colored paver blocks or 



 7 

textured concrete), lighting (see lighting discussion below) and furnishings to create a 
pedestrian-friendly character. 

3. The entire development shall provide for safe pedestrian and bicycle access to all uses within 
the development, connections to existing and planned public pedestrian and bicycle facilities, 
and connections to adjacent properties.  

4. Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any facade containing a public 
entrance, leaving room for foundation planting beds.  

5. Pedestrian walkways shall be provided from all building entrances to existing or planned 
public sidewalks or pedestrian/bike facilities.  

6. Internal pedestrian walkways shall be distinguished from driving surfaces.  

7. The building shall provide awnings or other weather protection features within 30 feet of all 
customer entrances along a building.  

Staff Comments: The request to modify #2 is consistent with an earlier request above. Same with #3. 
Same with #4. The request for #5 is similar to #2 and #3. Staff notes that there will be a requirement to 
place sidewalk along South 27th Street. However, staff does not expect to require the applicant to 
connect a walkway with that street sidewalk.  Staff notes also that there is no sidewalk proposed 
along South 27th Street, and the City standard is to require such along each frontage. 
Excel Response:  South 27th street is currently a rural section type road with ditches, and 
without curb/gutter and storm sewer.  WisDOT would need to upgrade the road to an urban 
section in order to allow for sidewalk installation.  Additionally, no sidewalk ex ists along South 
27th Street in the near vicinity of the site. 
 

c. Reducing the Impact of Vehicular Use Areas. For properties such as gas stations — where vehicular 
circulation is dominant on the site — walkways, landscaping, architectural features and lighting 
shall be provided to make these areas more attractive and inviting. Decorative fences, walls and/or 
landscaped edges shall screen front parking areas from the public sidewalk. Screening shall not 
exceed three feet six inches in height.  

Staff Comment: This standard doesn’t apply to this proposed facility.  
 

D. Bicycle and Pedestrian Amenities Required. The development shall provide secure, integrated 
bicycle parking and pedestrian furniture in appropriate quantities and location.  

Staff Comment: The applicant’s waiver request relates to the “public” provision of such facilities. The 
applicant proposes such amenities for employees.  
 

E. Landscaping. On-site landscaping shall be provided per the landscaping requirements found in 
§ 15-5.0302. In addition, the project shall provide: 

1. Extensive building foundation landscaping for all building frontages facing public streets, 
parking lots, or residential districts to provide visual breaks in the mass of the building. 
Building foundation landscaping shall be placed so that, at maturity, the plant's drip line is 
within 10 feet of the foundation. Canopy/shade trees shall not be used to meet this 
requirement.  

2. Screen fences and/or landscaped buffers at property edges, particularly where commercial 
and light industrial properties adjoin residential properties.  

3. Off-street parking area landscaping as set forth in §15-5.0302.  



 8 

 

Staff Comments: The applicant’s waiver requests above are logical and consistent with the desire to 
design for food safety and prevent the harboring of pests. Staff anticipates the applicant will 
supplement the borders along Oakwood Road and South 27th Street, and also recommends the 
applicant provide some kind of bufferyard adjacent to the existing residence southeast of the site. 
Excel Response:  A substantial bufferyard has been provided adjacent to the southeast 
residence. 
 

F. Central Areas/Features. Each development which contains a building over 50,000 square feet in 
area shall provide central area(s) or feature(s) such as a patio/seating area, pedestrian plaza 
with benches, outdoor playground area, water feature, and/or other such deliberately 
designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the development or community. All 
such areas shall be openly accessible to the public, connected to the public and private sidewalk 
system, designed with materials compatible with the building and remainder of the site, and 
maintained over the life of the building and project.  

Staff Comment: This waiver request is consistent with the one provided earlier. Staff supports the 
applicant’s alternative design. 
 

G. Cart Returns. A minimum of one 200 square foot cart return area shall be provided for everyone 
100 parking spaces for any establishment utilizing carts. Cart corrals shall be of durable, all season 
construction, and shall be designed and colored to be compatible with the building and parking lot 
light standards. Exterior cart return or cart storage areas shall be situated for the safety and 
convenience of users, however no such facilities shall be located within 25 feet of the building.  

Staff Comment: Not applicable for this project. 

15-3.0354 Landscaping Requirements for Off-Street Parking Areas. 

A. Parking Lot Landscaping Required. Interior and perimeter buffer landscaping is required for all 
off-street parking lots and their associated vehicular use areas, with the exception of those infill 
and redevelopment projects that have been granted an exception by the Plan Commission. These 
regulations stipulate the design and placement of such plantings. The actual number of plant 
units utilized in such plantings may be counted toward the total number of plant units required 
on-site as determined under § 15-5.0302.  

Staff Comments: Staff understands the applicant’s request. The plan shows that there is interior 
landscaping provided in the parking area, but these are primarily perennial plants with some 
decorative trees within the parking islands around the office portion of the building. The applicant is 
proposing to provide berms along the streetscapes in lieu of locating around the perimeter of the 
parking area especially adjacent the industrial portion of the building. Staff has no issues with this, 
again with the expectation the streetscapes account for the additional required elements in UDO 
Section 15-5.0302.  
 

B. Required Trees for Parking Lot Perimeter and Interior Applications. 

1. Shade or decorative trees are required within the vehicular use area at a ratio of one tree for 
every 15 parking spaces or fraction thereof, unless the Plan Commission grants an exception. 
The trees must be evenly distributed throughout the vehicular use area.  

2. Existing trees of desirable species and quality that can be preserved, where grading does not 
cut them off from a reasonable supply of water and where the area under the canopy 



 9 

remains undisturbed, shall count toward the tree requirements for off-street parking areas 
on a tree-for-tree basis.  

3. Where a landscape border or other landscape area abuts the vehicular use area, shade or 
decorative trees within those landscaped areas may count toward the vehicular use area 
requirement, provided: 

a. The trees are located within 10 feet of the vehicular use area.  

b. The number of trees that are provided within the vehicular use area is not reduced by 
more than 50% of the amount required; and  

c. There is a minimum of one tree provided within the vehicular use area.  

4. Trees shall be planted in such a way that they are protected from vehicle damage.  

Staff Comments: The applicant requests a waiver to these requirements. The plan shows a total of 12 
decorative trees located within the parking lot interior; B.1. above would require 31 within 10 feet of 
the parking lot perimeter. There are no areas where bufferyard plantings would substitute for these 
requirements.  

C. Interior Landscaping for Off-street Parking Areas. The interior parking lot landscaping standards 
of this section shall apply to all off-street parking lots and their vehicular use areas containing 20 
or more parking spaces. The intent of this section is to require landscaping within vehicular use 
areas; therefore, landscaping screens, planting strips and landscaping surrounding buildings 
shall not be considered as interior landscaping. Interior parking lot landscaping is required as 
follows: 

1. A minimum of 20 square feet of interior landscaped island shall be provided per parking stall.  

2. The interior landscaping shall be provided within landscaped islands a minimum of 250 
square feet in area. Landscaped islands shall be three feet shorter than the depth of any 
adjacent space. A landscaped island nine feet in width and 30 feet in length with rounded 
ends, placed alongside two parking stalls each 18 feet in depth placed end to end, would 
meet all dimensional requirements for landscaped islands, provided the dimensions are 
measured from the inside of any curbs.  

3. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be placed so as to delineate driving lanes, define 
rows and generally mitigate the visual impact of the parking lot while maintaining clear site 
lines for safety purposes.  

4. Plants in landscaped islands shall be underlain by soil (not base course material), and shall 
be protected by curbing or other protective treatment.  

5. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be composed of a combination of hardy trees, 
shrubs, perennials, and groundcover that are able to tolerate winter salt and snow. Where 
islands are used as retention/infiltration areas for storm water management, they should be 
landscaped appropriately for that purpose. Decorative mulch and weed barriers may be 
utilized when shown on an approved landscape plan.  

6. Landscaped islands that function as storm water retention/infiltration areas shall be subject 
to the following: 

a. Landscaped islands shall be a minimum of 15 feet in width if used for this purpose.  

b. Parking areas will sheet drain into the landscaped islands through curb cuts or other 
apertures.  

c. Proposed plantings shall be tolerant of flood conditions.  



 10 

Staff Comments: The applicant proposes the following 

• A total of approximately 6,000 square feet of parking islands (9,180 square feet required 
under C.1. above); 

• Parking islands that are generally close to 400 square feet each rather than the 350-270 
square feet is provided in C.2. above; 

• Each parking island is bordered by concrete curbing; several of the islands in the parking lot 
have decorative trees which should aid in delineating them visually for incoming motor 
vehicles. 

a) The applicant would need to stipulate to C.4 regarding soil. 
Excel Response:  Topsoil specification is included on Sheet C0.1 within section 32 30 00.  
The specification conforms with/exceeds WISDOT standards for thickness and organics.  
Additionally, the landscape installation details found on C1.4A-D include provisions for 
subgrade work at planting areas 
 

• The applicant’s proposal reduces the variety of plant materials to decorative trees and 
perennial plantings in lieu of the variety required in C.5. above. 

• Total interior parking landscaping is 22 decorative trees and 58 perennial plants within the 
landscaped islands (including the 10 decorative trees along the vehicular access drive from 
Oakwood Road).    

D. Screening for Off-street Parking Areas. The perimeter parking lot screening standards of this 
section shall apply to all off-street parking areas for six or more vehicles or larger than 2,000 
square feet in area. Off-street parking areas, including aisles and driveways, shall be effectively 
screened year-round as follows: 

1. Perimeter planting areas shall be designed to maintain and protect visibility at driveways 
and access points.  

2. On-site perimeter greenbelts at least 10 feet in width shall be installed along any street side 
and along all interior lot lines when parking is located on that side of any building on the 
site. 

a. Street side greenbelts shall contain dense landscape screening which provides plantings 
at least 18 inches high at planting and 30 inches high at maturity. Such greenbelts shall 
provide a semi-opaque screen at a minimum during the winter season,  

b. Interior side lot line greenbelts for non-residential uses when adjacent to residential uses 
shall contain dense landscape screening which provides plantings at least 36 inches high 
at planting and 48 inches high at maturity. Such greenbelts shall provide a semi-opaque 
screen at a minimum during the winter season.  

c. Other greenbelts not specifically described above shall contain a minimum of one tree or 
shrub for each 15 feet of perimeter to be planted in effective groupings within said strip. 
The remainder of the strip shall be planted in grass, ground cover or other effective 
landscape treatment.  

3. Berms may be utilized as part of the perimeter landscaping. 

Staff Comments: Staff notes as follows: 

• Perimeter planting areas are designed to mitigate views to the truck-centered loading areas 
along the west side and southeast sides of the building. Therefore, a significant percentage of 



 11 

the required shade trees are devoted to buffering along the west property line, along with 
berming north and east of the building truck entrances. Staff is not certain there needs to be 
such a concentration of shade trees adjacent a (1) conservancy area and (2) future spec 
industrial development. Would it be more advantageous to move the shade trees to the 
east/northeast side of the site? 
Excel Response:  A significant amount of landscaping was added/moved to the 
southeast corner of the site to provide buffer with the residence. 
 

• The greenbelts are clearly in evidence on both street frontages. However, beyond the street 
trees located along Oakwood Road, the only other planting in the greenbelts are 40 evergreen 
trees and 62 evergreen and deciduous shrubs along South 27th Street, which will be planted 
generally in a row along the top of 2 berms straddling the motor vehicle access on that 
frontage.   

• Per D.2. above (particular b. and c.), the total length of the off-street parking areas is 1,600 
linear feet, so technically the minimum number of plantings should be 114. The applicant’s 
proposal is short of this but the berms provided (2 to 3 feet in height along South 27th Street) 
would mitigate some of this. 

• Staff notes also that there are no Street Trees provided along South 27th Street.  
 

15-3.0355 Architectural Requirements. 

A. Building Character and Design. 

1. Buildings located on prominent sites — such as key intersections, corners, terminations of 
street vistas, and on high points — shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural 
design to serve as landmarks.  

2. All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as stone 
below wood rather than the opposite), and appropriate for external use.  

3. Brick, stone and terra-cotta are preferred primary materials for new buildings or additions.  

4. The use of false brick or other "faux" sidings is discouraged.  

5. Color choice shall complement the style and materials of the building's facade and provide a 
pleasing relationship with adjoining buildings.  

6. Painting of brick and stone is discouraged.  

7. Trash, service, and mechanical areas shall be entirely screened from view and located on the 
side or rear of properties.  

8. All visible sides of the building shall be designed with details that complement the front 
facade. Side facades that are visible from the public street shall receive equal design attention.  

9. Building massing that creates modulation and articulation is encouraged.  

10. Multi-story buildings that allow for a mix of retail, office or residential uses are preferred.  
 

Staff Comments: The applicant proposes waivers/modifications for the sections above in favor of the 
proposed design. Staff has no issues with these requests.  
 

B. Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [20,000 Square Feet or Less in Area]. Not 



 12 

applicable. 

C. Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [Greater than 20,000 Square Feet in Area]. 

1. Purpose and Intent. The design standards for buildings greater than 20,000 square feet are 
intended to ensure that large buildings, and the sites they occupy, are properly located and 
compatible with the surrounding area and community character of the South 27th Street 
Design Overlay District. Such projects shall also be subject to the more general standards for 
the approval of Special Use Permits or PUD Districts when applicable. 

The following requirements are applicable to all new buildings in excess of 20,000 gross square 
feet. These requirements are also applicable when additions to non-residential and mixed-use 
buildings built either before or after the effective date of this Division, bring the total building 
size to over 20,000 gross square feet. 

2. Waiver of Standards. The Plan Commission may waive any of the following standards by a 3/4 
vote of members in attendance, but only if supplemental design elements or improvements 
are incorporated into the project (over and above those which are otherwise required) which 
compensate for the waiver of the particular standard. In support of the waiver request, the 
applicant shall detail such supplemental design elements in written and graphical form, and 
provide an explanation as to the nature of the standards for which the waiver is requested.  

3. Compatibility with City Plans. The applicant shall provide, through a written report submitted 
with the petition for a Site Plan adequate evidence that the proposed building and overall 
development project shall be compatible with the City's community character, urban design, 
natural area preservation, commercial development, redevelopment, or community facility 
objectives as expressed in adopted elements of the City's Comprehensive Master Plan.  

4. Building Materials. Building materials shall be unified throughout the building, and shall 
complement other buildings in the vicinity. Exterior building materials shall be of high and 
comparable aesthetic quality on all sides. Building materials such as glass, brick, decorative 
concrete block, or stucco shall be used. Decorative architectural metal with concealed 
fasteners may be approved if sensitively incorporated into the overall design of the building.  

Staff Comment: The applicant’s proposal is consistent with other designs proposed in this area. 

5. Building Design. The building exterior shall be unified in design throughout the structure, and 
shall complement other buildings in the vicinity. The building shall employ varying building 
setbacks, height, roof treatments, door and window openings, and other structural and 
decorative elements to reduce apparent size and scale. A minimum of 20% of all of the 
combined facades of the structure shall employ actual facade protrusions or recesses. A 
minimum of 20% of all of the combined linear roof eave or parapet lines of the structure shall 
employ differences in height, with such differences being six feet or more as measured eave 
to eave or parapet to parapet for buildings over 50,000 square feet. Roofs with particular 
slopes may be required by the City to complement existing buildings or otherwise establish a 
particular aesthetic objective. Ground floor facades that face and are on properties that are 
in any part within 100 feet of public streets shall have arcades, display windows, entry areas, 
awnings, or other such features along no less than 50% of their horizontal length. The 
integration of windows into building design is strongly encouraged.  

Staff Comment: The applicant requested a modification of this requirement specific to placement of 
windows and decorative elements due to the nature of the proposed facility. Staff agrees with the 
applicant’s justification. 

6. Building Entrances. Public building entryways shall be clearly defined and highly visible on the 



 13 

building's exterior design, and shall be emphasized by on-site traffic flow patterns. Two or 
more of the following design features shall be incorporated into all public building entryways: 
canopies or porticos, overhangs, projections, arcades, peaked roof forms, arches, outdoor 
patios, display windows, distinct architectural details. Unless exempted by the Plan 
Commission all sides of the building that directly face or abut a public street or public parking 
area shall have at least one public entrance, except that the City shall not require building 
entrances on more than two sides of any building.  

Staff Comment: The proposed facility makes it clear where employees and applicants would enter 
the facility.  

7. Building Color. Building facade colors shall be non-reflective, subtle, neutral, or earth tone. The 
use of high intensity colors, metallic colors, black, or fluorescent colors on facades shall be 
prohibited. Building trim and architectural accent elements may feature brighter colors, but 
such colors shall be muted, not metallic, not fluorescent, and not specific to particular uses or 
tenants. Standard corporate and trademark colors shall be permitted only on sign face and 
copy areas.  

Staff Comment: The proposed façade colors are consistent with the design of other facilities in the 
City.   

8. Building Location. Modest building setbacks are encouraged. Where buildings are proposed to 
be distant from a public street, the overall development design shall include smaller buildings 
on pads or outlots closer to the street.  

Staff Comment: The applicant requests a waiver to this requirement and staff agrees with the 
applicant’s justification.  

9. Screening. Mechanical equipment, refuse containers and any permitted outdoor storage shall 
be fully concealed from on-site and off-site ground level views, with materials identical to 
those used on the building exterior. Loading docks shall be completely screened from 
surrounding roads and properties. Said screening may be accomplished through loading areas 
internal to buildings, screen walls which match the building exterior in materials and design, 
fully opaque landscaping at time of planting, or combinations of the above. Gates and fencing 
may be used for security and access, but not for screening, and shall be of high aesthetic 
quality.  

Staff Comment: The proposed design complies with this requirement. 

10. Traffic Impact. All projects that include buildings over 20,000 square feet shall have direct 
access to an arterial or collector street, or shall dedicate public roads which have direct access 
to a public street. Vehicle access shall be designed to accommodate peak on-site traffic 
volumes without disrupting traffic on public streets or impairing pedestrian safety. This shall 
be accomplished through adequate parking lot design and capacity; access drive entry throat 
length, width, design, location, and number; and traffic control devices; and sidewalks. The site 
design shall provide direct connections to adjacent land uses if required by the City. Prior to 
development approval, the applicant's traffic engineer shall complete and present a traffic 
impact analysis following Wisconsin Department of Transportation guidelines. Where the 
project will cause off-site public roads, intersections, or interchanges to function below level of 
service C, as defined by the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the City may deny the 
application, require a size reduction in the proposed development, or require that the 
developer construct and/or pay for required off-site improvements.  

Staff Comment: The proposed design complies with this requirement.  



 14 

11. Natural Resources Protection. Existing natural features shall be integrated into the site design 
as a site and community amenity.  
 

Staff Comment: The applicant has not yet submitted the required Natural Resource Protection Plan. 
Staff notes that the submitted site plan shows two small wetland features along the south lot line 
and two smaller areas along the South 27th Street right-of-way. The applicant proposes minimal 
grading in the wetland setback area on the south side, but also proposes border/security fencing 
that runs through the wetland buffer and setback; a total of 258 linear feet through the wetland 
buffer and another 526 linear feet through the wetland setback. The proposed fence would be a 
temporary construction impact. Staff doesn’t recommend a full required Natural Resource Features 
Special Exception for this type of impact, however: 

• The applicant should be required to restore any impacts on the wetland buffer and 
setback as required under UDO Section 15-4.0102I.  
Excel Response:  Understood, has been noted on sheet C1.1. 
 

• The applicant’s equipment usage for installing said fencing shall be that which is 
minimally necessary.  
Excel Response:  Understood, has been noted on sheet C1.1. 
 

12. Signage. The plan for exterior signage shall provide for modest, coordinated, and 
complimentary exterior sign locations, configurations, and colors throughout the 
development. All freestanding signage within the development shall compliment on-building 
signage. Monument style ground signs are strongly preferred over pole signs, and consolidated 
signs for multiple users are strongly preferred over multiple individual signs. The City may 
require the use of muted corporate colors on signage if proposed colors are not compatible 
with the City's design objectives for the area.  
 

Staff Comments: The applicant’s minimal discussion of proposed signage is consistent with this 
requirement. Staff recommends final sign permit review should be delegated to City Development 
staff. 

Engineering Department Comments 

6. The Engineering Dept. will provide more thorough review when full engineering submittal is provided 

• Need Storm Water Management Plan 
Excel Response:  SWMP will be completed at a later date during engineering approvals.  

• Need erosion control and construction sequencing 
Excel Response:  These items will be completed at a later date during engineering approvals.  

• WDNR permit 
Excel Response:  These items will be completed at a later date during engineering approvals.  

• Any work in 27th Street (STH 241) requires coordination with Wisconsin DOT 
Excel Response:  Understood, coordination efforts have been started.  

• Need more detailed erosion control plans 
Excel Response:  These items will be completed at a later date during engineering approvals.  

• Need water main easement, water main plan and profile  
Excel Response:  These items will be completed at a later date during engineering approvals.  



 15 

Fire Department Comments 

7. FD has no comments on the special use application. Further comments/requirements will be 
forthcoming upon specific plan submissions.  

Health Department Comments 

8. Facility will need to obtain licensing from WI DATCP for Food Processing Facility. 
Excel Response:  Understood, these items will be completed at a later date. 

Police Department Comments 

9. The police department has no issues with this project. 

Inspection Services Department Comments 

10. Inspection Services has no comments on the subject proposal at this time. 

 

 

The resubmittal documents have been revised per your comments above.  Please let me know if you have any 
comments, questions, or need additional information.   
  
 
Sincerely,  
  
Excel Engineering, Inc. 
 
 
 
Jason Daye, P.E. 
  
 



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C0.1

CIVIL COVER AND SPECIFICATION SHEET

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021

DIVISION 31  EARTH WORK

31 10 00  SITE CLEARING (DEMOLITION)

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED

BEFORE STARTING SITE DEMOLITION.  DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND FIELD CONDITIONS PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

B. DEMOLITION PLAN IS AN OVERVIEW OF DEMOLITION TO TAKE PLACE ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS PRIOR TO BIDDING.

CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE, REPLACE, OR DEMOLISH ALL ITEMS AS NEEDED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

C. CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS THAT ARE SCHEDULED TO REMAIN.  ANY DAMAGE TO EXISTING FACILITIES SHALL BE REPLACED AT

CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.

D. ALL CONCRETE NOTED TO BE REMOVED SHALL BE REMOVED TO THE NEAREST CONTROL JOINT.

31 20 00  EARTH MOVING

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED

BEFORE STARTING EXCAVATION.  DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND FIELD CONDITIONS PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

B. PROVIDE ALL LABOR, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT FOR ALL EXCAVATION, GRADING, FILL AND BACKFILL WORK AS REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE GENERAL

CONSTRUCTION WORK.  ALL EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL FOR ELECTRICALS AND MECHANICALS ARE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE RESPECTIVE CONTRACTOR

UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN THE BID DOCUMENTS.

C. ALL ORGANIC TOPSOIL INSIDE THE BUILDING AREA, UNDER PAVED AREAS, AND AT SITE FILL AREAS SHALL BE REMOVED.  PROOF ROLL SUBGRADES BEFORE

PLACING FILL WITH HEAVY PNEUMATIC-TIRED EQUIPMENT, SUCH AS A FULLY-LOADED TANDEM AXLE DUMP TRUCK, TO IDENTIFY SOFT POCKETS AND AREAS

OF EXCESS YIELDING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY TOPSOIL DEPTHS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND FOLLOW THE

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT AND ACCOUNT FOR EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO SUBMITTING BID FOR THE PROJECT.  EXCESS

MATERIALS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED IN THE PLANS OR BY LOCAL ZONING REQUIREMENTS.

D. PLACE AND COMPACT FILL MATERIAL IN LAYERS TO REQUIRED ELEVATIONS. UNIFORMLY MOISTEN OR AERATE SUBGRADE AND EACH SUBSEQUENT FILL OR

BACKFILL LAYER BEFORE COMPACTION AS RECOMMENDED TO ACHIEVE SPECIFIED DRY DENSITY.  REMOVE AND REPLACE, OR SCARIFY AND AIR DRY,

OTHERWISE SATISFACTORY SOIL MATERIAL THAT IS TOO WET TO COMPACT TO SPECIFIED DRY DENSITY.

E. PLACE BACKFILL AND FILL MATERIALS IN LAYERS NOT MORE THAN 8" IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR MATERIAL COMPACTED BY HEAVY COMPACTION EQUIPMENT, AND

NOT MORE THAN 4" IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR MATERIAL COMPACTED BY HAND-OPERATED TAMPERS.

F. COMPACT THE SOIL TO NOT LESS THAN THE FOLLOWING PERCENTAGES OF MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY ACCORDING TO ASTM D 698, STANDARD PROCTOR TEST.

FILL MAY NOT BE PLACED ON FROZEN GROUND AND NO FROZEN MATERIALS MAY BE USED FOR BACK FILL.  APPLY THE MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS

WHEN COMPARING BETWEEN THE FOLLOWING AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

1. UNDER FOUNDATIONS - SUBGRADE, AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL, TO NOT LESS THAN 98 PERCENT.

2. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS MORE THAN 3 FEET BELOW THE SLAB - PLACE A DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF 3/4" CRUSHED

STONE, WITH 5% TO 12% FINES, PER THICKNESS INDICATED ON FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE. COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE

COURSE TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

3. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS WITHIN 3 FEET OF THE SLAB SURFACE- PLACE A DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF CLEAN 3/4"

CRUSHED STONE, WITH NO MORE THAN 5% FINES, PER THICKNESS INDICATED ON FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE. COMPACT THE

SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE COURSE TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

4. UNDER EXTERIOR CONCRETE AND ASPHALT PAVEMENTS - COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO NOT LESS THAN

95 PERCENT.

5. UNDER WALKWAYS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

6. UNDER LAWN OR UNPAVED AREAS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL, TO NOT LESS THAN 85 PERCENT.

G. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO PERFORM FIELD TESTS AND INSPECTIONS. IT IS SUGGESTED

THAT THE GEOTECHNICAL FIRM USED TO PERFORM THE SUBSURFACE SOIL INVESTIGATION BE ENGAGED FOR THE FIELD QUALITY CONTROL TESTS. THE

GEOTECHNICAL REPORT WAS PERFORMED BY (NAME OF GEOTECHNICAL FIRM).

H. ALLOW THE TESTING AGENCY TO TEST AND INSPECT SUBGRADES AND EACH FILL OR BACKFILL LAYER.  PROCEED WITH SUBSEQUENT EARTHWORK ONLY AFTER

TEST RESULTS FOR PREVIOUSLY COMPLETED WORK COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS. PROVIDE ONE TEST FOR EVERY 2000 SQUARE FEET OF PAVED AREA OR

BUILDING SLAB, ONE TEST FOR EACH SPREAD FOOTING, AND ONE TEST FOR EVERY 50 LINEAR FEET OF WALL STRIP FOOTING.

I. WHEN THE TESTING AGENCY REPORTS THAT SUBGRADES, FILLS, OR BACKFILLS HAVE NOT ACHIEVED DEGREE OF COMPACTION SPECIFIED, SCARIFY AND

MOISTEN OR AERATE, OR REMOVE AND REPLACE SOIL TO DEPTH REQUIRED; RECOMPACT AND RETEST UNTIL SPECIFIED COMPACTION IS OBTAINED.

J. THE BUILDING SITE SHALL BE GRADED TO PROVIDE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM THE BUILDING AS INDICATED ON THE PLANS. SITE EARTHWORK SHALL BE GRADED

TO WITHIN 0.10' OF REQUIRED EARTHWORK ELEVATIONS ASSUMING POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GRADING PLAN.

31 30 00  EROSION CONTROL

A. THE GRADING PLAN REFLECTS LESS THAN 1 ACRE OF DISTURBED AREA.  THE SITE IS THEREFORE EXEMPT FROM WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL

RESOURCES NR 216 NOTICE OF INTENT REQUIREMENTS.  THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL PREPARE AN EROSION CONTROL PLAN TO MEET NR 151.105

CONSTRUCTION SITE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS FOR NON-PERMITTED SITES.

B. EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IMPLEMENTED DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL STRICTLY COMPLY WITH THE GUIDELINES AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH

IN WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (W.A.C.) NR 151, THE STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES RUNOFF MANAGEMENT

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  TECHNICAL STANDARDS PUBLISHED BY THE WISCONSIN DNR SHALL ALSO BE UTILIZED TO IMPLEMENT THE REQUIRED

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  THE METHODS AND TYPES OF EROSION CONTROL WILL BE DEPENDENT ON THE LOCATION AND TYPE OF WORK INVOLVED.  ALL

SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE ADJUSTED TO MEET FIELD CONDITIONS AT THE TIME OF CONSTRUCTION, AND INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY GRADING

OR DISTURBANCE OF EXISTING SURFACE MATERIAL.  BELOW IS A LIST OF EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES TO ACHIEVE THE

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS REQUIRED.

1. SILT FENCE SHALL BE PLACED ON SITE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN.  SILT FENCE SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED AROUND THE

PERIMETER OF ALL SOIL STOCKPILES THAT WILL EXIST FOR MORE THAN 7 DAYS.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD

1056 (CURRENT EDITION).

2. DITCH CHECKS SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE THE VELOCITY OF WATER FLOWING IN DITCH BOTTOMS.  PLACE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION

CONTROL PLAN.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1062 (CURRENT EDITION).

3. STONE TRACKING PADS AND TRACKOUT CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE PLACED AT ALL CONSTRUCTION SITE ENTRANCES AND SHALL BE INSTALLED PRIOR

TO ANY TRAFFIC LEAVING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  SEE THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN FOR LOCATIONS.  THE AGGREGATE USED FOR THE STONE TRACKING

PAD SHALL BE 3/8” TO 3 INCH CLEAR OR WASHED STONE AND SHALL BE PLACED IN A LAYER AT LEAST 12 INCHES THICK.  THE STONE SHALL BE UNDERLAIN

WITH A WISDOT TYPE R GEOTEXTILE FABRIC AS NEEDED.  THE TRACKING PAD SHALL BE THE FULL WIDTH OF THE EGRESS POINT (12' MIN WIDTH) AND SHALL

BE A MINIMUM OF 50 FEET LONG.  SURFACE WATER MUST BE PREVENTED FROM PASSING THROUGH THE TRACKING PAD.  OTHER TRACKOUT CONTROL

PRACTICES INCLUDING STABILIZED WORK SURFACES, MANUFACTURED TRACKOUT CONTROL DEVICES, TIRE WASHING, AND STREET/PAVEMENT CLEANING

SHALL BE IMPLEMENTED AS NECESSARY TO MITIGATE THE TRACKOUT OF SEDIMENT OFFSITE.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR

TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057 (CURRENT EDITION).

4. STORM DRAIN INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR ALL NEW AND DOWNSTREAM STORM CATCH BASINS AND CURB INLETS.  TYPE B OR C

PROTECTION SHOULD BE PROVIDED AND SHALL BE IN CONFORMANCE WITH WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1060 (CURRENT EDITION).

5. DUST CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE OR PREVENT THE SURFACE AND AIR TRANSPORT OF DUST DURING CONSTRUCTION.  CONTROL

MEASURES INCLUDE APPLYING MULCH AND ESTABLISHING VEGETATION, WATER SPRAYING, SURFACE ROUGHENING, APPLYING POLYMERS, SPRAY-ON

TACKIFIERS, CHLORIDES, AND BARRIERS.  SOME SITES MAY REQUIRE AN APPROACH THAT UTILIZES A COMBINATION OF MEASURES FOR DUST CONTROL.

FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1068 (CURRENT EDITION).

6. THE USE, STORAGE, AND DISPOSAL OF CHEMICALS, CEMENT, AND OTHER COMPOUNDS AND MATERIALS USED ON SITE SHALL BE MANAGED DURING THE

CONSTRUCTION PERIOD TO PREVENT THEIR TRANSPORT BY RUNOFF INTO WATERS OF THE STATE.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AN OPEN AGGREGATE CONCRETE TRUCK WASHOUT AREA ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO ENSURE THAT CONCRETE WASHOUT

SHALL BE CONTAINED TO THIS DESIGNATED AREA AND NOT BE ALLOWED TO RUN INTO STORM INLETS OR INTO THE OVERLAND STORMWATER DRAINAGE

SYSTEM.  WASHOUT AREA SHALL BE REMOVED UPON COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION.

8. TEMPORARY SITE RESTORATION SHALL TAKE PLACE IN DISTURBED AREAS THAT WILL NOT BE BROUGHT TO FINAL GRADE OR ON WHICH LAND DISTURBING

ACTIVITIES WILL NOT BE PERFORMED FOR A PERIOD GREATER THAN 14 DAYS AND REQUIRES VEGETATIVE COVER FOR LESS THAN ONE YEAR.  THIS

TEMPORARY SITE RESTORATION REQUIREMENT ALSO APPLIES TO SOIL STOCKPILES THAT EXIST FOR MORE THAN 7 DAYS.  PERMANENT RESTORATION

APPLIES TO AREAS WHERE PERENNIAL VEGETATIVE COVER IS NEEDED TO PERMANENTLY STABILIZE AREAS OF EXPOSED SOIL.  PERMANENT STABILIZATION

SHALL OCCUR WITHIN 3 WORKING DAYS OF FINAL GRADING.  TOPSOIL, SEED, AND MULCH SHALL BE IN GENERAL CONFORMANCE WITH TECHNICAL

STANDARDS 1058 AND 1059 AND SHALL MEET THE SPECIFICATIONS FOUND IN THE LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION SECTION OF THIS

CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT. ANY SOIL EROSION THAT OCCURS AFTER FINAL GRADING AND/OR FINAL STABILIZATION MUST BE REPAIRED AND THE

STABILIZATION WORK REDONE.

9. IF SITE DEWATERING IS REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES, ALL SEDIMENT LADEN WATER GENERATED DURING THE DEWATERING

PROCESS SHALL BE TREATED TO REMOVE SEDIMENT PRIOR TO DISCHARGING OFF-SITE OR TO WATERS OF THE STATE.  FOLLOW ALL PROCEDURES FOUND IN

TECHNICAL STANDARD 1061.

10. ALL OFF-SITE SEDIMENT DEPOSITS OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF CONSTRUCTION WORK OR A STORM EVENT SHALL BE CLEANED UP BY THE END OF EACH

WORKING DAY.  DUST CONTROL REQUIREMENTS SHALL BE FOLLOWED PER WI DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1068 (CURRENT EDITION). FLUSHING SHALL NOT

BE ALLOWED.

C. ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL AT A MINIMUM BE INSPECTED WEEKLY AND WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER EVERY PRECIPITATION EVENT THAT PRODUCES

0.5 INCHES OF RAIN OR MORE DURING A 24 HOUR PERIOD.  MAINTENANCE SHALL BE PERFORMED PER WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (W.A.C.) NR 151

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT TECHNICAL STANDARD REQUIREMENTS.

D. EROSION CONTROL MEASURES SHALL NOT BE REMOVED UNTIL THE AREA(S) SERVED HAVE ESTABLISHED VEGETATIVE COVER.

E. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL LOCAL EROSION CONTROL PERMITS.

DIVISION 32  EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS

32 10 00  AGGREGATE BASE & ASPHALT PAVEMENT

A. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.  ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED

MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.  PROVIDE HOT MIX

ASPHALT MIXTURE TYPES PER SECTION 460 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION. CONTRACTOR

SHALL OBTAIN AND REVIEW SOILS REPORT FOR RECOMMENDATIONS FOR GEO-GRID / GEOTEXTILE BELOW CRUSHED AGGREGATE (IF APPLICABLE).

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT TYPES AND DEPTHS AS INDICATED BELOW:

STANDARD ASPHALT PAVING SECTION HEAVY ASPHALT PAVING SECTION

1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28S) 1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28S)

(WISDOT 455.2.5 TACK COAT (STAGED PAVING) WISDOT 455.2.5 TACK COAT (STAGED PAVING)

2” BINDER COURSE (4 LT 58-28S) 2-1/2” BINDER COURSE (4 LT 58-28S)

10” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE 12” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE

HEAVY DUTY TRUCK TRAFFIC ASPHALT PAVING SECTION - INDUSTRIAL SITES

2” SURFACE COURSE (4 MT 58-28H)

(WISDOT 455.2.5 TACK COAT (STAGED PAVING)

2-1/2” BINDER COURSE (3 MT 58-28S)

12” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE

B. CONTRACTOR TO COMPACT THE AGGREGATE BASE, ASPHALT BINDER COURSE, AND ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE TO AN AVERAGE DENSITY PER WISCONSIN

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.  ALL ASPHALT PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE PAVED TO WITHIN 0.10' OF DESIGN

SURFACE GRADES WITH POSITIVE DRAINAGE BEING MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DESIGN PLANS.  A MINIMUM OF 1% SLOPE SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN

ALL ASPHALT PAVEMENT AREA.

C. HOT MIX ASPHALT CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF GEOTECHNICAL REPORT OR CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

D. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 4” WIDE (YELLOW OR WHITE) PAINTED STRIPING FOR PARKING STALLS, TRAFFIC LANES, AND NO PARKING AREAS.  (YELLOW OR

WHITE) PAINT MARKINGS SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR H.C. ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS, TRAFFIC ARROWS, AND TRAFFIC MESSAGES.

32 20 00  CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE BASE

A. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE AND CONCRETE WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

B. ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE

CONSTRUCTION. ALL AGGREGATE PLACED MUST BE COMPACTED TO AN AVERAGE DENSITY PER WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND

STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.

C. DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF ALL CAST-IN-PLACE EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL CONFORM TO ACI 330R-08 & ACI 318-08.

D. EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT OR THIS

SPECIFICATION.  CONCRETE FLAT WORK CONSTRUCTION IS AS FOLLOWS:

1. SIDEWALK CONCRETE - 4” OF CONCRETE OVER 4” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.  CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL CONSIST OF 1/8” WIDE BY 1” DEEP

TOOLED JOINT WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

2. LOADING DOCK CONCRETE - 8” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.

a. CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH ONE OF THE FOLLOWING AND PLACED IN THE UPPER 1/3 TO ½ OF THE SLAB:

1). 4”X4” W5.5XW5.5 W.W.F

2). TWO LAYERS OF 4”X4” W 2.9XW2.9 W.W.F.

3). #3 REBARS AT 7-1/2” O.C.

4). #4 REBARS AT 13” O.C.

b. LOADING DOCK CONCRETE JOINTING SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS:

1). CONTRACTION SAWCUT JOINT -CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A SAWCUT JOINT AT MAXIMUM SPACING OF 15' ON CENTER.  SAWCUT JOINT SHALL

BE 2” IN DEPTH.

2). TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH 1-1/4” DIAMETER BY 20” LONG SMOOTH DOWEL PLACED AT 12” ON

CENTER.  ONE HALF OF THE DOWEL SHALL BE GREASED.  GREENSTREAK 9” SPEED DOWEL TUBES SHALL BE USED.

3. DUMPSTER PAD/APRON CONCRETE - 8” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF AGGREGATE BASE.

a. CONCRETE SHALL BE STEEL REINFORCED WITH THE FOLLOWING AND PLACED IN THE UPPER 1/3 TO ½ OF THE SLAB:

1). TIE BARS AT ALL CONTRACTION JOINTS OF THE CONCRETE.  TIE BARS SHALL BE #4 REBAR 30” LONG PLACED AT 30” O.C.

b. DUMPSTER PAD CONCRETE JOINTING SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS:

1). CONTRACTION SAWCUT JOINT - CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A SAWCUT JOINT AT MAXIMUM SPACING OF 15' ON CENTER.  SAWCUT SHALL BE 2”

IN DEPTH.

2). TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH 1-1/4” DIAMETER BY 20” LONG SMOOTH DOWEL PLACED AT 12”

O.C.  ONE HALF OF THE DOWEL SHALL BE GREASED.  GREENSTREAK 9” SPEED DOWEL TUBES SHALL BE USED.

4. HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE (TRUCK TRAFFIC) - 6” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE.  CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH #3 REBARS

ON CHAIRS AT 3' O.C. REBAR SHALL BE PLACED PLACED IN THE UPPER 1/3 TO ½ OF THE SLAB. CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL BE SAWCUT 1.5” IN DEPTH AND

BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 15' ON CENTER.

5. HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE (TRUCK TRAFFIC) - 6” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.  CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH

MICRO-FIBERS THAT ARE 100% VIRGIN POLYPROPYLENE, FIBRILLATED, ROUGH TEXTURED, INTERCONNECTED FIBERS CONTAINING NO PREPROCESSED

OLEFIN MATERIALS AND SPECIFICALLY MANUFACTURED FOR CONCRETE REINFORCEMENT AT A RATE OF 1.5LBS FIBER/YARD

3

 OF CONCRETE.  FIBER

REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE FIBERMESH 300 (OR EQ.) AND CONFORM WITH ASTM C 1116, TYPE III FIBER REINFORCED CONCRETE.  CONTRACTION JOINTS

SHALL BE SAWCUT 1.5” IN DEPTH AND BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 15' O.C.

a. CONCRETE SHALL BE STEEL REINFORCED AS FOLLOWS:

1). TIE BARS AT OUTERMOST CONTRACTION JOINT (FIRST JOINT FROM EDGE OR AT CURB JOINT) AROUND PERIMETER OF CONCRETE.  TIE BARS SHALL BE

#5 REBAR 24” LONG PLACED AT 30” O.C.

2). TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH 1/4” X 4-1/2” X 4-1/4” DIAMOND SHAPED TAPERED PLATE DOWELS

MANUFACTURED PER ASTM A36.  INSTALL PER MANUFACTURERS SPECIFICATIONS.

6. LIGHT DUTY CONCRETE (PASSENGER CAR TRAFFIC) - 5” OF CONCRETE OVER 4” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE. CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL BE SAWCUT 1.5”

IN DEPTH AND BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 12.5' ON CENTER

a. CONCRETE SHALL BE STEEL REINFORCED AS FOLLOWS:

1). TIE BARS AT OUTERMOST CONTRACTION JOINT (FIRST JOINT FROM EDGE OR AT CURB JOINT) AROUND PERIMETER OF CONCRETE.  TIE BARS SHALL BE

#4 REBAR 24” LONG PLACED AT 30” O.C.

2). TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH 1/4” X 4-1/2” X 4-1/4” DIAMOND SHAPED TAPERED PLATE DOWELS

MANUFACTURED PER ASTM A36.  INSTALL PER MANUFACTURERS SPECIFICATIONS.

E. DESIGN MIXES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C94

1. STRENGTH TO BE MINIMUM OF 4,500 PSI AT 28 DAYS FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE.

2. MAXIMUM WATER/CEMENT RATIO SHALL BE 0.45.

3. SLUMP SHALL NOT EXCEED 4” FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK

4. SLUMP SHALL BE 2.5” OR LESS FOR SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER

5. SLUMP SHALL BE BETWEEN 1.5” TO 3” FOR NON SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER.

6. ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE AIR ENTRAINED WITH 4% TO 7% AIR CONTENT.  NO OTHER ADMIXTURES SHALL BE USED WITHOUT APPROVAL OF EXCEL

ENGINEERING, INC.  CALCIUM CHLORIDE SHALL NOT BE USED.

7. MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SIZE FOR ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE 0.75 INCHES.

F. VERIFY EQUIPMENT CONCRETE PAD SIZES WITH RESPECTIVE CONTRACTORS.  PADS SHALL HAVE FIBERMESH 300 FIBERS AT A RATE OF 1.5 LBS/CU. YD. OR 6 X

6-W1.4 X W1.4 WELDED WIRE MESH WITH MINIMUM 1 INCH COVER.  EQUIPMENT PADS SHALL BE 3.5 INCHES THICK WITH 1 INCH CHAMFER UNLESS SPECIFIED

OTHERWISE.  COORDINATE ADDITIONAL PAD REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECTIVE CONTRACTOR.

G. ALL CONCRETE FLAT WORK SURFACES AND CONCRETE CURB FLOWLINES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO WITHIN 0.05' OF DESIGN SURFACE AND FLOWLINE

GRADES ASSUMING POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DESIGN PLANS.

H. CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL HAVE CONSTRUCTION JOINTS OR SAW CUT JOINTS PLACED AS INDICATED ON THE PLANS OR PER THIS SPECIFICATION.

SAWCUTS SHALL BE DONE AS SOON AS POSSIBLE, BUT NO LATER THAN 24 HOURS AFTER CONCRETE IS PLACED.  CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER JOINTING

SHALL BE PLACED EVERY 10' OR CLOSER (6' MIN.).  IF CONCRETE PAVEMENT IS ADJACENT TO CONCRETE CURB, JOINTING IN THE PAVEMENT AND CURB SHALL

ALIGN.  ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A LIGHT BROOM FINISH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  A UNIFORM COAT OF A HIGH SOLIDS CURING COMPOUND

MEETING ASTM C309 SHOULD BE APPLIED TO ALL EXPOSED CONCRETE SURFACES.  ALL CONCRETE IS TO BE CURED FOR 7 DAYS.  EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE

SEPARATED FROM BUILDINGS WITH CONTINUOUS 0.5 INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT AND/OR 0.25 INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT AT DECORATIVE MASONRY

UNITS.

I. ALL REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE ASTM A615 GRADE 60.  THICKNESS OF CONCRETE COVER OVER REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE NOT LESS THAN 3” WHERE

CONCRETE IS DEPOSITED AGAINST THE GROUND WITHOUT THE USE OF FORMS AND NOT LESS THAN 1.5” IN ALL OTHER LOCATIONS.  ALL REINFORCING SHALL

BE LAPPED 36 DIAMETERS FOR UP TO #6 BARS, 60 DIAMETERS FOR #7 TO #10 BARS OR AS NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS AND EXTENDED AROUND CORNERS

WITH CORNER BARS.  PLACING AND DETAILING OF STEEL REINFORCING AND REINFORCING SUPPORTS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CRSI AND ACI

MANUAL AND STANDARD PRACTICES.  THE REINFORCEMENT SHALL NOT BE PAINTED AND MUST BE FREE OF GREASE/OIL, DIRT OR DEEP RUST WHEN PLACED

IN THE WORK.  ALL WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM A 185.  WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHALL BE PLACED 2” FROM TOP OF SLAB,

UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE.

J. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO SAMPLE MATERIALS, PERFORM TESTS, AND SUBMIT TEST

REPORTS DURING CONCRETE PLACEMENT.  TESTS WILL BE PERFORMED ACCORDING TO ACI 301.  CAST AND LABORATORY CURE ONE SET OF FOUR STANDARD

CYLINDERS FOR EACH COMPOSITE SAMPLE FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH CONCRETE MIX EXCEEDING 5 CU. YD., BUT LESS THAN 25 CU. YD., PLUS ONE SET

FOR EACH ADDITIONAL 50 CU. YD. OR FRACTION THEREOF. PERFORM COMPRESSIVE-STRENGTH TESTS ACCORDING TO ASTM C 39. TEST TWO SPECIMENS AT 7

DAYS AND TWO SPECIMENS AT 28 DAYS. PERFORM SLUMP TESTING ACCORDING TO ASTM C 143. PROVIDE ONE TEST AT POINT OF PLACEMENT FOR EACH

COMPOSITE SAMPLE, BUT NOT LESS THAN ONE TEST FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH CONCRETE MIX. PERFORM ADDITIONAL TESTS WHEN CONCRETE

CONSISTENCY APPEARS TO CHANGE.

K. PROTECT FRESHLY PLACED CONCRETE FROM PREMATURE DRYING AND EXCESSIVE COLD OR HOT TEMPERATURES.  IN HOT, DRY, AND WINDY WEATHER, APPLY

AN EVAPORATION-CONTROL COMPOUND ACCORDING TO MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS AFTER SCREEDING AND BULL FLOATING, BUT BEFORE POWER

FLOATING AND TROWELLING.

L.  LIMIT MAXIMUM WATER-CEMENTIOUS RATIO OF CONCRETE EXPOSED TO FREEZING, THAWING AND DEICING SALTS TO 0.45.

M. TEST RESULTS WILL BE REPORTED IN WRITING TO THE DESIGN ENGINEER, READY-MIX PRODUCER, AND CONTRACTOR WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER TESTS.

REPORTS OF COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH TESTS SHALL CONTAIN THE PROJECT IDENTIFICATION NAME AND NUMBER, DATE OF CONCRETE PLACEMENT, NAME OF

CONCRETE TESTING SERVICE, CONCRETE TYPE AND CLASS, LOCATION OF CONCRETE BATCH IN STRUCTURE, DESIGN COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH AT 28 DAYS,

CONCRETE MIX PROPORTIONS AND MATERIALS, COMPRESSIVE BREAKING STRENGTH, AND TYPE OF BREAK FOR BOTH 7-DAY TESTS AND 28-DAY TESTS.

N. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 4” WIDE (YELLOW OR WHITE) PAINTED STRIPING FOR PARKING STALLS, TRAFFIC LANES, AND NO PARKING AREAS.  (YELLOW OR

WHITE) PAINT MARKINGS SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR H.C. ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS, TRAFFIC ARROWS, AND TRAFFIC MESSAGES.

32 30 00  LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION

A. TOPSOIL:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 6” OF TOPSOIL FOR ALL DISTURBED OPEN AREAS.  REUSE SURFACE SOIL STOCKPILED ON SITE AND

SUPPLEMENT WITH IMPORTED OR MANUFACTURED TOPSOIL FROM OFF SITE SOURCES WHEN QUANTITIES ARE INSUFFICIENT. EXCAVATOR SHALL BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR ROUGH PLACEMENT OF TOPSOIL TO WITHIN 1” OF FINAL GRADE PRIOR TO LANDSCAPER FINAL GRADING. LANDSCAPER TO PROVIDE

PULVERIZING AND FINAL GRADING OF TOPSOIL. PROVIDE SOIL ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED SOIL TESTING LABORATORY AS REQUIRED TO VERIFY THE SUITABILITY

OF SOIL TO BE USED AS TOPSOIL AND TO DETERMINE THE NECESSARY SOIL AMENDMENTS. 
 
TEST SOIL FOR PRESENCE OF ATRAZINE AND INFORM EXCEL

ENGINEERING, INC. IF PRESENT PRIOR TO BIDDING PROJECT.  TOPSOIL SHALL HAVE A PH RANGE OF 5.5 TO 8, CONTAIN A MINIMUM OF 5 PERCENT ORGANIC

MATERIAL CONTENT, AND SHALL BE FREE OF STONES 1 INCH OR LARGER IN DIAMETER.  ALL MATERIALS HARMFUL TO PLANT GROWTH SHALL ALSO BE

REMOVED.

TOPSOIL INSTALLATION:  LOOSEN SUBGRADE TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF 6 INCHES AND REMOVE STONES LARGER THAN 1” IN DIAMETER.  ALSO REMOVE ANY

STICKS, ROOTS, RUBBISH, AND OTHER EXTRANEOUS MATTER AND DISPOSE OF THEM OFF THE PROPERTY.  SPREAD TOPSOIL TO A DEPTH OF 6” BUT NOT LESS

THAN WHAT IS REQUIRED TO MEET FINISHED GRADES AFTER LIGHT ROLLING AND NATURAL SETTLEMENT.  DO NOT SPREAD TOPSOIL IF SUBGRADE IS FROZEN,

MUDDY, OR EXCESSIVELY WET.  GRADE PLANTING AREAS TO A SMOOTH, UNIFORM SURFACE PLANE WITH LOOSE, UNIFORMLY FINE TEXTURE.  GRADE TO

WITHIN 0.05 FEET OF FINISHED GRADE ELEVATION.

B. SEEDED LAWNS:

1. PERMANENT LAWN AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  65% KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS BLEND (2.0-2.6 LBS./1,000 S.F.), 20% PERENNIAL

RYEGRASS (0.6-0.8 LBS./1,000 S.F.), 15% FINE FESCUE (0.4-0.6 LBS/1,000 S.F.).  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100LBS/1,000 S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL

TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS/1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED. ALL SITE DISTURBED AREAS NOT

DESIGNATED FOR OTHER LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION METHODS SHALL BE SEEDED AS PERMANENT LAWN.  NO BARE TOPSOIL SHALL BE LEFT

ONSITE.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARDS 1058 & 1059.

2. ALL PERMANENT AND TEMPORARY STORM WATER CONVEYANCE SWALE BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS WELL AS STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN

BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES SHALL BE SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  45% KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS (0.60 LBS./1000 S.F.), 40% CREEPING RED

FESCUE (0.50 LBS./1,000 S.F.), AND 15% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (0.20 LBS./1,000 S.F.).  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6

LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARDS 1058 & 1059.

3. ALL TEMPORARY SEEDING SHALL CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  100% RYEGRASS AT 1.9 LBS./1,000 S.F.  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100

LBS./1,000 S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.

FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARDS 1058 & 1059.

C. SEEDED LAWN MAINTENANCE:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPING FOR A PERIOD OF 90 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF

INSTALLATION.  AT THE END OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD, A HEALTHY, UNIFORM, CLOSE STAND OF GRASS SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED FREE OF WEEDS AND

SURFACE IRREGULARITIES.  LAWN COVERAGE SHOULD EXCEED 90% AND BARE SPOTS SHOULD NOT EXCEED 5”X5”.  CONTRACTOR SHOULD REESTABLISH

LAWNS THAT DO NOT COMPLY WITH THESE REQUIREMENTS AND CONTINUE MAINTENANCE UNTIL LAWNS ARE SATISFACTORY.

D. EROSION MATTING:

1. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION CONTROL MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN S150) OR EQUIVALENT ON ALL SLOPES THAT ARE 4:1 AND GREATER

OUTSIDE OF STORMWATER CONVEYANCE SWALES AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASINS.

2. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN C125) OR EQUIVALENT IN ALL SWALE BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS WELL AS

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS REQUIRED.

E. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT POND SAFETY SHELF SEEDING:  SAFETY SHELF SHALL BE SEEDED WITH A WET PRAIRIE EMERGENT PLANT TYPE MIX.

F. RIP RAP:  ALL RIP RAP ASSOCIATED WITH STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND STORMWATER CONVEYANCE, AS DELINEATED ON THE PLANS, SHALL BE

CONSTRUCTED WITH THE TOP OF RIP RAP MATCHING THE PROPOSED ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS.  PLACEMENT OF RIP RAP ABOVE THE PROPOSED

ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS IS NOT ACCEPTABLE.  ALL RIP RAP SHALL BE PLACED ON TYPE HR FILTER FABRIC PER SECTION 645 OF THE WISCONSIN

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURAL CONSTRUCTION.

G. TREES AND SHRUBS:  FURNISH NURSERY-GROWN TREES AND SHRUBS WITH HEALTHY ROOT SYSTEMS DEVELOPED BY TRANSPLANTING OR ROOT PRUNING.

PROVIDE WELL-SHAPED, FULLY BRANCHED, AND HEALTHY LOOKING STOCK.  STOCK SHOULD ALSO BE FREE OF DISEASE, INSECTS, EGGS, LARVAE, AND DEFECTS

SUCH AS KNOTS, SUN SCALD, INJURIES, ABRASIONS, AND DISFIGUREMENT.  SEE THE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR SPECIFIC SPECIE TYPE, SIZE, AND LOCATION.

H. TREE AND SHRUB INSTALLATION:  EXCAVATE CIRCULAR PITS WITH SIDES SLOPED INWARD.  TRIM BASE LEAVING CENTER AREA RAISED SLIGHTLY TO SUPPORT

ROOT BALL.  EXCAVATE PIT APPROXIMATELY THREE TIMES AS WIDE AS THE ROOT BALL DIAMETER.  SET TREES AND SHRUBS PLUMB AND IN CENTER OF PIT

WITH TOP OF BALL 1” ABOVE ADJACENT FINISHED GRADES.  PLACE PLANTING SOIL MIX AROUND ROOT BALL IN LAYERS AND TAMP TO SETTLE MIX.  WATER ALL

PLANTS THOROUGHLY.  PROVIDE TEMPORARY STAKING FOR TREES AS REQUIRED.

I. TREE AND SHRUB MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPING FOR A PERIOD OF 90 DAYS FROM THE DATE

OF INSTALLATION.  MAINTENANCE TO INCLUDE REGULAR WATERING AS REQUIRED FOR SUCCESSFUL PLANT ESTABLISHMENT.  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 1

YEAR WARRANTY ON ALL TREES, SHRUBS, AND PERENNIALS.

J. ORGANIC MULCH:  PROVIDE 3” MINIMUM THICK BLANKET OF SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH AT ALL PLANTING AREAS INDICATED ON THE LANDSCAPE PLAN.

INSTALL OVER NON-WOVEN WEED BARRIER FABRIC.  COLOR BY OWNER.

K. MINERAL MULCH:  PROVIDE 3” MINIMUM THICK BLANKET OF 0.75” MINIMUM TO 1.5” MAXIMUM CRUSHED DECORATIVE STONE AT ALL PLANTING AREAS

INDICATED ON THE LANDSCAPE PLAN.  INSTALL OVER NON-WOVEN WEED BARRIER FABRIC.  COLOR BY OWNER.

L. PLASTIC EDGING:  INSTALL VALLEY VIEW INDUSTRIES BLACK DIAMOND LAWN EDGING TO SEPARATE ALL PLANTING BEDS FROM LAWN AREAS.  EDGING TO BE

5.5” TALL WITH METAL STAKES INSTALLED PER MANUFACTURER'S WRITTEN INSTRUCTIONS.

M. LANDSCAPE AND LAWN IRRIGATION:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE DESIGN AND INSTALLATION OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM PIPING, VALVES, VALVE BOXES,

SPRINKLERS, EMITTERS, DRIP TUBES, AND CONTROLS IN COMBINATIONS THAT BEST SUIT THE LANDSCAPE PLAN LAYOUT.  ALL LAWN AND LANDSCAPING

AREAS SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH IRRIGATION AS DELINEATED ON THE PLAN.  THE DESIGN SHOULD MINIMIZE THE AMOUNT OF WATER THAT EXTENDS

BEYOND THE PROPERTY AND ON PAVED AREAS.  THE SYSTEM SHALL BE DESIGNED FOR FULLY AUTOMATIC OPERATION AND PROVIDE ALL NECESSARY

CONTROLS, VALVES, AND WIRING TO OPERATE THE SYSTEM.  THE CONTROL UNIT SHALL BE INSTALLED IN A MECHANICAL ROOM OR AT A LOCATION AGREED

TO WITH THE OWNER.  THE CONTROL UNIT SHOULD BE PROVIDED WITH A LOCKING COVER.

POP-UP SPRAY OR ROTARY SPRINKLERS SHALL BE USED AT LAWN AREAS TO PROVIDE A UNIFORM COVERAGE OF 1 TO 2 INCHES OF WATER PER HOUR.

EMITTERS AND DRIP TUBES OR SHRUBBERY SPRINKLERS SHALL BE USED AT PLANTS AND SHRUBS AS APPROPRIATE FOR THE PLANTING DENSITY AND SPECIES

TYPE.  ALL SPRINKLER HEADS SHALL BE COMMERCIAL GRADE. THE SYSTEM SHALL BE CIRCUITED AS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE WATER FLOW TO EACH

SPRINKLER HEAD.  THE CONTROL SYSTEM MUST INCLUDE A RAIN SENSING SHUT OFF DEVICE.  THE ENTIRE SYSTEM IS TO BE INSTALLED WITH A MINIMUM

UNIFORM SLOPE OF 0.5 PERCENT TOWARD DRAIN VALVES.

DIVISION 33  UTILITIES

33 10 00  SITE UTILITIES

A. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY PIPE LOCATIONS, SIZES, AND DEPTHS AT POINT OF

PROPOSED CONNECTIONS AND VERIFY PROPOSED UTILITY ROUTES ARE CLEAR (PER CODE) OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES AND OTHER OBSTRUCTIONS PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.  COSTS INCURRED FOR FAILURE TO DO SO SHALL BE THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY.

B. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD TELEVISE ALL EXISTING SANITARY AND STORM LATERALS THAT ARE SCHEDULED TO BE RE-USED AND/OR CONNECTED TO ON SITE.  THE

TELEVISING SHALL BE COMPLETED TO ENSURE THE EXISTING LATERAL(S) ARE FREE OF OBSTRUCTIONS AND IN SOUND STRUCTURAL CONDITION.  TELEVISING

OF THESE LATERAL(S) SHOULD BE COMPLETED AT BEGINNING OF CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY PIPE OBSTRUCTIONS

AND/OR STRUCTURAL DEFICIENCIES IMMEDIATELY AFTER COMPLETION OF FIELD TELEVISING

C. ALL PROPOSED SANITARY PIPE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE

PROPOSED PLANSET. ALL PROPOSED SANITARY PIPE BELOW PROPOSED & FUTURE BUILDINGS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE

A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE PROPOSED PLANSET. ALL PROPOSED CPVC PROCESS PIPING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH

MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE PROPOSED PLANSET.

D. SANITARY AND PROCESS MANHOLES SHALL BE 48” PRECAST AND CONFORM TO THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR SEWER & WATER CONSTRUCTION IN

WISCONSIN-CURRENT EDITION UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. PROCESS MANHOLES SHALL BE LINED W/ GSE STUDLINER LINING. SANITARY

& PROCESS MANHOLE FRAME AND GRATE TO BE NEENAH R-1550-A OR EQUAL. RIM ELEVATION TO BE SET AT FINISHED GRADE IN DEVELOPED AREAS AND 12”

ABOVE FINISHED GRADE IN UNDEVELOPED AREAS EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

E. CLEANOUTS SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE SANITARY SERVICE AT LOCATIONS INDICATED ON THE UTILITY PLAN.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF A

COMBINATION WYE FITTING IN LINE WITH THE SANITARY SERVICE WITH THE CLEANOUT LEG OF THE COMBINATION WYE FACING STRAIGHT UP.  THE

CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF A (4” OR 6”) VERTICAL PVC PIPE WITH A WATER TIGHT REMOVABLE CLEANOUT PLUG.  AN 8” PVC FROST SLEEVE SHALL BE

PROVIDED.  THE BOTTOM OF THE FROST SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE 12” ABOVE THE TOP OF THE SANITARY LATERAL OR AT LEAST 6” BELOW THE PREDICTED

FROST DEPTH, WHICHEVER IS SHALLOWER.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL EXTEND JUST ABOVE THE SURFACE GRADE IN LAWN OR LANDSCAPE AREAS WITH THE FROST

SLEEVE TERMINATING AT THE GRADE SURFACE.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL EXTEND TO 4 INCHES BELOW SURFACE GRADE IN PAVED SURFACES WITH A ZURN

(Z-1474-N) HEAVY DUTY CLEANOUT HOUSING PLACED OVER THE TOP OF THE CLEANOUT FLUSH WITH THE SURFACE GRADE.    IN PAVED SURFACES, THE FROST

SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE IN A CONCRETE PAD AT LEAST 6” THICK AND EXTENDING AT LEAST 9” FROM THE SLEEVE ON ALL SIDES, SLOPING AWAY FROM THE

SLEEVE.  THE CLEANOUT HOUSING SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED PER MANUFACTURERS REQUIREMENTS.

F. ALL PROPOSED WATER PIPE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE

PROPOSED PLANSET.  6' MINIMUM COVER SHALL BE PROVIDED OVER ALL WATER PIPING UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.

G. ALL PROPOSED HDPE STORM PIPE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE

PROPOSED PLANSET.  ALL CONCRETE STORM PIPING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A: ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE

ON C0.1 OF THE PROPOSED PLANSET.  ALL PROPOSED STORM PIPE BELOW BUILDINGS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN TABLE A:

ALLOWABLE PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ON C0.1 OF THE PROPOSED PLANSET. SEE UTILITY PLANS FOR ALL STORM PIPE MATERIAL TYPES TO BE USED.  PIPE

SHALL BE PLACED MIN. 8' HORIZONTALLY FROM FOUNDATION WALLS.

H. SANITARY, STORM, AND WATER UTILITY PIPE INVERTS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITHIN 0.10' OF DESIGN INVERT ELEVATIONS ASSUMING PIPE SLOPE AND

SEPARATION IS MAINTAINED PER THE UTILITY DESIGN PLANS AND STATE REQUIREMENTS.

I. SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN SANITARY SERVICE TO A POINT WHICH IS A MINIMUM OF 5' FROM THE EXTERIOR WALL OF THE FOUNDATION.  SITE

UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN STORM SEWER FOR INTERNALLY DRAINED BUILDINGS TO A POINT WHICH IS A MINIMUM OF 5' FROM THE EXTERIOR WALL

OF THE FOUNDATION.  SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN DOWNSPOUT LEADS TO BUILDING FOUNDATION AND UP 6” ABOVE SURFACE GRADE FOR

CONNECTION TO DOWNSPOUT.  ALL DOWNSPOUT LOCATIONS SHOULD BE VERIFIED WITH ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND DOWNSPOUT CONTRACTOR/GC

PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF DOWNSPOUT LEADS.  DOWNSPOUT LEADS SHALL NOT UNDERMINE BUILDING FOUNDATIONS.  SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL

RUN WATER SERVICE TO A POINT WITHIN THE FOUNDATION SPECIFIED BY THE PLUMBING PLANS.  CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP WATER SERVICE 12” ABOVE

FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION.

J. ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH PLASTIC COATED TRACER WIRE (10 TO 14 GAUGE SOLID COPPER, OR COPPER COATED STEEL WIRE).  PLASTIC WIRE

MAY BE TAPED TO PLASTIC WATER OR SEWER PIPE.  IF ATTACHED, THE TRACER WIRE SHALL BE SECURED EVERY 6 TO 20 FEET AND AT ALL BENDS.  TRACER WIRE

SHALL HAVE ACCESS POINTS AT LEAST EVERY 300 FEET.

K. ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED PER STATE, LOCAL, AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS.  WATER, SANITARY, AND STORM SEWER SHALL BE INSTALLED PER

"STANDARD SPECIFICATION FOR SEWER AND WATER CONSTRUCTION IN WISCONSIN". THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING STATE

PLUMBING REVIEW APPROVAL.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL OTHER PERMITS REQUIRED TO INSTALL WATER, SANITARY AND STORM

SEWER.

L. SEE PLANS FOR ALL OTHER UTILITY SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS.



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.0

CIVIL EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - OVERALL

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.0A

CIVIL EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.0B

CIVIL EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.0C

CIVIL EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.0D

CIVIL EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
ST

AK
EO

U
T 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
:

VE
R

IF
Y 

ST
AT

IO
N

 F
O

R
 IN

LE
T

LO
C

AT
IO

N
. R

EF
ER

 T
O

 S
TA

KE
O

U
T 

PO
LI

C
Y

FO
R

 S
TA

KE
O

U
T 

LO
C

AT
IO

N
 A

N
D

 O
FF

SE
TS

.

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.1

CIVIL SITE PLAN - OVERALL/KEYPLAN

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.1A

CIVIL SITE PLAN - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.1B

CIVIL SITE PLAN - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.1C

CIVIL SITE PLAN - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.1D

CIVIL SITE PLAN - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.2A

CIVIL GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.2B

CIVIL GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.2C

CIVIL GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.2D

CIVIL GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.3A

CIVIL UTILITY PLAN - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.3B

CIVIL UTILITY PLAN - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.3C

CIVIL UTILITY PLAN - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.3D

CIVIL UTILITY PLAN - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.4A

CIVIL LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.4B

CIVIL LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ST
AK

EO
U

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

:
VE

R
IF

Y 
ST

AT
IO

N
 F

O
R

 IN
LE

T
LO

C
AT

IO
N

. R
EF

ER
 T

O
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
PO

LI
C

Y
FO

R
 S

TA
KE

O
U

T 
LO

C
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

FF
SE

TS
.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.4C

CIVIL LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.4D

CIVIL LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C2.0

CIVIL DETAILS

NOV. 4, 2021

NOV. 22, 2021

DEC. 22, 2021



A2.3D

A2.3C

A2.2

A

A2.2

B

©2020 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

COLLABORATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

PRELIMINARY DATES

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

1
1
/5

/2
0
2
1
 1

:1
5
:4

0
 P

M

C
:\

U
se

rs
\d

a
n

ie
ls

l\
D

o
c
u

m
e
n

ts
\2

1
1
3
2
6
0
_A

rc
h

_C
e
n

tr
a
l_

V
_2

0
2
1
_d

a
n

ie
l.
sl

H
X

Y
4
3
.r

v
t

W
IS

C
O

N
SI

N
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
U

TT
IN

G
 F

A
C

IL
IT

Y 
FO

R
:

SA
P

U
TO

 C
H

EE
SE

 U
SA

, I
N

C
.

SO
U

TH
 2

7
TH

 A
N

D
 W

ES
T 

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A

D
  ●

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I

NOV. 4, 2021

A2.0
ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES

2113260

PERSPECTIVE VIEW LOOKING SOUTHWEST - INTERSECTION OF 27TH AND OAKWOOD DRIVE

NORTH SCALE: 1" = 60'-0"

ELEVATION KEY PLANISOMETRIC VIEW LOOKING NORTHWEST



FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/WALL

137'-6"

INSULATED HOLLOW METAL 

DOOR - PAINTED TO MATCH 

WALL PANEL (TYP.)

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

HORIZONTAL SPANNING 

INSULATED METAL WALL 

PANELS 

INSULATED OVERHEAD DOOR 

w/ DOCK SEALS (TYP.)

GALV. METAL STAIR & RAILING 

(TYP.)

PREFINISHED METAL SCUPPER 

BOX w/ ADJACENT OVERFLOW 

& DOWNSPOUT (TYP.)

T/WALL

132'-6"

T/WALL

137'-6"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/WALL

137'-6"

T/WALL

127'-0"

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

PREFINISHED ALUMINUM 

STOREFRONT WINDOW w/ 

INSULATED GLAZING

COVERED WALKWAY

INSULATED PRECAST WALL 

PANELS WITH INTEGRATED 

PIGMENT

CANOPY w/ PREFINISHED 

METAL FASCIA & COPING 

(TYP.)

STONE VENEER PIER w/ 

PRECAST CAP

PREFINISHED METAL SCUPPER 

BOX w/ ADJACENT OVERFLOW 

& DOWNSPOUT (TYP.)

COVERED WALKWAY

STONE VENEER PIER w/ 

PRECAST CAP

CANOPY w/ PREFINISHED 

METAL FASCIA & COPING 

(TYP.)

STONE VENEER KNEE 

WALL w/ PRECAST CAP

INSULATED HOLLOW METAL 

DOOR - PAINTED TO MATCH 

WALL PANEL (TYP.)

PREFINISHED ALUMINUM 

STOREFRONT ENTRY w/ 

INSULATED GLAZING

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

HORIZONTAL SPANNING 

INSULATED METAL WALL 

PANELS 

5
'-
0
"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/WALL

137'-6"

T/WALL

137'-6"

T/WALL

132'-6"

T/WALL

127'-0"

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

PREFINISHED ALUMINUM 

STOREFRONT WINDOW w/ 

INSULATED GLAZING

COVERED WALKWAY

INSULATED PRECAST WALL 

PANELS WITH INTEGRATED 

PIGMENT

CANOPY w/ PREFINISHED 

METAL FASCIA & COPING 

(TYP.)

STONE VENEER PIER w/ 

PRECAST CAP

PREFINISHED METAL SCUPPER 

BOX w/ ADJACENT OVERFLOW 

& DOWNSPOUT (TYP.)

COVERED WALKWAY

STONE VENEER PIER w/ 

PRECAST CAP

STONE VENEER KNEE 

WALL w/ PRECAST CAP

INSULATED HOLLOW METAL 

DOOR - PAINTED TO MATCH 

WALL PANEL (TYP.)

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

HORIZONTAL SPANNING 

INSULATED METAL WALL PANELS 

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/WALL

137'-6"
T/WALL

132'-6"

PREFINISHED METAL SCUPPER 

BOX w/ ADJACENT OVERFLOW 

& DOWNSPOUT (TYP.)

INSULATED HOLLOW METAL 

DOOR - PAINTED TO MATCH 

WALL PANEL (TYP.)

PREFINISHED METAL 

COPING (TYP.)

HORIZONTAL SPANNING 

INSULATED METAL WALL PANELS 

INSULATED OVERHEAD DOOR 

w/ DOCK SEALS (TYP.)

GALV. METAL STAIR & RAILING 

(TYP.)

INSULATED OVERHEAD DOOR 

(TYP.)

T/WALL

137'-6 1/2"

AIR HANDLING UNIT SET ON 

GALV. FRAME (TYP.)

ROOF TOP MECHANICAL

A

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF-MESA

COLOR: SANDSTONE

B

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF LIGHT MESA

COLOR: BROWNSTONE

C
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

D
PRECAST ACCENT BAND

COLOR: WATER WASH #2879 TAN

E

PRECAST ACCENT BAND

EXPOSED AGGREGATE

COLOR: TBD

F
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

G
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: TBD

H
METAL CANOPY

COLOR: SAPUTO RED

J
METAL TRIM

COLOR: RED

K

ALUMINUM FRAME SYSTEM

COLOR: #X DARK BRONZE 

ANODIZE

EXTERIOR FINISH KEY

©2020 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

COLLABORATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

PRELIMINARY DATES

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

1
1
/5

/2
0
2
1
 1

:1
5
:5

3
 P

M

C
:\

U
se

rs
\d

a
n

ie
ls

l\
D

o
c
u

m
e
n

ts
\2

1
1
3
2
6
0
_A

rc
h

_C
e
n

tr
a
l_

V
_2

0
2
1
_d

a
n

ie
l.
sl

H
X

Y
4
3
.r

v
t

W
IS

C
O

N
SI

N
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
U

TT
IN

G
 F

A
C

IL
IT

Y 
FO

R
:

SA
P

U
TO

 C
H

EE
SE

 U
SA

, I
N

C
.

SO
U

TH
 2

7
TH

 A
N

D
 W

ES
T 

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A

D
  ●

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I

NOV. 4, 2021

A2.1
ARCHITECTURAL EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

2113260

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

EAST ELEVATION

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

WEST ELEVATION



FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/ CANOPY
115'-6"

T/WALL
137'-6"

T/WALL
132'-6" F

G

C

C

C

C

J

M

T/WALL
132'-6"

A

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF-MESA

COLOR: SANDSTONE

B

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF LIGHT MESA

COLOR: BROWNSTONE

C
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

D
PRECAST ACCENT BAND

COLOR: WATER WASH #2879 TAN

E

PRECAST ACCENT BAND

EXPOSED AGGREGATE

COLOR: TBD

F
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

G
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: TBD

H
METAL CANOPY

COLOR: SAPUTO RED

J
METAL TRIM

COLOR: RED

K

ALUMINUM FRAME SYSTEM

COLOR: #X DARK BRONZE 

ANODIZE

EXTERIOR FINISH KEY

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

H

A3.5
_________

T/WALL
105'-11 1/8"

B

A

B

A

A

B

T/WALL
137'-6"

J

A

J

2

A3.1
_________

©2020 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

COLLABORATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

PRELIMINARY DATES

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

1
1
/5

/2
0
2
1
 1

:1
5
:5

7
 P

M

C
:\

U
se

rs
\d

a
n

ie
ls

l\
D

o
c
u

m
e
n

ts
\2

1
1
3
2
6
0
_A

rc
h

_C
e
n

tr
a
l_

V
_2

0
2
1
_d

a
n

ie
l.
sl

H
X

Y
4
3
.r

v
t

W
IS

C
O

N
SI

N
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
U

TT
IN

G
 F

A
C

IL
IT

Y 
FO

R
:

SA
P

U
TO

 C
H

EE
SE

 U
SA

, I
N

C
.

SO
U

TH
 2

7
TH

 A
N

D
 W

ES
T 

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A

D
  ●

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I

NOV. 4, 2021

A2.2
ARCHITECTURAL ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

2113260

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

ELEVATION - ENLARGED NORTH OFFICE

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

ELEVATION - ENLARGED NORTH WAREHOUSE

MATCH LINE



FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/WALL

127'-0"

A B

B

B

B

A

J

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

T/ CANOPY
115'-6"

T/WALL

137'-6"

T/WALL

132'-4"

EE

J

D

C

D

C

E

E

H

J

D

C

D

C

J

G

?

?G

G

J

A

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF-MESA

COLOR: SANDSTONE

B

INSULATED METAL PANEL (CLADDING)

CF LIGHT MESA

COLOR: BROWNSTONE

C
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

D
PRECAST ACCENT BAND

COLOR: WATER WASH #2879 TAN

E

PRECAST ACCENT BAND

EXPOSED AGGREGATE

COLOR: TBD

F
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: SANDBLAST #2879 TAN

G
PRECAST CONCRETE

COLOR: TBD

H
METAL CANOPY

COLOR: SAPUTO RED

J
METAL TRIM

COLOR: RED

K

ALUMINUM FRAME SYSTEM

COLOR: #X DARK BRONZE 

ANODIZE

EXTERIOR FINISH KEY

©2020 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

COLLABORATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

PRELIMINARY DATES

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

1
1
/5

/2
0
2
1
 1

:1
6
:0

6
 P

M

C
:\

U
se

rs
\d

a
n

ie
ls

l\
D

o
c
u

m
e
n

ts
\2

1
1
3
2
6
0
_A

rc
h

_C
e
n

tr
a
l_

V
_2

0
2
1
_d

a
n

ie
l.
sl

H
X

Y
4
3
.r

v
t

W
IS

C
O

N
SI

N
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
U

TT
IN

G
 F

A
C

IL
IT

Y 
FO

R
:

SA
P

U
TO

 C
H

EE
SE

 U
SA

, I
N

C
.

SO
U

TH
 2

7
TH

 A
N

D
 W

ES
T 

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A

D
  ●

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I

NOV. 4, 2021

A2.3
ARCHITECTURAL ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

2113260SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A2.3

ELEVATION - ENLARGED EAST WAREHOUSED

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A2.3

ELEVATION - ENLARGED EAST OFFICEC

MATCH LINE



MAUSTON

23MONTELLO

36

12

151

MILWAUKEEMADISON

51

94

94

94

43

90

90

90

94

43

41

GREEN BAY

APPLETON

RACINE

KENOSHA

SHEBOYGAN

MANITOWOC

FOND DU LAC

OSHKOSH

SUPERIOR

WAUSAU

LA CROSSE

EAU CLAIRE

53

2

ASHLAND

STEVENS POINT

141

8

RHINELANDER

WISCONSIN

PARK

FALLS

13

RAPIDS

TOMAH

11

LAKE

RICE

-

-

PF.

REINFORCING

TOP PLATET.P.
TOP OF STEELT.O. STL.

GENERAL CONTRACTORG.C.

FINISH SYSTEM
EXTERIOR INSULATIONE.I.F.S.

ENG. ENGINEER

HR. HOUR

BRG. BEARING

P.D.F. POWER DRIVEN FASTENER

ACOUS.
A/C
A.F.F.
ALUM.
ALT.
APPROX.
ARCH.
ASPH.
A.B.

ADD.

APT.
@
AVE.
AGGR.

BD.
BLDG.

BLK.
BLK'G
B.O.J.

B.W.

BM.

BRK
B.T.U.
B.O.W.
B.O.C.

CAB.
CLKG.
C.I.
CLG.
CEM.
CTR.
C/C

CL.
C.T.
C.O.
CLR.
CLO.
COL.
COMP.

CONC.
CONT.
CONTR.
C.B.
CONN.
CTSK.
CORR.

C.J.

DBL.
DEG.
DET.
DIAG.
DIA. / ∅
DIM.
do.
DIV.
DR.
DN.
DS.
DWG.
DEPT.
D.F.

DISP.
D.W.
EA.

E.J.
EL.
ELEC. / E
ELEV.
ENCL.

E.W.
E.W.C.
EQ.
EQUIP.
EXCAV.
EXIST.
EXT.
EXP.
EMER.
EXPO.

HD.
HDR.
HTR.
HGT.
HOR.
H.W.
H.C.

HDWD.
HDWR.
H.M.

LAM.
LAV.

LT.

GA.

G.I.
GL.
G.M.
GYP.
G.B.
GALV.
GR.

INSUL.
INST.
INT.
INV.
JST.

JAN.
KIT.

MAX.

MIN.
MECH.
MTL.
MFR.
M.H.
MISC.
M.S.
M.B.

MAT'L
MEMB
MEZZ.
M.C.

N.I.C.
NO. /#
N.T.S.
NOM.
NAT.

OF.
O.F.S.
O.F.SH.
OA.
OPP.
O.C.
O.H.
O.F.C.
OPN'G

PL.
PLAS.
PLYWD.
PR.

PC.
PLB.

Lb.

PREFAB.

O/O

R.
R.O.

RAD.

R.D.
REF.

REQ'D.
RM.
REV.
REG.
REINF. /

SAN.
SCHED.
SEC.
SERV.

SHT.
SHT'G.
SID'G.

SIM.

SPEC.
SQ.
STD.

STL.
STOR.

STRUC.
SYS.

S.C.
SH.

SUSP.
T.
T.O.S.

T&B.
T.C.
TEL.
T&G.
THK.

T.S.
TYP.
TEMP.
TOT.

T.O.P.

U.N.O.

T.O.F.

UTIL.
VERT.
VEST.
V.C.T.

V
V.T.R.

VENT.
VOL.

W/
W.C.

WD.

W

W.H.
W.S.
WDW.
W.I.
W.R.
W.C.

W.P.

YD.

AIR CONDITIONING
ABOVE FINISH FLOOR

ALTERNATE
APPROXIMATELY
ARCHITECT
ASPHALT
ANCHOR BOLT

ADDITION

APARTMENT

ACOUSTICAL

ALUMINUM

AT
AVENUE
AGGREGATE

BOARD
BUILDING

BLOCK
BLOCKING
BOTTOM OF JOIST
BOTTOM
BOTH WAY

BEAM

BRICK
BRITISH THERMAL UNITS
BOTTOM OF WALL
BOTTOM OF CURB

CABINET
CAULKING
CAST IRON
CEILING
CEMENT
CENTER
CENTER TO CENTER

CENTER LINE
CERAMIC TILE
CLEAN OUT
CLEAR
CLOSET
COLUMN

CONCRETE
CONTINUOUS
CONTRACTOR
CATCH BASIN
CONNECTION
COUNTER-SINK

CONSTRUCTION JOINT/

DOUBLE
DEGREE
DETAIL
DIAGONAL
DIAMETER
DIMENSION
DITTO
DIVISION
DOOR
DOWN
DOWNSPOUT
DRAWING
DEPARTMENT
DRINKING FOUNTAIN

DISPENSER
DRYWALL
EACH

EXPANSION JOINT
ELEVATION
ELECTRICAL
ELEVATOR
ENCLOSED

EACH WAY
ELECTRIC WATER COOLER
EQUAL
EQUIPMENT
EXCAVATE
EXISTING
EXTERIOR
EXPANSION
EMERGENCY
EXPOSED

HC. HANDICAPPED
HEAD
HEADER
HEATER
HEIGHT
HORIZONTAL
HOT WATER
HOLLOW CORE

HARDWOOD
HARDWARE
HOLLOW METAL

HEATING, VENTILATING
& AIR CONDITIONING

LAMINATED
LAVATORY

LIGHT

GAUGE

GALVANIZED IRON
GLASS
GAS METER
GYPSUM
GYPSUM BOARD
GALVANIZED
GRADE

INSULATED
INSTALL
INTERIOR

JOIST
JOINT
JANITOR
KITCHEN

JT.

MAXIMUM

MINIMUM
MECHANICAL
METAL
MANUFACTURE
MAN HOLE
MISCELLANEOUS
MACHINE SCREW
MACHINE BOLT

MATERIAL
MEMBRANE
MEZZANINE
MISCELLANEOUS CHANNEL

NOT IN CONTRACT
NUMBER
NOT TO SCALE
NOMINAL
NATURAL

OVERFLOW
OUTSIDE FACE OF STUD
OUTSIDE FACE OF SHEATHING
OVERALL
OPPOSITE
ON CENTER

OUTSIDE FACE OF CONCRETE
OPENING

PLATE
PLASTER
PLYWOOD
PAIR

PIECE
PLUMBING

POUND

PREFABRICATED

OUT TO OUT

RISER
ROUGH OPENING

RADIUS

ROOF DRAIN
REFERENCE

REQUIRED
ROOM
REVISION
REGISTER

SANITARY SEWER
SCHEDULE
SECTION
SERVICE

SHEET
SHEATHING
SIDING

SIMILAR

SPECIFICATION
SQUARE
STANDARD

STEEL

STAIR
STORAGE

STRUCTURAL
SYSTEM
SERVICE SINK
SOLID CORE
SHELF
STAINLESS STEEL
SUSPENDED
TREAD
TOP OF STUD

TOP & BOTTOM
TOP OF CURB
TELEPHONE
TONGUE & GROOVE
THICK

TUBE STEEL
TYPICAL
TEMPERED
TOTAL

TOP OF PIER

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE

TOP OF FOOTING

UTILITIES

T.O.W.

VERTICAL
VESTIBULE
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE

VALVE
VENT THOUGH ROOF
VENT PIPE
VENTILATION
VOLUME

WITH
WATER CLOSET

WOOD
WATER HEATER
WEATHER STRIPPING
WINDOW
WROUGHT IRON
WEATHER RESISTANT
WATER COOLER

WATER PROOF

YARD

FURRING
FIRE-PROOFING

FACE OF CONCRETE
FLAT BAR
FLOOR CLEAN OUT

FACE OF STUD
FIRE RATED
FIXTURE
FABRICATED
FURNACE
FRAME
FRAMING
FOOTING
FOOT/FEET
FLUORESCENT
FLASHING
FLOOR
FINISH

FINISH FLOOR

FIRE EXTINGUISHER
FOUNDATION
FLOOR DRAIN

FURR.
FRPR.

F.O.C.
F.B.
F.C.O.

F.O.S.
F.R.
FIX.
FAB.
FURN.
FR.
FRM'G
FTG.
FT.
FLUOR.
FLSH.
FLR.
FIN.

F.F.

FEX.
FOUND.
F.D.

B.L. BUILDING LINE

B.M. BENCH MARK

BOT.

COMPOSITION/COMPACT

CORRUGATED
C.W. COLD WATER

G GAS

HVAC

INVERT

OVERHEAD

P.L.

ST. STORM SEWER
STM. STEAM

STR.

S.S.

T.O.B. TOP OF BEARING
TOP OF WALL

VT.

WATER

W.C.O. WALL CLEAN OUT

SS

& AND

ADJ. ADJUSTABLE

AUTO. AUTOMATIC
B.F. BARRIER FREE

CA CARPET

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

FEC. FIRE EXTINGUISHER CABINET

F.O.B. FACE OF BRICK

F.O. CMU FACE OF CMU

FG. FINISH GRADE

F/R FIRE RESISTANT

HB HOSE BIB

I.D. IDENTIFICATION

LOUV. LOUVER

MACH. MACHINE

MAINT. MAINTENANCE

MR MOISTURE RESISTANT
MTD. MOUNTED

OF/CI OWNER FURNISHED
CONTRACTOR INSTALLED

OF/OI OWNER FURNISHED
OWNER INSTALLED

PA. PAINT

PREFINISHED

PLASTIC LAMINATE

P.T. PRESSURE TREATED
PREH. PREHUNG

RS RELIEF SCUPPER

SPKLR. SPRINKLER

WC WALL COVERING

W.W.F. WELDED WIRE FABRIC

UNFIN. UNFINISHED

SECUR. SECURITY

R/F

CONTROL JOINT

(ABBREVIATIONS PERTAIN TO CIVIL, ARCHITECTURAL, & STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS ONLY)

FIELD VERIFYF.V.

V.I.F. VERIFY IN FIELD

R.F.E. REGIONAL FLOODPLAIN
ELEVATION

SFRS. SEISMIC FORCE
RESISTING SYSTEM

MWFRS. MAIN WIND FORCE
RESISTING SYSTEM

CALLOUT/DETAIL REFERENCE

SECTION/DETAIL REFERENCE

KEYED NOTE

DRAWING/DETAIL IDENTIFICATION

AREA INCLUDED 

IN DETAIL

DETAIL NUMBER

SHEET NUMBER ON 

WHICH DETAIL IS 

LOCATED

DETAIL NUMBER

SHEET NUMBER ON 

WHICH DETAIL IS 

LOCATED

DIRECTION OF CUT

NOTE NUMBER - SEE KEYNOTE 

LEGEND ON SAME SHEET

POINTS TO LOCATION 

AFFECTED BY NOTE

1

2

SHEET NUMBER OF 

ELEVATIONS

ELEVATION NUMBER

DIRECTION OF VIEW

INTERIOR ELEVATION REFERENCE

FLOOR LINE

100'-0"

ITEM OR OBJECT 

BEING DEFINED

ELEVATION 

ELEVATION MARKER

AD1

CB1

REVISION CLOUD

GRAPHICALLY OUTLINES 

CHANGES 

CLASSIFIES WHICH SEQUENCE THE 

CHANGES BELONG TO

(ISSUE DATES ARE LISTED ON SHEET 

BORDERS & SHEET INDEX)

REVISION

ADDENDUM

CONSTRUCTION BULLETIN

A1.0

1

VIEW NAME
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A1.0

1

1

A1.0

1

DETAIL NUMBER

SHEET NUMBER ON 

WHICH DETAIL IS 

LOCATED

1

A1.0

NORTH

ABBREVIATIONS LOCATION MAP SYMBOLS LEGEND

PROJECT LOCATION

FRANKLIN, WI  53123

©2020 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

COLLABORATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

PRELIMINARY DATES

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

1
1
/5

/2
0
2
1
 1

:1
6
:2

2
 P

M

C
:\

U
se

rs
\d

a
n

ie
ls

l\
D

o
c
u

m
e
n

ts
\2

1
1
3
2
6
0
_A

rc
h

_C
e
n

tr
a
l_

V
_2

0
2
1
_d

a
n

ie
l.
sl

H
X

Y
4
3
.r

v
t

W
IS

C
O

N
SI

N
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
U

TT
IN

G
 F

A
C

IL
IT

Y 
FO

R
:

SA
P

U
TO

 C
H

EE
SE

 U
SA

, I
N

C
.

SO
U

TH
 2

7
TH

 A
N

D
 W

ES
T 

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 R

O
A

D
  ●

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I

NOV. 4, 2021

T1.0
TITLE SHEET

2113260

SAPUTO CHEESE USA INC.
WISCONSIN PACKAGING AND CUTTING FACILITY:

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

CORNER OF S. 27TH STREET AND OAKWOOD ROAD - LOOKING SOUTHWEST

NUMBER SHEET NAME / DESCRIPTION SHEET ISSUE DATE

LATEST SHEET REVISION

NUMBER DATE

GENERAL

T1.0 TITLE SHEET PRELIM

CIVIL

C0.1 CIVIL COVER AND SPECIFICATION SHEET PRELIM

C1.0 EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - OVERALL 11/05/21

C1.0A EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA A PRELIM

C1.0B EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA B PRELIM

C1.0C EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA C PRELIM

C1.0D EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN - AREA D PRELIM

C1.1 SITE PLAN - OVERALL/KEYPLAN PRELIM

C1.1A SITE PLAN - AREA A PRELIM

C1.1B SITE PLAN - AREA B PRELIM

C1.1C SITE PLAN - AREA C PRELIM

C1.1D SITE PLAN - AREA D PRELIM

C1.2A GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA A PRELIM

C1.2B GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA B PRELIM

C1.2C GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA C PRELIM

C1.2D GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN - AREA D PRELIM

C1.3A UTILITY PLAN - AREA A PRELIM

C1.3B UTILITY PLAN - AREA B PRELIM

C1.3C UTILITY PLAN - AREA C PRELIM

C1.3D UTILITY PLAN - AREA D PRELIM

C1.4A LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA A PRELIM

C1.4B LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA B PRELIM

C1.4C LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA C PRELIM

C1.4D LANDSCAPE AND RESTORATION PLAN - AREA D PRELIM

C2.0 DETAILS PRELIM

ARCHITECTURAL

A2.0 ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES PRELIM

A2.1 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS PRELIM

A2.2 ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS PRELIM

A2.3 ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS PRELIM

ELECTRICAL

PXP1 SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - OVERALL PRELIM

PXP1A SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA A PRELIM

PXP1B SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA B PRELIM

PXP1C SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA C PRELIM

PXP1D SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA D PRELIM

PXP2 CUT SHEETS & DETAILS PRELIM

SHEET INDEX

S. 27TH STREET TRUCK EXIT - LOOKING NORTH OAKWOOD TRUCK ENTRY - LOOKING SOUTH OFFICE PERSPECTIVE



0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.7

2.3

1.6

2.0

1.7

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.2

1.8

1.1

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.5

1.9

2.5

2.6

2.4

1.7

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.2

1.8

2.4

3.3

2.7

2.2

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.6

1.7

2.5

2.6

1.7

1.6

1.0

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.6

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.0

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.1

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.8

1.6

1.0

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

3.6

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.4

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.3

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.5

2.0

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

2.0

2.4

3.2

1.3

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.7

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.5

2.0

3.9

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.3

3.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

3.1

1.4

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.2

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.3

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.0

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.5

2.3

2.7

2.3

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.7

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.3

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.0

1.6

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.0

3.0

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.4

1.8

0.1

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.1

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.1

1.7

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

2.2

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.6

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

0.9

2.7

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

2.2

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.3

3.5

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.0

3.5

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.0

2.7

1.1

1.2

2.0

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.7

1.1

1.0

1.2

2.6

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.6

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.7

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.9

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.9

0.8

1.0

1.3

2.4

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.0

1.4

1.1

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

1.6

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

3.1

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.5

1.1

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

1.9

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.5

2.5

1.8

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.5

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.6

0.9

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.2

0.4

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

3.9

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.2

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.3

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.7

1.8

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.2

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.2

0.1

0.1

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.3

0.1

0.1

1.3

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.0

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.1

2.3

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

1.4

1.2

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.1

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.6

1.7

1.3

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.2

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.1

2.0

1.4

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.9

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.8

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

1.7

1.4

0.7

0.9

1.9

3.3

2.8

2.7

2.2

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.7

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.7

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.9

1.8

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

1.5

1.2

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.0

0.5

4.8

5.6

5.1

0.6

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.9

2.4

1.3

12.1

12.4

1.6

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.8

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.8

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

1.5

1.1

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.9

1.3

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.6

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.2

0.9

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.7

0.4

1.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

4.1

0.4

2.3

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.3

0.4

2.4

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.4

0.5

2.5

1.2

1.0

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.8

0.5

2.5

1.2

0.9

1.1

1.2

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

0.5

2.4

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.0

1.2

0.6

0.6

2.0

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.3

1.7

1.7

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.5

0.6

0.7

1.7

3.0

1.3

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

2.1

1.1

0.9

1.7

3.3

4.7

4.9

5.2

5.1

4.9

4.0

2.6

1.5

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.8

2.7

3.0

2.7

1.6

1.0

0.8

1.1

1.6

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.2

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.1

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.8

1.7

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

2.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.2

1.8

1.4

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

1.8

2.1

1.6

1.0

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.5

2.3

1.8

1.2

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.5

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.6

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.8

2.5

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.4

3.0

3.7

3.9

3.6

3.0

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

2.1

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.5

1.9

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.1

1.8

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.2

1.2

1.7

2.0

2.0

2.1

1.6

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.4

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.9

2.3

2.2

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.5

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.3

1.7

2.1

2.8

4.0

3.8

2.6

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.7

1.9

2.5

3.5

4.5

4.2

3.0

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.5

1.9

2.3

3.1

4.4

3.8

2.6

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.7

3.7

4.5

3.3

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.4

2.6

3.0

3.5

4.4

4.4

3.5

3.2

2.5

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.3

2.7

2.6

3.4

4.1

4.5

3.8

3.3

2.4

2.5

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.7

1.4

1.9

2.3

3.0

4.0

4.3

3.8

2.9

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.8

3.6

4.3

4.1

3.1

2.5

1.9

1.5

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.3

4.3

4.5

3.9

3.0

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.4

3.0

3.8

4.5

4.4

3.5

2.8

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.4

2.5

3.0

3.6

4.3

4.3

3.6

3.1

2.4

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.6

3.3

4.1

4.4

3.8

3.2

2.4

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.2

0.8

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.1

3.5

3.7

3.5

3.0

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.9

2.4

2.9

3.4

3.8

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.9

4.0

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.7

3.1

3.6

3.9

3.9

3.5

2.9

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.7

4.3

4.3

3.7

2.9

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.6

3.4

4.1

4.3

3.9

3.1

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.8

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.6

2.9

2.9

2.9

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

2.1

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.1

3.1

3.0

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.6

3.1

3.6

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.4

2.9

3.4

3.6

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.3

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.9

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.8

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.9

1.7

1.5

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

1.0

1.6

2.0

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

1.0

1.8

2.4

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.6

3.2

3.1

3.2

3.4

2.5

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.7

2.6

3.3

3.3

3.7

4.1

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.7

2.6

3.3

3.3

3.7

4.0

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.6

3.2

3.2

3.1

3.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.4

2.8

2.8

2.6

2.3

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.4

2.1

1.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.3

1.6

1.8

1.9

1.6

1.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.2

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.2

0.5

1.0

1.3

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.2

2.0

2.0

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.2

0.7

0.2

0.9

3.0

2.6

3.9

2.6

2.2

2.6

2.4

2.0

2.0

2.6

3.1

2.9

2.2

1.1

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.6

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.5

2.1

3.6

3.7

3.4

2.7

2.1

4.5

4.2

3.6

2.7

0.3

4.2

4.1

3.5

2.7

0.4

3.1

3.3

3.2

2.6

0.8

0.4

2.3

2.5

2.6

2.2

1.4

0.8

0.4

1.8

2.0

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.4

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.4

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.3

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.3

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.4

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

2.2

2.5

2.4

2.1

1.8

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

2.9

3.1

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

4.0

3.9

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.5

4.5

4.2

3.5

2.7

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.5

3.7

3.8

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

2.7

2.9

2.9

2.4

2.0

1.5

0.9

2.1

2.2

2.4

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.1

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.4

2.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

2.5

2.7

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.6

1.2

3.2

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

4.4

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

3.4

3.5

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.5

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.3

3.6

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.3

3.9

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.1

3.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

2.4

2.5

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.2

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.2

0.9

4.1

3.9

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

4.4

4.2

3.5

2.7

2.1

3.6

3.8

3.4

2.6

2.7

3.0

2.9

2.4

2.1

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.0

2.7

2.8

2.7

2.4

3.5

3.5

3.3

2.6

4.4

4.1

3.5

2.6

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.6

3.2

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.4

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.7

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.1

1.8

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.5

2.0

1.4

4.0

3.9

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.3

4.3

4.2

3.5

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.6

1.8

3.6

3.8

3.5

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.4

2.7

3.1

3.0

2.7

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.7

2.8

2.8

2.8

2.6

2.3

1.8

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.9

2.5

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.3

2.2

2.1

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.9

3.2

3.5

3.6

3.6

3.4

3.2

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.0

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.0

1.9

2.0

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.8

3.0

3.5

4.0

3.8

3.3

2.8

2.3

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.5

3.5

4.5

4.3

2.9

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.6

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.1

2.6

2.8

2.9

2.5

3.7

3.7

3.5

2.8

4.4

3.8

3.0

4.2

4.2

3.7

3.0

3.0

3.3

3.4

2.9

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.5

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.0

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.6

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.0

1.3

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.4

2.8

3.0

3.4

4.2

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.7

3.5

3.9

4.4

5.8

4.4

3.8

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.8

5.7

8.1

5.4

4.8

3.8

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.0

5.5

8.7

5.4

5.0

3.9

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.8

3.7

4.2

4.9

6.8

4.7

4.1

3.7

2.8

2.1

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.6

3.1

3.3

3.8

4.8

3.7

3.3

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.5

1.4

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.8

3.6

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.2

3.1

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.5

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

2.5

3.0

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

4.4

6.3

2.1

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.3

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.4

2.6

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.5

3.0

3.2

3.7

4.3

3.5

3.2

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.7

1.7

2.4

2.9

3.7

4.2

4.8

6.0

4.5

4.0

3.6

2.9

2.4

1.9

1.6

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.0

6.2

8.2

5.5

5.0

3.9

3.1

2.5

1.7

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.1

6.5

8.5

5.6

5.1

3.9

3.1

1.7

2.4

3.0

3.8

4.3

5.2

6.6

4.7

4.2

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.3

2.1

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.5

3.6

3.6

3.4

3.2

2.7

2.0

1.7

2.4

2.7

3.2

3.4

4.1

4.8

3.8

3.5

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.5

2.7

3.1

3.4

3.8

3.9

3.4

2.9

2.5

2.0

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.8

2.9

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

2.5

3.4

4.6

4.6

3.5

2.4

1.9

1.7

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.7

3.4

2.5

2.4

2.2

2.1

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.5

3.0

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.4

1.7

1.8

2.0

1.9

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.6

3.2

2.4

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.7

3.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.7

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.4

4.3

3.4

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.1

1.6

1.7

2.3

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.3

5.6

4.2

3.8

3.4

2.8

2.2

1.6

1.6

2.3

3.0

4.0

4.8

5.4

7.9

5.3

4.8

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

4.1

5.2

5.6

5.3

5.2

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

3.8

4.6

5.2

7.3

5.0

4.5

3.8

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.5

4.0

5.2

3.9

3.5

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.1

3.9

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.6

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.9

3.8

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.6

3.2

3.4

3.8

5.0

3.8

3.4

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.8

4.3

4.9

7.1

5.0

4.3

3.7

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.1

5.1

8.8

5.1

5.1

4.0

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.8

5.5

8.0

5.4

4.8

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.4

5.7

4.3

3.8

3.5

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.1

2.4

2.8

3.1

3.4

4.2

3.3

3.0

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.5

3.4

2.5

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.9

2.2

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

3.3

2.4

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.9

3.1

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.5

1.1

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.5

3.9

5.2

3.9

3.5

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.8

4.4

5.1

7.3

5.1

4.4

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.0

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.1

5.1

8.8

5.4

5.1

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.7

5.3

7.8

5.2

4.7

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.7

4.2

5.5

4.1

3.7

3.3

2.7

2.1

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.9

3.2

4.0

3.1

2.9

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.6

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.6

2.1

2.2

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.0

2.0

1.9

2.3

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.7

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.8

2.1

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.7

2.8

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.6

2.4

2.9

2.6

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.9

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.6

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.0

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.5

3.3

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.3

2.2

2.1

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.6

2.6

3.1

3.3

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.4

3.4

3.2

3.2

3.0

3.4

3.0

2.6

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.5

2.5

3.4

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.4

3.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.2

2.0

2.4

2.8

3.1

3.5

4.4

3.6

3.2

3.1

2.7

2.5

2.2

2.2

2.3

2.6

2.9

3.2

3.4

4.0

4.2

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.0

4.0

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.4

4.0

3.4

3.1

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.5

4.3

3.8

3.3

3.3

3.1

3.1

2.9

2.9

2.9

3.0

2.9

3.2

4.0

3.1

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.4

2.1

2.7

3.5

3.9

4.5

6.0

4.8

4.1

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.9

4.3

5.4

5.8

4.8

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.5

4.8

6.0

5.3

4.4

3.8

3.2

2.7

2.1

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.4

6.0

5.0

4.3

4.0

3.5

3.3

3.0

3.1

3.3

3.7

3.7

4.1

5.4

4.0

3.5

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.4

2.2

2.8

3.8

4.9

5.5

8.3

6.0

5.0

4.2

3.2

2.7

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.5

5.3

7.2

7.8

5.8

5.2

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.3

5.8

8.0

7.1

5.3

4.5

3.3

2.7

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.9

3.7

4.8

5.4

8.1

6.4

5.1

4.5

3.6

3.3

3.0

3.2

3.5

4.2

4.7

5.3

7.6

5.2

4.5

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.4

2.2

2.9

3.9

5.0

5.6

8.5

6.1

5.0

4.2

3.2

2.7

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.6

5.3

7.5

8.1

5.9

5.4

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.4

5.9

8.0

7.3

5.4

4.5

3.3

2.7

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.9

3.7

5.0

5.4

8.4

6.6

5.1

4.5

3.6

3.2

2.9

3.2

3.5

4.3

5.3

6.1

5.9

5.1

3.9

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.6

2.2

2.8

3.7

4.1

4.6

6.5

4.9

4.2

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

4.0

4.7

5.8

6.2

4.9

4.6

4.4

4.3

4.3

4.4

4.6

4.9

6.1

5.7

4.5

3.9

3.2

2.7

2.1

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.6

4.1

4.6

6.5

5.2

4.5

4.1

3.5

3.2

3.0

3.2

3.5

4.2

4.8

5.3

7.6

5.2

4.6

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.4

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.9

2.3

2.7

3.6

4.5

4.9

4.5

3.6

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.6

3.0

3.2

3.6

4.6

3.8

3.3

3.1

2.8

2.6

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.7

3.0

3.3

3.6

4.3

4.5

3.9

4.0

3.9

4.0

4.0

3.9

3.9

3.9

4.4

4.3

3.4

3.2

2.8

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.6

3.0

3.3

3.6

4.6

4.0

3.5

3.4

3.2

3.1

3.0

3.1

3.3

3.7

3.8

4.1

5.4

4.0

3.6

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.4

2.4

2.2

2.0

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.7

4.5

5.0

4.5

3.7

2.8

2.8

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.5

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.4

2.3

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.2

3.5

3.1

3.3

3.3

3.4

3.4

3.3

3.3

3.1

3.4

3.1

2.7

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.7

3.5

2.8

2.8

2.8

2.7

2.8

2.7

2.9

2.9

3.0

3.0

3.2

4.0

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.8

2.2

3.0

2.8

3.8

4.5

5.2

4.5

3.8

2.7

3.0

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.9

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.7

3.0

2.5

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.9

2.7

2.2

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.9

2.4

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.5

2.4

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2

0.2

13.5

4.7

4.7

4.7

8.9

L24 @ 30'

L13 @ 30'

L12 @ 30'

L12 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10' WP1 @ 10' WP1 @ 10'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'
WP1 @ 10'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30' L24 @ 30'
L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L13 @ 30'
L12 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26' WP2 @ 26'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16' WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 10'

C16 @ 13'

C16 @ 13'

C16 @ 13'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L14 @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

WP2 @ 26'

L15 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

PROPOSED BUILDING ADDITION
310,485 SF
FF=736.00
ARCH FF=100.00

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - OVERALL
SCALE: 1" = 60'NORTH

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP1
SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - OVERALL

NOV. 4, 2021

060' 60' 120'



0.9

1.0

1.2

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.7

1.1

1.2

2.0

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.1

1.0

1.2

2.6

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.6

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.3

2.4

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.0

1.4

1.1

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.6

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

3.1

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.5

1.1

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.5

2.5

1.8

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.3

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.0

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.1

2.3

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.1

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.2

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

4.8

5.6

5.1

0.6

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.3

12.1

12.4

1.6

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.8

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.2

0.9

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

2.3

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

2.4

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

2.5

1.2

1.0

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

2.5

1.2

0.9

1.1

1.2

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

2.4

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.6

2.0

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

2.1

1.1

0.9

1.7

3.3

4.7

4.9

5.2

5.1

4.9

4.0

2.6

1.5

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.8

2.7

3.0

2.7

1.6

1.0

0.8

1.1

1.6

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.2

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.1

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

1.7

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.9

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.4

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.9

2.3

2.2

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.5

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.7

2.2

2.5

3.0

3.2

3.7

4.3

3.5

3.2

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.7

1.7

2.4

2.9

3.7

4.2

4.8

6.0

4.5

4.0

3.6

2.9

2.4

1.9

1.6

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.0

6.2

8.2

5.5

5.0

3.9

3.1

2.5

1.7

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.1

6.5

8.5

5.6

5.1

3.9

3.1

1.7

2.4

3.0

3.8

4.3

5.2

6.6

4.7

4.2

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.3

2.1

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.5

3.6

3.6

3.4

3.2

2.7

2.0

1.7

2.4

2.7

3.2

3.4

4.1

4.8

3.8

3.5

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.5

2.7

3.1

3.4

3.8

3.9

3.4

2.9

2.5

2.0

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.8

2.9

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

2.5

3.4

4.6

4.6

3.5

2.4

1.9

1.7

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.7

3.4

2.5

2.4

2.2

2.1

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.5

3.0

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.4

1.7

1.8

2.0

1.9

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.6

3.2

2.4

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.7

3.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.7

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.4

4.3

3.4

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.1

1.6

1.7

2.3

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.3

5.6

4.2

3.8

3.4

2.8

2.2

1.6

1.6

2.3

3.0

4.0

4.8

5.4

7.9

5.3

4.8

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

4.1

5.2

5.6

5.3

5.2

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

3.8

4.6

5.2

7.3

5.0

4.5

3.8

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.5

4.0

5.2

3.9

3.5

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.1

3.9

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.6

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.9

3.8

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.6

3.2

3.4

3.8

5.0

3.8

3.4

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.8

4.3

4.9

7.1

5.0

4.3

3.7

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.1

5.1

8.8

5.1

5.1

4.0

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.8

5.5

8.0

5.4

4.8

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.4

5.7

4.3

3.8

3.5

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.1

2.4

2.8

3.1

3.4

4.2

3.3

3.0

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.5

3.4

2.5

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.9

2.2

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

3.3

2.4

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.9

3.1

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.5

1.1

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.5

3.9

5.2

3.9

3.5

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.8

4.4

5.1

7.3

5.1

4.4

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.0

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.1

5.1

8.8

5.4

5.1

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.7

5.3

7.8

5.2

4.7

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.7

4.2

5.5

4.1

3.7

3.3

2.7

2.1

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.9

3.2

4.0

3.1

2.9

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.6

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.6

2.1

2.2

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.0

2.0

1.9

2.3

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.7

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.7

2.8

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.6

2.4

2.9

2.6

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.9

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.6

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.0

2.1

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.6

2.6

3.1

3.3

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.4

3.4

3.2

3.2

3.0

3.4

3.0

2.6

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.5

2.5

3.4

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.4

3.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.2

2.2

2.2

2.3

2.6

2.9

3.2

3.4

4.0

4.2

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.0

4.0

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.4

4.0

3.4

3.1

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.5

4.3

3.8

3.3

3.3

3.1

3.1

2.9

2.9

2.9

3.0

2.9

3.2

4.0

3.1

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.4

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.9

4.3

5.4

5.8

4.8

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.5

4.8

6.0

5.3

4.4

3.8

3.2

2.7

2.1

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.4

6.0

5.0

4.3

4.0

3.5

3.3

3.0

3.1

3.3

3.7

3.7

4.1

5.4

4.0

3.5

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.4

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.5

5.3

7.2

7.8

5.8

5.2

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.3

5.8

8.0

7.1

5.3

4.5

3.3

2.7

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.9

3.7

4.8

5.4

8.1

6.4

5.1

4.5

3.6

3.3

3.0

3.2

3.5

4.2

4.7

5.3

7.6

5.2

4.5

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.4

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.6

5.3

7.5

8.1

5.9

5.4

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.4

5.9

8.0

7.3

5.4

4.5

3.3

2.7

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.9

3.7

5.0

5.4

8.4

6.6

5.1

4.5

3.6

3.2

2.9

3.2

3.5

4.3

5.3

6.1

5.9

5.1

3.9

2.8

2.1

1.4

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

4.0

4.7

5.8

6.2

4.9

4.6

4.4

4.3

4.3

4.4

4.6

4.9

6.1

5.7

4.5

3.9

3.2

2.7

2.1

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.6

4.1

4.6

6.5

5.2

4.5

4.1

3.5

3.2

3.0

3.2

3.5

4.2

4.8

5.3

7.6

5.2

4.6

3.8

2.8

2.2

1.4

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.7

3.0

3.3

3.6

4.3

4.5

3.9

4.0

3.9

4.0

4.0

3.9

3.9

3.9

4.4

4.3

3.4

3.2

2.8

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.6

3.0

3.3

3.6

4.6

4.0

3.5

3.4

3.2

3.1

3.0

3.1

3.3

3.7

3.8

4.1

5.4

4.0

3.6

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.4

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.2

3.5

3.1

3.3

3.3

3.4

3.4

3.3

3.3

3.1

3.4

3.1

2.7

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.7

3.5

2.8

2.8

2.8

2.7

2.8

2.7

2.9

2.9

3.0

3.0

3.2

4.0

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.7

3.0

2.5

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.9

2.7

2.2

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.9

2.4

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.5

2.4

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

13.5

8.9

L13 @ 30'

WP1 @ 10' WP1 @ 10'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

C16 @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30' L24 @ 30'
L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

C
16

 @
 3

0'

WP1 @ 10'

C16 @ 13'

C16 @ 13'

C16 @ 13'

WP2 @ 26'

L24 @ 30'

L24 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

PROPOSED BUILDING ADDITION
310,485 SF
FF=736.00
ARCH FF=100.00

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA A
SCALE: 1" = 30'NORTH

030' 30' 60'

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP1A
SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA A

NOV. 4, 2021



0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.5

1.9

2.5

2.6

2.4

1.7

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.2

1.8

2.4

3.3

2.7

2.2

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.6

1.7

2.5

2.6

1.7

1.6

1.0

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.6

1.8

2.1

1.8

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.1

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.3

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

2.0

2.4

3.2

1.3

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.5

2.0

3.9

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.3

3.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

3.1

1.4

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.2

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.3

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.0

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.5

2.3

2.7

2.3

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.7

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.2

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.7

1.1

1.2

2.0

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.1

1.0

1.2

2.6

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.6

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.3

2.4

2.1

2.0

2.0

2.2

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.0

1.4

1.1

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.6

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

3.1

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.5

1.1

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.5

2.5

1.8

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.3

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.0

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

2.1

2.3

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.8

2.1

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.5

1.9

2.3

3.1

4.4

3.8

2.6

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.7

3.7

4.5

3.3

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.4

2.6

3.0

3.5

4.4

4.4

3.5

3.2

2.5

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.3

2.7

2.6

3.4

4.1

4.5

3.8

3.3

2.4

2.5

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.3

4.3

4.5

3.9

3.0

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.4

3.0

3.8

4.5

4.4

3.5

2.8

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.4

2.5

3.0

3.6

4.3

4.3

3.6

3.1

2.4

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.6

3.3

4.1

4.4

3.8

3.2

2.4

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.9

4.0

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.7

3.1

3.6

3.9

3.9

3.5

2.9

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.7

4.3

4.3

3.7

2.9

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.6

3.4

4.1

4.3

3.9

3.1

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

2.1

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.1

3.1

3.0

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.6

3.1

3.6

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.4

2.9

3.4

3.6

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.9

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.8

0.8

0.7

1.8

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.4

0.6

0.6

0.6

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.9

1.7

1.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

1.0

1.6

2.0

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

1.0

1.8

2.4

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.6

3.2

3.1

3.2

3.4

2.5

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.7

2.6

3.3

3.3

3.7

4.1

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.7

2.6

3.3

3.3

3.7

4.0

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.6

3.2

3.2

3.1

3.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.4

2.8

2.8

2.6

2.3

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.4

2.1

1.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.3

1.6

1.8

1.9

1.6

1.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.2

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.2

0.5

1.0

1.3

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.2

2.0

2.0

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.2

0.7

0.2

0.9

3.0

2.6

3.9

2.6

2.2

2.6

2.4

2.0

2.0

2.6

3.1

2.9

2.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.6

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.0

1.3

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.4

2.8

3.0

3.4

4.2

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.7

3.5

3.9

4.4

5.8

4.4

3.8

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.9

3.9

4.8

5.7

8.1

5.4

4.8

3.8

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.9

4.0

5.0

5.5

8.7

5.4

5.0

3.9

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.8

3.7

4.2

4.9

6.8

4.7

4.1

3.7

2.8

2.1

1.5

1.5

2.2

2.6

3.1

3.3

3.8

4.8

3.7

3.3

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.5

1.4

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.8

3.6

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.2

3.1

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.5

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

2.5

3.0

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

4.4

6.3

2.1

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.3

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.4

2.6

2.6

2.3

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.5

3.0

3.2

3.7

4.3

3.5

3.2

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.7

1.7

2.4

2.9

3.7

4.2

4.8

6.0

4.5

4.0

3.6

2.9

2.4

1.9

1.6

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.0

6.2

8.2

5.5

5.0

3.9

3.1

2.5

1.7

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.1

6.5

8.5

5.6

5.1

3.9

3.1

1.7

2.4

3.0

3.8

4.3

5.2

6.6

4.7

4.2

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.3

2.1

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.5

3.6

3.6

3.4

3.2

2.7

2.0

1.7

2.4

2.7

3.2

3.4

4.1

4.8

3.8

3.5

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.5

2.7

3.1

3.4

3.8

3.9

3.4

2.9

2.5

2.0

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.8

2.9

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

2.5

3.4

4.6

4.6

3.5

2.4

1.9

1.7

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.7

3.4

2.5

2.4

2.2

2.1

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.5

3.0

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.4

1.7

1.8

2.0

1.9

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.4

2.8

2.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.6

3.2

2.4

2.3

2.1

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.7

3.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.7

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.4

4.3

3.4

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.1

1.6

1.7

2.3

2.8

3.5

3.8

4.3

5.6

4.2

3.8

3.4

2.8

2.2

1.6

1.6

2.3

3.0

4.0

4.8

5.4

7.9

5.3

4.8

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

4.1

5.2

5.6

5.3

5.2

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.3

2.9

3.8

4.6

5.2

7.3

5.0

4.5

3.8

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.5

4.0

5.2

3.9

3.5

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.1

3.9

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.6

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.9

3.8

2.9

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.6

2.2

2.6

3.2

3.4

3.8

5.0

3.8

3.4

3.2

2.6

2.2

1.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.7

4.7

8.9

L24 @ 30'

L13 @ 30'

L12 @ 30'

L12 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10' WP1 @ 10' WP1 @ 10'

L24 @ 30' L24 @ 30'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

L14 @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'

WP2 @ 26'

L15 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

PROPOSED BUILDING ADDITION
310,485 SF
FF=736.00
ARCH FF=100.00

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA B
SCALE: 1" = 30'NORTH

030' 30' 60'

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP1B
SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA B

NOV. 4, 2021



0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.7

2.3

1.6

2.0

1.7

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.2

1.8

1.1

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.5

1.9

2.5

2.6

2.4

1.7

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.2

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.6

2.7

2.6

2.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.0

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.8

1.6

1.0

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.6

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

3.6

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.4

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.5

2.0

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

2.0

2.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.7

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.5

2.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.5

2.3

2.7

2.3

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.7

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.3

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.0

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.0

3.0

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.4

1.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.1

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.1

1.7

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

2.2

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.6

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.6

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.9

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.3

3.5

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.0

3.5

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.6

0.9

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

3.9

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.2

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.3

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.7

1.8

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.3

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.3

1.7

2.1

2.8

4.0

3.8

2.6

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.7

1.9

2.5

3.5

4.5

4.2

3.0

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.5

1.9

2.3

3.1

4.4

3.8

2.6

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.1

1.4

1.9

2.3

3.0

4.0

4.3

3.8

2.9

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.8

3.6

4.3

4.1

3.1

2.5

1.9

1.5

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.3

4.3

4.5

3.9

3.0

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.4

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.1

3.5

3.7

3.5

3.0

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.9

2.4

2.9

3.4

3.8

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.9

4.0

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.7

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.6

2.9

2.9

2.9

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.1

2.9

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

2.1

2.5

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.3

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.9

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.3

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.8

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.2

2.2

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.2

2.5

1.6

1.3

1.1

2.3

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.1

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.3

0.4

0.2

0.5

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.6

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.5

2.1

3.6

3.7

3.4

2.7

2.1

4.5

4.2

3.6

2.7

0.3

4.2

4.1

3.5

2.7

0.4

3.1

3.3

3.2

2.6

0.8

0.4

2.3

2.5

2.6

2.2

1.4

0.8

0.4

1.8

2.0

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.4

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.4

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.3

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.3

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.4

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

2.2

2.5

2.4

2.1

1.8

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

2.9

3.1

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

4.0

3.9

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.5

4.5

4.2

3.5

2.7

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.5

3.7

3.8

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

2.7

2.9

2.9

2.4

2.0

1.5

0.9

2.1

2.2

2.4

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.1

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.4

2.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

2.5

2.7

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.6

1.2

3.2

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

4.4

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

3.4

3.5

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.5

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.3

3.6

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.3

3.9

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.1

3.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

2.4

2.5

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.2

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.2

0.9

4.1

3.9

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

4.4

4.2

3.5

2.7

2.1

3.6

3.8

3.4

2.6

2.7

3.0

2.9

2.4

2.1

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2

0.2

4.7

4.7

L14H @ 30'

WP1 @ 10'
WP1 @ 10'

L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

WP2 @ 26' WP2 @ 26'WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16' WP1 @ 16'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

L15 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

PROPOSED BUILDING ADDITION
310,485 SF
FF=736.00
ARCH FF=100.00

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA C
SCALE: 1" = 30'NORTH

030' 30' 60'

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP1C
SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA C

NOV. 4, 2021



0.1

0.2

0.5

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.6

0.9

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

3.9

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

3.2

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.3

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.7

1.8

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

3.3

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.3

1.4

1.2

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.6

1.7

1.3

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.1

2.0

1.4

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.9

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.8

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

1.7

1.4

0.7

0.9

1.9

3.3

2.8

2.7

2.2

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.7

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.7

2.0

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.9

1.8

1.4

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

1.5

1.2

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.0

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.9

2.4

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.8

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.5

1.5

1.1

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.9

1.3

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

2.6

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

4.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

3.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.4

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.0

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.3

1.7

1.7

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.5

0.6

0.7

1.7

3.0

1.3

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

1.0

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.2

1.8

1.4

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.4

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

1.8

2.1

1.6

1.0

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

2.5

2.3

1.8

1.2

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.8

2.5

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.4

3.0

3.7

3.9

3.6

3.0

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

2.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.2

1.2

1.7

2.0

2.0

2.1

1.6

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.2

2.4

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.9

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.5

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.1

2.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.4

2.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.0

2.5

2.7

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.6

1.2

3.2

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

4.4

4.1

3.5

2.6

2.0

1.5

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

3.4

3.5

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

1.5

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.3

3.6

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.3

3.9

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.1

3.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.7

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.4

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.2

1.7

2.4

2.5

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.7

1.2

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.2

0.9

4.1

3.9

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

4.4

4.2

3.5

2.7

2.1

3.6

3.8

3.4

2.6

2.7

3.0

2.9

2.4

2.1

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.9

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.0

2.7

2.8

2.7

2.4

3.5

3.5

3.3

2.6

4.4

4.1

3.5

2.6

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.6

3.2

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.4

2.7

2.6

2.2

1.9

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.7

2.3

2.5

2.4

2.1

1.8

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.5

2.0

1.4

4.0

3.9

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.5

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.3

4.3

4.2

3.5

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.6

1.8

3.6

3.8

3.5

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.4

2.1

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.4

2.7

3.1

3.0

2.7

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.7

2.8

2.8

2.8

2.6

2.3

1.8

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.9

2.5

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.3

2.2

2.1

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.9

3.2

3.5

3.6

3.6

3.4

3.2

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.0

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.0

1.9

2.0

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.8

3.0

3.5

4.0

3.8

3.3

2.8

2.3

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.5

3.5

4.5

4.3

2.9

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.6

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.1

2.6

2.8

2.9

2.5

3.7

3.7

3.5

2.8

4.4

3.8

3.0

4.2

4.2

3.7

3.0

3.0

3.3

3.4

2.9

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.5

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.0

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.6

2.1

2.2

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.0

2.0

1.9

2.3

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.0

2.8

2.1

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.7

2.8

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.6

2.4

2.9

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.5

3.3

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.3

2.2

2.1

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.6

2.6

3.1

3.3

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.4

3.4

3.2

3.2

3.0

3.4

2.0

2.4

2.8

3.1

3.5

4.4

3.6

3.2

3.1

2.7

2.5

2.2

2.2

2.3

2.6

2.9

3.2

3.4

4.0

4.2

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.0

4.0

3.8

3.8

3.8

4.4

2.1

2.7

3.5

3.9

4.5

6.0

4.8

4.1

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

3.9

4.3

5.4

5.8

4.8

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.3

4.5

4.8

6.0

2.2

2.8

3.8

4.9

5.5

8.3

6.0

5.0

4.2

3.2

2.7

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.5

5.3

7.2

7.8

5.8

5.2

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.3

5.8

8.0

2.2

2.9

3.9

5.0

5.6

8.5

6.1

5.0

4.2

3.2

2.7

2.2

2.1

2.3

2.9

3.4

4.6

5.3

7.5

8.1

5.9

5.4

4.5

4.3

4.3

4.5

5.4

5.9

8.0

1.6

2.2

2.8

3.7

4.1

4.6

6.5

4.9

4.2

3.8

3.1

2.7

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.3

4.0

4.7

5.8

6.2

4.9

4.6

4.4

4.3

4.3

4.4

4.6

4.9

6.1

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.9

2.3

2.7

3.6

4.5

4.9

4.5

3.6

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.6

3.0

3.2

3.6

4.6

3.8

3.3

3.1

2.8

2.6

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.7

3.0

3.3

3.6

4.3

4.5

3.9

4.0

3.9

4.0

4.0

3.9

3.9

3.9

4.4

2.4

2.2

2.0

2.0

2.3

2.7

2.8

3.7

4.5

5.0

4.5

3.7

2.8

2.8

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.5

2.7

2.6

2.5

2.4

2.3

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.2

3.5

3.1

3.3

3.3

3.4

3.4

3.3

3.3

3.1

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.8

2.2

3.0

2.8

3.8

4.5

5.2

4.5

3.8

2.7

3.0

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.9

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.7

3.0

2.5

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

WP1 @ 10'

L24 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'

L13 @ 30'
L12 @ 30'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26' WP2 @ 26'WP1 @ 16'

WP1 @ 16' WP1 @ 16'

WP2 @ 26'

WP2 @ 26'

L24 @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

L14H @ 30'
L14H @ 30'

PROPOSED BUILDING ADDITION
310,485 SF
FF=736.00
ARCH FF=100.00

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I

SITE PLAN PHOTMETRIC - AREA D
SCALE: 1" = 30'NORTH

030' 30' 60'

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP1D
SITE PLAN PHOTOMETRIC - AREA D

NOV. 4, 2021



Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min

Calc Zone #4 0.6 fc 13.5 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
North/East Parking 2.7 fc 8.9 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
South Drive/Docks 1.6 fc 4.7 fc 0.2 fc 23.5:1 8.0:1
West Drive/Docks 1.7 fc 4.7 fc 0.1 fc 47.0:1 17.0:1

Schedule

Symbol Label Image Quantity Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Number 
Lamps

Lumens 
Per Lamp

Light Loss 
Factor Wattage

L14H
11 Lithonia Lighting DSX2 LED P4 40K T4M 

MVOLT HS
DSX2 LED P4 40K T4M MVOLT with 
houseside shield

1 25364 0.9 270

L24
10 Lithonia Lighting DSX2 LED P4 40K T4M 

MVOLT
DSX2 LED P4 40K T4M MVOLT 1 32683 0.9 540

L12
3 Lithonia Lighting DSX2 LED P4 40K T2M 

MVOLT HS
DSX2 LED P4 40K T2M MVOLT with 
houseside shield

1 27301 0.9 270

WP1
18 COOPER LIGHTING 

SOLUTIONS - LUMARK 
(FORMERLY EATON)

XTOR1B CROSSTOUR 12W WALL MOUNT LED 1 1417 0.9 12.2

C16
19 Lithonia Lighting LDN6 40/20 LO6AR LSS 6IN LDN, 4000K, 2000LM, CLEAR, SEMI-

SPECULAR REFLECTOR, CRI80
1 2009 0.9 22.52

L15
1 Lithonia Lighting DSX2 LED P4 40K T5W 

MVOLT
DSX2 LED P4 40K T5W MVOLT 1 34437 0.9 270

WP2
12 Lithonia Lighting DSXW2 LED 30C 1000 

40K TFTM MVOLT
DSXW2 LED WITH 3 LIGHT ENGINES, 30 
LED's, 1000mA DRIVER, 4000K LED, TYPE 
FORWARD THROW MEDIUM OPTIC

1 11120 0.9 109

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

PXP2
CUT-SHEETS & DETAILS

NOV. 4, 2021

130" (INCHES)
120" (INCHES)
103" (INCHES)
73" (INCHES)

46'-0" - 50'-0"
36'-0" - 45'-0"
21'-0" - 35'-0"
10'-0" - 20'-0"

PVC

BOLTS PER
MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATION

3'
-0

"

TO ADDITIONAL
POLES.

DOUBLE NUT BASE
PLATE

PAINT BASE PER
ARCHITECTS
REQUIREMENTS

#8 Cu
BOND TO POLE BASE

3/4" X 8' COPPER
GROUND ROD

CONCRETE BASE BY ELECTRICAL
CONTRACTOR.  DESIGN MIX SHALL MEET
REQUIREMENTS FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE
EXPOSED TO WEATHER.

#3 TIES - SEE CHART
FOR SPACING

(4) REINFORCING ROD
AROUND BASE - SEE
CHART FOR BAR SIZE

MIN. 1" RIGID STEEL
CONDUIT

X

NOTES:
A DRILLED 2'-0" DIA. HOLE SHALL BE USED AS THE FORM FOR THE CONCRETE BASE IN UNDISTURBED EARTH,
EXCLUDING FILL MATERIAL.

BACKFILL AROUND CONCRETE BASE WITH COMPACTED GRANULAR BACKFILL A MIN. OF 2'-0" IN ALL
DIRECTIONS IN EXCAVATED AREAS OR IN EXISTING SOIL CONTAINING FILL OF OBJECTIONABLE MATERIAL.

DESIGN BASED ON IBC-2009:  100 MPH WIND SPEED, EXPOXURE C, 150 PSF/FT LATERAL SOIL PRESSURE,
OCCUPANCY CATEGORY II, IMPORTANCE FACTOR 1.0.  5" POLES TO 35', 6" POLES 40' AND GREATER.  (4)
LIGHTS @2.5 SF OF PROJECTION PER LIGHT.

HANDHOLE

1/2"C.
GRADE

ANCHOR
BOLT

BASE GROUT DETAIL

BASECOVER
POLE

GROUT

BASECOVER
ON GROUT FOR
FLAT SURFACE

PVC

SEE CHART
BELOW

POLE HEIGHT

24" DIAMETER

X

24
" M

IN
.

HAND RUB BASE

PROVIDE GROUT WITH
DRAIN

30
'-0

" O
VE

RA
LL

 H
EI

GH
T

FIXTURE HEAD.  SEE FIXTURE
SCHEDULE

STRAIGHT SQUARE STEEL
POLE

2"
 C

LR
.

2" CLR.

3"
 C

LR
.

#5

REBAR
SIZE

#5
#6
#6

10"

#3 TIE
SPACING

10"
12"
12"

LIGHT POLE DETAIL  
NO SCALE

FIXTURE TYPE: C16 FIXTURE TYPE: WP1

FIXTURE TYPE: L12,L14H,L15,L24FIXTURE TYPE: WP2



WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

S
T

A
K

E
O

U
T

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

:

V
E

R
IF

Y
 S

T
A

T
IO

N
 F

O
R

 I
N

L
E

T

L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
. 
R

E
F

E
R

 T
O

 S
T

A
K

E
O

U
T

 P
O

L
IC

Y

F
O

R
 S

T
A

K
E

O
U

T
 L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

F
F

S
E

T
S

.

S
T

A
K

E
O

U
T

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

:

V
E

R
IF

Y
 S

T
A

T
IO

N
 F

O
R

 I
N

L
E

T

L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
. 
R

E
F

E
R

 T
O

 S
T

A
K

E
O

U
T

 P
O

L
IC

Y

F
O

R
 S

T
A

K
E

O
U

T
 L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

 A
N

D
 O

F
F

S
E

T
S

.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

VERIFY STATION FOR INLET

LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

VERIFY STATION FOR INLET

LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

VERIFY STATION FOR INLET

LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB
-67 

- Int
erst

ate 
Sem

i-Tra
iler

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2021 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

COLLABORATION

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

SHEET NUMBER

JOB NUMBER

2113260

W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

 P
AC

KA
GI

N
G 

AN
D 

CU
TT

IN
G 

FA
CI

LI
TY

 F
O

R:

SA
PU

TO
 C

HE
ES

E 
U

SA
, I

N
C.

SO
U

TH
 2

7T
H 

AN
D 

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D 
RO

AD
 ●

 F
RA

N
KL

IN
, W

I
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

TT

TRUCK TURN EXHIBIT

NOV. 4, 2021


	01 2022-0106 Plan Commission Agenda
	FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS
	9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

	02 2021-1209 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1._Saputo Cheese_SP & SU
	01 2022-01-06 PC Report
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 Saputo Cheese USA Inc. SU 12-20-21
	03 Saputo Cheese USA Inc. Site Plan 12-20-21 (PD final 12-29-21)
	04 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	05 A4&5 SP-SU Application
	A4 Special Use Application-Signed
	A5 Site Plan Application-Signed

	06 A8 Legal Description
	07 A9 Franklin CSM NO 9362 Doc No 11183864
	08 A10 NRPP summary
	09 A10 NRPP map
	10 A11 Preliminary Stormwater Memo
	11 A6 Proposal Summary and Responses to Standards
	12 A7 Responses to Staff Comments
	13 Plan Set
	2113260c-0_1
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-0_1


	2113260c-1_0
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_0


	2113260c-1_0A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_0A


	2113260c-1_0B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_0B


	2113260c-1_0C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_0C


	2113260c-1_0D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_0D


	2113260c-1_1
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_1


	2113260c-1_1A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_1A


	2113260c-1_1B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_1B


	2113260c-1_1C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_1C


	2113260c-1_1D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_1D


	2113260c-1_2A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_2A


	2113260c-1_2B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_2B


	2113260c-1_2C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_2C


	2113260c-1_2D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_2D


	2113260c-1_3A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_3A


	2113260c-1_3B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_3B


	2113260c-1_3C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_3C


	2113260c-1_3D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_3D


	2113260c-1_4A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_4A


	2113260c-1_4B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_4B


	2113260c-1_4C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_4C


	2113260c-1_4D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-1_4D


	2113260c-2_0
	Sheets and Views
	2113260c-2_0


	2113260 - Sheet - A2-0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	Sheets
	A2.0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	T1.0 - TITLE SHEET


	2113260 - Sheet - A2-1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A2.0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	T1.0 - TITLE SHEET


	2113260 - Sheet - A2-2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A2.0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	T1.0 - TITLE SHEET


	2113260 - Sheet - A2-3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A2.0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	T1.0 - TITLE SHEET


	2113260 - Sheet - T1-0 - TITLE SHEET
	Sheets
	A2.0 - ELEVATION KEY PLAN & PERSPECTIVES
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.2 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.3 - ENLARGED EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	T1.0 - TITLE SHEET


	2113260e-PXP1
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP1


	2113260e-PXP1A
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP1A


	2113260e-PXP1B
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP1B


	2113260e-PXP1C
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP1C


	2113260e-PXP1D
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP1D


	2113260e-PXP2
	Sheets and Views
	2113260e-PXP2


	2113260c-TRUCK



